

PoS

Lectures on entanglement in quantum field theory

Horacio Casini^{*a*,*} and Marina Huerta^{*a*}

^aCentro Atómico Bariloche and CONICET, S.C. de Bariloche, Río Negro, R8402AGP, Argentina E-mail: casini@cab.cnea.gov.ar, marina.huerta@cab.cnea.gov.ar

These notes grew from a series of lectures given by the authors during the last decade. After a brief introduction to quantum information theory tools, they are organized in four chapters covering the following subjects: Entanglement in quantum field theory, Irreversibility theorems, Energy-entropy bounds, Entanglement and symmetries.

Theoretical Advanced Study Institute 2021 (TASI 2021) June 7 - July 2, 2021 University of Colorado, Boulder CO 80309 USA

*Speaker

© Copyright owned by the author(s) under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0).

Contents

1	Intro	4	
	1.1	Some general bibliography	5
2	Alge	bras, states, and some basic tools of quantum information	6
	2.1	Algebras	6
	2.2	States and density matrices	7
	2.3	Entanglement	7
	2.4	Entropy	8
	2.5	Modular flow and modular Hamiltonian	9
	2.6	Relative entropy	10
	2.7	Mutual information and strong subadditivity	11
	2.8	Evolution and the second law	11
	2.9	Purification and Tomita-Takesaki theory	13
	2.10	Exercises	14
	2.11	Notes and references	15
3	Enta	nglement entropy in QFT	16
	3.1	Formulation in terms of local algebras	16
	3.2	Entropy and the continuum limit: a free field example	18
	3.3	General structure of the EE	20
	3.4	Entropy: what does survive the continuum limit?	25
	3.5	Algebras: what does survive the continuum limit?	27
	3.6	Density matrix: what does survive the continuum limit?	27
	3.7	Replica trick	28
	3.8	Renyi twist operators	30
	3.9	The Rindler wedge	31
	3.10	Conformal transformations and spheres	33
	3.11	Transformations to curved spaces and the EE of a sphere	34
	3.12	Entanglement at long distances	38
	3.13	A curved space-time excursion	39
	3.14	Exercises	42
	3.15	Notes and references	43
4	Irrev	versibility theorems	44
	4.1	Changes with scale: the renormalization group	44
	4.2	The vacuum a Markovian state?	45
	4.3	Quantum entanglement and the Reeh-Schlieder theorem.	46
	4.4	Markovianity for regions on the null plane	47
	4.5	General form of the EE for a CFT on the null cone	49

5

6

4.6	SSA on the null cone	50
4.7	Converting wiggly spheres into spheres	52
4.8	Irreversibility theorems	53
4.9	SSA plus Lorentz symmetry imply divergent entropy	55
4.10	0 Modular Hamiltonians on the null plane and the null cone	55
4.1	1 Interpretations of irreversibility	56
4.12	2 Unitarity bounds from mutual information	58
4.1	3 Notes and references	59
Ene	ergy-entropy bounds	61
5.1	Bekenstein bound. I	61
5.2	The first law of EE	63
5.3	Area term in EE and the Newton constant	64
5.4	Consequences for the irreversibility theorems	66
5.5	Monotonicity of modular Hamiltonians	66
5.6	Bekenstein bound II	67
5.7	The ANEC	68
5.8	Generalized second law	68
5.9	Local temperatures	70
5.10	0 The QNEC	71
5.1	1 Exercises	74
5.12	2 Notes and references	74
E-		70
	Lingtement and symmetries	70
0.1	Frammely a skiral free cooler	/0 70
0.2	Example: a chiral free scalar.	/9
6.3	Global symmetries: Regions with non trivial π_0 or π_{d-2} .	82
6.4	Generalized global symmetries for gauge theories	84
6.5	Entropic order parameters	8/
6.6	The certainty and uncertainty relations	88
6.7	Topological contributions to the entropy and the density of charged states	90
6.8	The logarithmic term of the Maxwell field	92
6.9	Operator order parameters and breaking of additivity-duality	94
6.10	U Entropic order parameters and phases	95
6.1	1 Exercises	98
6.12	2 Notes and references	98

1. Introduction

Quantum theory gives a simple synthesis for the description of all known physical systems. We have linear operators assigned to our questions about a system and states given a probabilistic answer to these questions. For an observable operator O we can get $\langle O \rangle$ from experiments, and the same quantity is the focus of the theory. In this perspective, quantum mechanics looks like a sort of non-commutative information theory. To measure O, we have to be able to affect the state with such operation, and nothing prevents us then from repeating the operation to measure O^n . Linear combinations of O^n form a closed (commutative) algebra, and the knowledge of the expectation values $\langle O^n \rangle$ in this algebra contains the information of the probabilities of all eigenvalues of O. More generally, if we have access to several operators O_1, O_2, \cdots we can think that, in principle, our laboratory will be able to measure any product of these operators, and, trivially, linear combinations. Then, we can associate an algebra with a laboratory.

Suppose we do not want to talk about different operators, but just about different laboratories. What number can we associate from the state to a given algebra or laboratory? If we have an operator, the expectation values $\langle O^n \rangle$ give statistical measures of the fluctuations of the state in these variables. In the same way for a whole algebra, if we do not want to distinguish particular operators in it, we are forced to describe its relation with the state by statistical measures of the state *reduced* to the algebra. There are many possible statistical measures we can think about, the entropy is perhaps the most famous one. These quantities are in general not-operator expectation values (though we will see some of them, some Renyi entropies, which are related to expectation values); they are non-linear in the state and are less directly related to experiments. They are, in favourable situations, useful theoretical tools.

Quantum field theory (QFT) is the quantum mechanics of systems that have a continuum of degrees of freedom distributed in space. It appears as low energy approximation in condensed matter systems and, for relativistic quantum theories, the description in terms of a QFT is a necessity. In these theories, without further information, we have a preferred set of algebras, labelled by the regions of space. Each region R is attached to the algebra of the degrees of freedom localized in R. This is the setting of the algebraic approach to describe QFT which deals with the local algebras of operators, their mutual relations, and their relations with the state.

In QFT different reasons may also drive us to study whole algebras instead of single operators. The operator content is usually described by field operators $\phi(x)$, and it is possible to describe a model by a Hamiltonian constructed in a simple way out of $\phi(x)$. But it may turn out, because of strong interactions, that the experimentally available variables are very different, encoded in other fields $\tilde{\phi}(x)$, not easily related to $\phi(x)$. Then, it may be the case that the theoretically preferable description is not clear from the experimentally available data. It also happens that we can have different descriptions of the same theory in terms of different fields. A simple example is a free field $\phi(x)$ and : $\phi(x)^3$:. These two fields give place to the same algebra of operators and the same theory. In the bootstrap approach to conformal field theory (CFT), the description is in terms of all possible local fields of a model (for example all powers and derivatives of a free field). This is conceptually similar to describing the model by the full algebra of operators. This is a "coordinate-free" description, in the sense that we do not require a particular set of fields generating the algebra.

The vacuum state gives a preferred state, and natural theoretical objects in this context are the statistical measures of the vacuum reduced to different regions. The entropy in this context is usually called entanglement entropy (EE). The state of mind in this line of investigation is guided by an as yet unsolved question: can we uniquely describe a QFT in a universal way by its entanglement entropies?

The main purpose of these lectures is to show some aspects of QFT in a different light using some tools of quantum information and think about them in different terms to most traditional approaches. There has been some progress in this line of research in recent years, especially in conceptual issues about renormalization group irreversibility, energy bounds, symmetries and order parameters. A major application of ideas of quantum information theory (QIT) to QFT is in the context of holographic theories. Most of the recent progress on understanding issues about quantum gravity relies on the fact that entanglement quantities are geometrized for the bulk dual description of holographic QFT. Progress on holographic theories will however not be covered by these lectures.

We will assume some basic knowledge of QFT, and some QFT in curved space will be used eventually. We will introduce some notions of information theory in the first chapter, and then some more will be presented along the way as needed. We will not enter much into the interesting concepts of the theory and act only as users of some specific tools. The mathematics of the algebraic approach to quantum field theory is beyond the scope of these lectures. We will content ourselves with thinking in a more pedestrian way about a QFT as the continuum limit of a cut-off theory (a lattice theory for example). The quantities that survive this limit and are independent of the way we arrive at it, are the ones that by definition belong to the QFT itself.

1.1 Some general bibliography

For reviews on EE in QFT see for example [1-3]. For a review focused on holography see the book [4]. For an introduction to mathematical aspects of entanglement in QFT see [5, 6].

2. Algebras, states, and some basic tools of quantum information

For simplicity, we will think mostly in terms of finite-dimensional Hilbert space in this chapter.

2.1 Algebras

An algebra of operators is a set of operators (matrices) closed under linear combinations, products, and taking adjoints, and we will always include the multiples of the identity (the "numbers") in the algebra. In symbols

$$1 \in \mathcal{A}, \quad a, b \in \mathcal{A} \implies \alpha a + \beta b \in \mathcal{A}, \quad ab \in \mathcal{A}, \quad a^{\bar{\imath}} \in \mathcal{A}.$$
(2.1)

von Neumann theorem gives an elegant characterization of the sets of operators that form an algebra of operators (any operator algebra with the unit in finite dimensions, a *von Neumann algebra* in infinite dimensions). Let us define the *commutant* of a set of operators as the sets of operators that commute with it

$$\mathcal{A}' = \{b; [b,a] = 0, \forall a \in \mathcal{A}\} .$$

$$(2.2)$$

von Newman theorem tells whatever \mathcal{A} is, \mathcal{A}' is an algebra, and that \mathcal{A} is an algebra iff

$$\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}^{\prime\prime} \,. \tag{2.3}$$

Then the algebra generated by $\{a_1, a_2, \dots\}$ is $\{a_1, a_2, \dots\}''$. It is the smallest algebra containing $\{a_1, a_2, \dots\}$.

The general form of these algebras in finite dimensions is a sum over blocks of full matrix algebras

$$\mathcal{A} = \bigoplus_{i} M_{m_i \times m_i}^{(i)} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{n_i \times n_i}, \qquad (2.4)$$

$$\mathcal{A}' = \bigoplus_{i} 1_{m_i \times m_i} \otimes N_{n_i \times n_i}^{(i)}, \qquad (2.5)$$

where $M^{(i)}$ is an arbitrary matrix of $m_i \times m_i$ ad $N^{(i)}$ is an arbitrary matrix of $n_i \times n_i$.

The *centre* of both algebras $\mathcal{Z} = \mathcal{A} \cap \mathcal{A}'$ is the set of operators in \mathcal{A} that commutes with all other operators from \mathcal{A} (and from \mathcal{A}'). \mathcal{Z} is an Abelian (commutative) algebra, whose elements write in a sum over blocks form $\mathcal{Z} = \bigoplus_i \lambda_i \mathbb{1}_{m_i n_i \times m_i n_i}$. The language of algebras then allows us to consider also commutative algebras, which include the case of classical physics, where all operators commute with each other.

More explicitly, in a basis which diagonalizes the center we have

$$(\mathcal{A} \cup \mathcal{A}')'' = \mathcal{Z}' = \begin{pmatrix} M^{(1)} \otimes N^{(1)} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & M^{(2)} \otimes N^{(2)} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \ddots \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mathcal{Z} = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1 \, \mathbf{1}_{m_1 n_1 \times m_1 n_1} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \lambda_2 \, \mathbf{1}_{m_2 n_2 \times m_2 n_2} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \ddots \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.6)

The algebra \mathcal{A} is then selected by choosing all the $N^{(i)} = 1$, and is isomorphic (as an algebra) to its *standard representation*

$$\begin{pmatrix}
M^{(1)} & 0 & 0 \\
0 & M^{(2)} & 0 \\
0 & 0 & \ddots
\end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.7)

Technically, in an abstract way, this representation is defined such that the minimal projectors of the algebra (projectors such that there are no other projectors onto smaller subspaces) are of dimension 1.

2.2 States and density matrices

What is a state? It is something that takes an operator and gives a number, its expectation value, in a linear way. Then it is a linear function $\omega : \mathcal{A} \to \mathbf{C}$. A state has to give positive expectation values to hermitian operators with positive spectrum, and has to be normalized, such that the total probability of orthogonal projectors that add up to the identity is one. Then a state is defined such

$$\omega(\alpha a + \beta b) = \alpha \,\omega(a) + \beta \,\omega(b), \quad \omega(aa^{\dagger}) \ge 0, \quad \omega(1) = 1.$$
(2.8)

To any state for a finite dimensional \mathcal{A} corresponds a unique *density matrix* ρ_{ω} , which is defined as the unique element of the algebra $\rho_{\omega} \in \mathcal{A}$ such that it reproduces the expectation values through

$$\omega(a) = \operatorname{tr} \rho_{\omega} a, \quad \forall a \in \mathcal{A}, \tag{2.9}$$

where the trace on the right hand side is evaluated in the standard representation.

Then we have the interesting fact that a state in an algebra selects an operator in the algebra itself. This is lost in some infinite-dimensional algebras but is replaced by something else we will see later. The general form of a density matrix in the standard representation is

$$\rho = \begin{pmatrix} p_1 \rho^{(1)} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & p_2 \rho^{(2)} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \ddots \end{pmatrix},$$
(2.10)

where $p_i \ge 0$, $\sum_i p_i = 1$, are probabilities, and $\rho^{(i)}$ are $m_i \times m_i$ non negative hermitian matrices of trace 1.

2.3 Entanglement

If we have two independent systems the algebra is equivalent to the tensor product of algebras $\mathcal{A}_{12} = \mathcal{A}_1 \otimes \mathcal{A}_2$. The operators in the two algebras commute to each other. This is equivalent to the impossibility of a causal connection between the laboratories. Acting on the state with operations on \mathcal{A}_1 cannot alter the state in a form that can be detected by \mathcal{A}_2 . However, the state may have correlations between the two algebras. If these correlations are purely classical, in the sense that we can create the state using uncorrelated states and classical communication (a telephone), the state is said to have no entanglement. These states are of the form

$$\omega_{12} = \sum_{\lambda} p_{\lambda} \, \omega_1^{\lambda} \otimes \omega_2^{\lambda} \,. \tag{2.11}$$

A state that is not of this form is said to have entanglement. It can be shown that any entangled state can be used to do some task that is not possible to do in classical physics (violation of Bell's inequalities, teleportation, etc).

Horacio Casini

2.4 Entropy

Once we have a state in an algebra represented by an operator (the density matrix) we could compute a functional to get a number out of it. This will be an intrinsic property of the state and the algebra and will depend on nothing else. One of the most interesting functionals is the entropy. For a density matrix in the form (2.10) this is

$$S(\rho) = -\text{tr}(\rho \log \rho) = H(\{p_k\}) + \sum_k p_k S(\rho^{(k)}), \qquad (2.12)$$

where $S(\rho^{(k)}) = -tr(\rho^{(k)} \log(\rho^{(k)}))$, and

$$H(\{p_k\}) = -\sum_k p_k \log(p_k),$$
(2.13)

is the classical Shannon entropy of a probability distribution.

Why the entropy is particularly interesting depends on its interpretations and properties.

First, for a thermal state in the canonical ensemble

$$\rho = Z^{-1} e^{-\beta H}, \qquad Z = \text{tr} e^{-\beta H},$$
(2.14)

it gives precisely the thermodynamic entropy

$$S = \beta(E - F), \quad E = \langle H \rangle, \quad F = -T \log Z.$$
 (2.15)

For the microcanonical ensemble, the state has equal probabilities for all vector states lying in some energy shell. If this is a space of dimension N, we get

$$\rho = N^{-1}\mathbf{1}, \qquad S = \log N,$$
 (2.16)

which is Boltzmann's formula.

The entropy vanishes if and only if the state is pure in the algebra, that is, if it cannot be written as non trivial mixing of other states $\omega = p\omega_1 + (1 - p)\omega_2$, $p \in (0, 1)$. For full matrix algebras this is the case of vector states $\rho = |\psi\rangle\langle\psi|$. The entropy always increases under mixing $S(\omega) \ge pS(\omega_1) + (1 - p)S(\omega_2)$.

When the state ω in the Hilbert space is a vector state we have the equality for the entropies of commutant algebras

$$S_{\mathcal{A}}(\omega) = S_{\mathcal{A}'}(\omega). \qquad (2.17)$$

In this case all the non zero eigenvalues of $\rho_{\mathcal{A}}$ and $\rho_{\mathcal{A}'}$ coincide.

The entropy has several different information theory "operational" interpretations. In the pure classical case, the algebra is diagonal and the density matrix is a collection of probabilities $\{p_i\}, i = 1 \dots, N$. The entropy $S = -\sum_{i=1}^{N} p_i \log p_i$ then has the interpretation of the average amount of information per letter that can be conveyed with an alphabet of N letters appearing with probabilities p_i in a message. This is Shannon's theory. For example, if a certain alphabet has entropy S(p), and another (that can have a different number of letters) has entropy S(q), we can convey the same information with *m* letters of the first one and $n = m \frac{S(p)}{S(q)}$ of the second one. This is however an asymptotic statement, it applies to the limit of long messages. This is obviously used

for compressing messages. For example, a message using an alphabet where the probabilities of some letters are small and for other letters is large (then small entropy per letter) can be equally represented by a shorter message with maximal entropy per letter, where all letters have the same probability of appearing in the message. This compression is entirely analogous to the one between the canonical and microcanonical ensembles in the thermodynamical limit: a huge reduction of space but keeping essentially the same information and the same total entropy.

In the opposite limit of a pure quantum mechanical situation, consider a full matrix algebra \mathcal{A} (trivial centre) and a pure global state ω . In this case, the entropy $S_{\mathcal{A}}(\omega) = S_{\mathcal{A}'}(\omega)$ is called *entanglement entropy* and is a measure of the amount of entanglement between \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{A}' . Its operational interpretation is that given another pure state σ we can convert *n* copies of ω to $n\frac{S(\omega)}{S(\sigma)}$ of the second one and back (in the limit of large *n*), by using only local operations in the two laboratories and classical communication. In particular, we can transform reversibly the state ω into $S(\omega)/\log(2)$ pair of maximally entangled qubits, for a large number of copies.

The entropy is monotonically increasing under the inclusion of algebras in the classical discrete case. In the quantum case, this is not true because of entanglement. For example, for a global pure state, if we enlarge \mathcal{A} we make \mathcal{A}' smaller, but the entropies of the complementary algebras remain equal. Or more simply, the global pure state has zero entropy, while there can be non zero entanglement entropy in a subalgebra. As Schödringer put this perplexing nature of entanglement, we can have complete knowledge of a system (a pure state in the global Hilbert space) and know nothing about a subsystem (for example the reduced state be maximally mixed, proportional to the identity, with maximal entropy).

2.5 Modular flow and modular Hamiltonian

A density matrix is a positive operator and we can write it (if it does not have zero eigenvalues) as

$$\rho = \frac{e^{-K}}{\operatorname{tr} e^{-K}} \,. \tag{2.18}$$

K is called the *modular Hamiltonian*. In this way, we can think of entropy of a density matrix as the canonical entropy for an equilibrium state at temperature 1 for a different (dimensionless) Hamiltonian K. The "time" notion associated with the state through the modular Hamiltonian is implemented by the unitary evolution in the algebra

$$U(\tau) = \rho^{i\tau} \sim e^{-i\tau K} \,. \tag{2.19}$$

The evolution of operators $O(\tau) = U(\tau)OU(-\tau)$ is called the modular flow. Notice the modular flow is a one parameter group that leaves invariant operators expectation values

$$\operatorname{tr} \rho \, O(\tau) = \operatorname{tr} \rho \, O \,. \tag{2.20}$$

It is also a purely quantum mechanical object and becomes trivial in the classical case where density matrices and operators are diagonal matrices.

There is a way to say that a state has the thermal like form (2.18) with respect to K just looking at the behaviour of correlations under time evolution $U(\tau)$ dictated by K, and going to imaginary

 τ . This is useful in some infinite dimensional cases where the density matrix is ill defined but the modular flow exists. We have for such state

$$\langle O_1(i) O_2(0) \rangle = \operatorname{tr} \left(\rho O_1(i) O_2(0) \right) = \operatorname{tr} \left(\rho \left(\rho^{-1} O_1(0) \rho \right) O_2(0) \right) = \langle O_2(0) O_1(0) \rangle.$$
(2.21)

This is called the KMS condition (Kubo, Martin, Schwinger). Notice it gives a sort of periodicity in imaginary time τ , except for the order in the operators. This is related to the thermal partition function being given by a path integral with a periodic imaginary time in QFT. The modular flow can be characterized as the unique one-parameter group of automorphisms of the algebra keeping the state invariant (2.20) and satisfying the KMS condition.

2.6 Relative entropy

Relative entropy is defined for two states and the same algebra. It is given by

$$S(\rho|\sigma) = \operatorname{tr}(\rho \log(\rho) - \rho \log(\sigma)). \tag{2.22}$$

It is a central quantity in QIT, more important than the entropy itself. The entropy is derived from the relative entropy of a state and the totally mixed state proportional to the identity

$$S(\rho|\mathbf{1}/d) = \log(d) - S(\rho).$$
 (2.23)

But more generally, as we will see, it is a well-defined quantity for the infinite-dimensional algebras of the type that appear in QFT while the entropy is not.

It has a thermodynamics interpretation too. If we take the second state σ as the canonical thermal state at temperature *T* we get

$$S(\rho|\sigma) = \beta(F(\rho) - F(\sigma)), \qquad F(\rho) = \langle H \rangle_{\rho} - TS(\rho).$$
(2.24)

In other words, it is proportional to the difference of free energies between the states. Since the relative entropy is always positive

$$S(\rho|\sigma) \ge 0, \tag{2.25}$$

where the equality holds only for identical states, the thermodynamic interpretation is that the free energy, at a certain fixed temperature, is minimal for the thermal state.

We can write the formula for the relative entropy in the general case in a manner resembling this thermodynamical formula in terms of the free energy using the modular Hamiltonian for σ :

$$S(\rho|\sigma) = (\langle K_{\sigma} \rangle_{\rho} - \langle K_{\sigma} \rangle_{\sigma}) - (S(\rho) - S(\sigma)) = \Delta \langle K_{\sigma} \rangle - \Delta S.$$
(2.26)

The relative entropy is monotonically increasing with the algebra, a quite important and deep property,

$$S_{\mathcal{A}}(\rho|\sigma) \le S_{\mathcal{B}}(\rho|\sigma), \qquad \mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{B}.$$
 (2.27)

 ρ and σ are thought here as global states reduced to \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} . This property and (2.25) suggest the relative entropy is a measure of distinguishability between two states. As we look at the states in smaller algebras we can distinguish them less. In fact, there is a precise result giving an operational interpretation to this idea. Suppose we have a state σ and make N measurements of it, and want to ascertain the probability p that the outcome of these measurements come close (say in a neighbourhood ϵ) of the expectation values predicted by the state ρ , which is to be interpreted as a theoretical model. If the states are different, as we make more measurements (e.g. the best measurements designed to test the difference between the states), this probability will decay exponentially with N as

$$p \sim e^{-NS(\rho|\sigma)}.$$
(2.28)

This interpretation accounts for the relative entropy being non-symmetric between the two states. Suppose we have two probability distributions for flipping a coin. Take $\rho = (1,0)$ and $\sigma = (1/2, 1/2)$. If we flip σ there will be a probability $2^{-N} = e^{-N \log 2}$ to get the distribution of outcomes that ρ produces, which is all on the same side of the coin. This matches the relative entropy $S(\rho|\sigma) = \log(2)$. If we were to flip ρ instead, we will never get close to the distribution (1/2, 1/2), and this is consistent with $S(\sigma|\rho) = \infty$.

2.7 Mutual information and strong subadditivity

The relative entropy requires two different states for the same algebra. With only one state we can however produce two states if our algebra has the structure of a tensor product $\mathcal{A}_{12} = \mathcal{A}_1 \otimes \mathcal{A}_2$. We have the two states ω_{12} and $\omega_1 \otimes \omega_2$ in \mathcal{A}_{12} . Their relative entropy is called mutual information

$$I(\mathcal{A}_1, \mathcal{A}_2) = S(\omega_{12}|\omega_1 \otimes \omega_2) = S(\mathcal{A}_1) + S(\mathcal{A}_2) - S(\mathcal{A}_{12}), \qquad (2.29)$$

and nicely can be written in terms of a combination of entropies.

The mutual information is positive and the positivity of the right-hand side of (2.29) tell us the subadditivity property of the entropy. Monotonicity of relative entropy gives the monotonicity of the mutual information under increasing any of the two algebras. If we take a product $\mathcal{A}_{123} =$ $\mathcal{A}_1 \otimes \mathcal{A}_2 \otimes \mathcal{A}_3$ from $I(1, 2) \leq I(1, 23)$ we get

$$S(\mathcal{A}_{12}) + S(\mathcal{A}_{23}) \ge S(\mathcal{A}_{123}) + S(\mathcal{A}_2).$$
(2.30)

This is called the strong subadditive property of the entropy. We will use it a good deal in QFT.

Mutual information is a measure of correlations (both classical and quantum mechanical) that the state produces between the two algebras. It is zero only for product states. The interesting point is that any kind of correlation is detected by mutual information. We have the bound

$$I(1,2) \ge \frac{1}{2} \frac{|\langle O_1 O_2 \rangle - \langle O_1 \rangle \langle O_2 \rangle|^2}{\|O_1\|^2 \|O_2\|^2},$$
(2.31)

where O_1 , O_2 are operators in the two algebras and ||O|| is the norm of the operator, the size of its largest eigenvalue.

2.8 Evolution and the second law

Time evolution is somehow not as well adapted as we would wish to a general view of algebras and states as isolated worlds. To be sure, the modular evolution is a natural evolution arising from the state and the algebra but it keeps the state and the expectation values invariant. For a system interacting with an environment, the problem is that in general there is no mapping between states for different times, no evolution law. The reason is that the global evolution corresponding to different initial global states giving place to the same initial state in the subsystem will give in general different final states in the subsystem. Then, there is no function taking an initial to a final state in the subsystem itself.

Anyway, if such a mapping between states can be defined (and this is a big if), it has to be what is called a completely positive trace-preserving map (CPTP). These are linear maps of density matrices in one algebra into density matrices in another one, which are physical in the sense they are combinations of operations such as unitary evolution, reduction to a subsystem and enlarging the system with a new independent subsystem. The general expression of a CPTP map is

$$\rho' = \sum_{i} M_i \rho M_i^{\dagger}, \qquad \sum_{i} M_i^{\dagger} M_i = I, \qquad (2.32)$$

for matrices M_i with arbitrary dimension, i.e., not necessarily square matrices.

The monotonicity of relative entropy can be generalized to CPTP maps. We have

$$S(\rho_1|\rho_0) \ge S(\rho_1'|\rho_0').$$
 (2.33)

The monotonicity property (2.27) is a particular case of monotonicity under CPTP maps. Such CPTP maps then generally entail the loss of distinguishability between states and therefore are typically irreversible.

The second law states that the entropy of an isolated system cannot decrease. Of course, a completely isolated system in quantum mechanics evolves unitarily and the entropy does not change. We have to soften the condition of being completely isolated to allow for some interchange of information with the ambient space, and we have to assume this evolution law actually exists. As a model for this evolution let us consider the case of a fixed quantum system with state $\rho(t)$ evolving under CPTP maps. Assume, following the idea of an "isolated" system, that the total energy *E* is conserved. Also assume that time evolution preserves a thermal equilibrium state $\rho_T = e^{-H/T}/\text{tr}(e^{-H/T})$ at some temperature *T*. Then the relative entropy $S(\rho(t), \rho_T)$ is decreased by the CPTP evolution, and we have for $t_1 < t_2$,

$$F(\rho(t_2)) - F(\rho_T) < F(\rho(t_1)) - F(\rho_T),$$
(2.34)

where we used that the thermal state is invariant under time evolution. Expressing this relation in terms of entropy and energy, and considering all the involved energies are the same by assumption, we have

$$S(t_2) > S(t_1),$$
 (2.35)

as required by the second law of thermodynamics.

Another "microcanonical" version of this is when the totally random state $\rho_0 = I/n$, where *n* is the dimension of the Hilbert space is preserved under a CPTP evolution. The second law follows from the fact that the relative entropy is in this case

$$S(\rho(t)|\rho_0) = \log(n) - S(\rho(t)).$$
(2.36)

Then, the increase in entropy follows again by the decrease of relative entropy.

A CPTP map can be thought of as a unitary evolution in the full system starting from a decoupled initial state of the system and the environment (the state of the environment being fixed for different states of the system, otherwise we would not have a map of states for the subsystem itself). This is where the irreversibility leaks in. So these proofs of the second law secretly contain the "Stosszahlansatz" (molecular chaos) assumption of Boltzmann's H theorem.

2.9 Purification and Tomita-Takesaki theory

According to the context, the idea of purification is called with different names, such as GNS (Gelfand-Naimark-Segal) construction, or thermofield double. The question is the following. Given a system with an impure state can we always think of this system as a subsystem of a larger one, where the state is pure? The answer is yes.

Let us see this in the simplest case of a full matrix algebra \mathcal{A} , which is the algebra of operators on a Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_1 . Let a general density matrix be

$$\rho = \sum_{i} p_{i} |i\rangle \langle i|, \qquad (2.37)$$

where p_i , are the eigenvalues of ρ and $|i\rangle$ the corresponding eigenvectors. We can take a Hilbert space $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_1 \otimes \mathcal{H}_2$ with \mathcal{H}_2 a copy of \mathcal{H}_1 , and define the vector state

$$|\Omega\rangle = \sum_{i} \sqrt{p_i} |i\,\tilde{i}\rangle \,. \tag{2.38}$$

We have $\rho = \text{tr}_{\mathcal{H}_2} |\Omega\rangle \langle \Omega|$, which is the reduced density matrix to the \mathcal{H}_1 factor. This proves that purification can be achieved. The orthonormal base $\{|\tilde{i}\rangle\}$ for \mathcal{H}_2 in (2.38) is arbitrary, and different basis correspond to different purifications of $|\Omega\rangle$ in the same space. These different basis correspond to unitary transformations in \mathcal{A}' . A vector $|\Omega\rangle$ in a tensor product space can always be written in the form (2.38). This is called the Schmidt decomposition of $|\Omega\rangle$ in $\mathcal{H}_1 \otimes \mathcal{H}_2$.

A less explicit but more pretty way to arrive at this same purification is called the GNS construction. It is very general and mathematically natural. One labels the vectors of the bigger Hilbert space with the names of the elements of the algebra: $a \in \mathcal{A} \rightarrow |a\rangle$, and defines the scalar product through the state ω as $\langle a|b\rangle = \omega(a^{\dagger}b)$. The representation of the algebra on this Hilbert space is $a|b\rangle = |ab\rangle$, and the state ω is represented simply by the vector $|1\rangle$, $\langle 1|a|1\rangle = \omega(a)$. For a matrix algebra of dimension $n \times n$ the Hilbert space of the GNS purification has in general dimension n^2 .

To construct a density matrix written like (2.37) one can produce an ensemble of the different pure states according to the probabilities drawn from a dice. The fact that this same state in \mathcal{A} comes from a reduced pure state in a bigger space reminds us that this noisy ensemble is indistinguishable from the purely quantum noise produced by entanglement with other systems. Purification also tells us that entropy can always be interpreted as entanglement entropy with another part of the universe.

If the eigenvalues p_i are all different from zero, the purification of the state ω on \mathcal{A} comes together with the modular operators Δ and J. These are defined as

$$\Delta = \sum_{i,j} \frac{p_i}{p_j} |i\,\tilde{j}\rangle\langle i\,\tilde{j}|, \qquad (2.39)$$

$$J = \sum_{ij} |i\,\tilde{j}\rangle\langle j\,\tilde{i}| * . \qquad (2.40)$$

The modular reflection J is an antiunitary operator product of a transposition of the basis of \mathcal{H}_1 and \mathcal{H}_2 , with the operator * of complex conjugation of the vector components written in the basis $\{|i\tilde{j}\rangle\}$. It is independent of the actual eigenvalues p_i . The modular operator Δ is positive and can be written $\Delta = \rho \otimes \rho^{-1}$. There are several magic rules for these operators that can be checked from the definition

$$\Delta |\Omega\rangle = J |\Omega\rangle = |\Omega\rangle, \quad J\Delta = \Delta^{-1}J, \quad J^{\dagger} = J = J^{-1}.$$
(2.41)

Defining the operator $S = J\Delta^{\frac{1}{2}} = \Delta^{-\frac{1}{2}}J$ we have

$$Sa|\Omega\rangle = a^{\dagger}|\Omega\rangle, \quad a \in \mathcal{A}.$$
 (2.42)

Interestingly, the modular reflection maps the algebra in its commutant (and vice versa)

$$J\mathcal{A}J = \mathcal{A}' \,. \tag{2.43}$$

This allows us to define for any operator of $a \in \mathcal{A}$ a reflected copy $\bar{a} = JaJ \in \mathcal{A}'$ which satisfies a "reflection positivity" relation

$$\langle \Omega | a\bar{a} | \Omega \rangle = \langle \Omega | aJa | \Omega \rangle = \langle \Omega | a\Delta^{\frac{1}{2}} Sa | \Omega \rangle = \langle \Omega | a\Delta^{\frac{1}{2}} a^{\dagger} | \Omega \rangle \ge 0.$$
(2.44)

These operators and relations are what is called Tomita-Takesaki theory. One interest of this theory is that the scope extends to infinite dimensional algebras of the type associated to regions in QFT. So these operators are well defined in QFT even if density matrices will not be well defined. The operator J is related to CPT symmetry in QFT, but as we see can be defined for much more general quantum systems. The condition we imposed that the density matrix should have no zeros is described in a more general context saying that the vector $|\Omega\rangle$ is cyclic and separating for \mathcal{A} : a vector such that $\mathcal{A}|\Omega\rangle$ span the whole Hilbert space and such no $a \in \mathcal{A}$, $a \neq 0$, can annihilate the state, $a |\Omega\rangle \neq 0$. The modular flow intrinsic to the algebra described in (2.19) can be implemented in the space of purification with the operator

$$U(\tau) = \Delta^{\iota\tau}, \quad U(\tau) \mathcal{A} U(-\tau) = \mathcal{A}, \quad U(\tau) \mathcal{A}' U(-\tau) = \mathcal{A}', \quad JU(\tau)J = U(\tau), \quad U(\tau)|\Omega\rangle = |\Omega\rangle$$
(2.45)

2.10 Exercises

1.- Jaynes describes the canonical ensemble as a state of which our only knowledge is the expectation value of the energy. Our uncertainty about other characteristics of the state should force us to choose the maximal entropy state with *E* fixed. Show that if $\langle O_1 \rangle$, $\langle O_2 \rangle$, \cdots , $\langle O_n \rangle$ are fixed expectation values for Hermitian operators, the maximal entropy state is of the form

$$\rho = c \, e^{-\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i \, O_i} \tag{2.46}$$

where the "chemical potentials" λ_i have to be fixed such as to reproduce the expectation values $\langle O_i \rangle$. How does this formula change if the operators are not Hermitian?

2.- Consider the algebra \mathcal{J} generated by the operators of angular momentum J_i , i = 1, 2, 3 (it contains all polynomials in these operators). We know the algebra acts on a space where there are only representations of angular momentum j = 0, 1, 2. Given the expectation values

$$\langle \vec{J}^2 \rangle = \frac{8}{3}, \qquad \langle (\vec{J}^2)^2 \rangle = \frac{40}{3}, \qquad (2.47)$$

compute the entropy of \mathcal{J} if: a) the state is rotational invariant; b) $\langle J_z \rangle = 1$. (Answer: a) $4/3 \log(3) + 1/3 \log(5)$; b) $\log(3)$.)

3.- Consider the euclidean path integral for a scalar field φ with a source and think the averages on the path integral as averages over classical probability distributions in the space of fields. We can define two probability distributions, with and without source

$$P[\phi] = Z[0]^{-1}e^{-S[\phi]}, \qquad P_J[\phi] = Z[J]^{-1}e^{-S[\phi] + (J \cdot \phi)}.$$
(2.48)

Assume the average $\langle \phi \rangle_{J=0} = 0$. Show that the relative entropies

$$S(P|P_J) = W[J], \qquad S(P_J|P) = \Gamma[\phi_{cl}], \qquad (2.49)$$

where $W[J] = \log(Z[J]/Z[0])$ is the euclidean free energy (normalized such that W[0] = 0) and $\Gamma[\phi_{cl}] = (J \cdot \phi_{cl}) - W[J]$ is the euclidean effective action, where $\phi_{cl}(x) = \frac{\delta W[J]}{\delta J(x)} = \langle \phi(x) \rangle|_J$. The QFT functionals are indeed relative entropies too!

2.11 Notes and references

von Neumann algebras, density matrices, and entropic quantities, as well as their properties and applications, are described in the books [7, 8]. The older review [9] is very useful. For a QIT perspective see for example [10, 11]. Several proofs of the second law are reviewed in [12]. General von Neumann algebras, including the Tomita Takesaki theory, and applications to QFT, are introduced in [13]. Jaynes paper mentioned in exercise 1 is [14].

3. Entanglement entropy in QFT

Quantum field theory has different formulations, and all of them are useful for some purposes. The basic one is to define it by a collection of field operators $\phi(x)$ with certain properties. The operators of the quantum theory, however, are not the $\phi(x)$, which are too singular. For example, if $\phi(x)$ were an operator, $|\psi\rangle = \phi(x)|0\rangle$ would be a vector, and we know that $\langle \psi | \psi \rangle = \langle 0 | \phi^{\dagger}(x)\phi(x) | 0 \rangle = \infty$ because correlations diverge at the coincidence points. Real operators (as opposed to the operator values distributions $\phi(x)$) are defined by smearing the field

$$\phi_{\alpha} = \int d^d x \, \alpha(x) \, \phi(x), \qquad (3.1)$$

where the smearing function $\alpha(x)$ has compact support and is smooth enough. In general, we have to smear in a *d* dimensional region (*d* being the space-time dimension), and this is always enough to produce an operator, but for some fields, such as a free scalar, smearing in a spatial d - 1 dimensional surface suffices.

It is well known that the quantum fields and the Hilbert space can be reconstructed from the vacuum expectation values of products of fields, this is, the correlation functions. This is Wightman's reconstruction theorem,

$$\{\phi(x), \mathcal{H}\} \leftrightarrow \langle 0|\phi(x_1)\cdots\phi(x_n)|0\rangle.$$
 (3.2)

This tells us the full information of the theory is contained in the statistics of vacuum fluctuations.

3.1 Formulation in terms of local algebras

Let us take a region W of spacetime and consider the algebra $\mathcal{A}(W)$ of operators localized in W. We can build it from the smeared operators ϕ_{α} with the support of α included in W. There is a minor technical point here. In general ϕ_{α} , even if it is an operator, it is not a bounded one. That means that its spectrum is not bounded, and there are some vectors in the Hilbert space which are not in the domain of ϕ_{α} . Hence, issues of domain interpose to multiply operators and form an algebra. But this is not a problem: it is enough to take the projectors in a spectral decomposition of ϕ_{α} or to consider $e^{i\phi_{\alpha}}$ for hermitian ϕ_{α} , which is unitary and bounded.

Haag-Kastler description of a QFT takes as fundamental objects the algebras $\mathcal{A}(W)$ instead of fields. This is the natural setting of investigations about EE. Two absolutely minimal conditions have to hold for these algebras. The first is that operators localized in a region have to be so in a larger one

$$V \subseteq W \to \mathcal{A}(V) \subseteq \mathcal{A}(W). \tag{3.3}$$

The second is that operators localized in spatially separated regions should commute to each other. Otherwise, we could be able to send superluminal information (see exercise 1). To write this with a nice notation let us define the causal complement of a region V as (see figure 1)

$$V' = \{x | x \text{ spacelike to } y, \ \forall y \in V\}.$$
(3.4)

Then the causality axiom writes

$$W \subseteq V' \to \mathcal{A}(W) \subseteq (\mathcal{A}(V))'.$$
(3.5)



Figure 1: The causal complement V' of the region V (shaded), and the causal completion V'' = W.

This does not hold as such for fermions, but the usual extension replacing commutativity by anticommutativity covers the case of fermion operators.

In general, not all pairs of different regions have different algebras. Looking at figure 1, we can think that an operator O localized in the diamond-shaped region W would belong to the algebra of operators generated by the thin region V around the surface t = 0. Heuristically, this is because Heisenberg operators should obey some causal equations of motion that would allow us to determine them at t > 0 from the initial data at t = 0. If our theory has a stress tensor, we could construct an operator, integrating T_{00} at t = 0 in the region V, that acts locally as the Hamiltonian inside V. Then, evolving with it, we could push the operator to larger times. We will assume that this causal evolution holds, and consequently only be interested in regions with a diamond-shaped form.¹ We will call these regions causal regions. Their technical definition is regions such that W = W''. They are the domain of dependence of pieces of space-like surfaces.

Where is the information of the particular theory in this perspective? It turns out that is not in the algebras themselves. All local algebras for all theories in all dimensions are supposed to be isomorphic mathematical objects, von Neumann algebras of type III₁. This should not surprise us much; after all, the harmonic oscillator, the hydrogen atom, and a scalar field have isomorphic Hilbert spaces and global algebras (all bounded operators of these Hilbert spaces). The information of the QFT is encoded in the relations of the different algebras with each other. That is, in the net of algebras, the way they intersect each other and share operators. In figure 2, \mathcal{A}_W is supposed to be included in the algebra generated by the ones of all the small diamonds around t = 0. But the way it is generated by the algebras at t = 0 should depend on the dynamics.

A sharper way of differentiating models is to evaluate "correlations" between the algebras in the vacuum. This is precisely what the mutual information I(V, W) between two spatially separated regions does. A natural unsolved question is the analogue to the reconstruction (3.2),

$$\{\mathcal{A}(W), \mathcal{H}\} \leftrightarrow I(V, W)$$
 ? (3.6)

The definition of a causal region W = W'' fits nicely with the one of von Neumann algebras $\mathcal{R}'' = \mathcal{R}$. One could wonder about a pre-established relation between space-time causal structure and operator theory. About the important theme of the possible relations between algebras and

¹There are however counterexamples to this assumption. For example, a generalized conformal free field ϕ_{Δ} of conformal dimension Δ , as the ones that are dual to free bulk massive fields in the large *N* limit of holographic theories. These do not have a stress tensor.



Figure 2: Algebras of small regions near t = 0 generating the algebra containing W.

regions, the very few things that are actually rigorously known will not satisfy our wishes. However, it seems that symmetries are encoded in simple degradations of the most perfect possible relations between algebras and regions. We will come back to this issue in the last chapter.

3.2 Entropy and the continuum limit: a free field example

Another way to think about QFT that is common in the mind of most physicists is to think in a discrete model, such as a lattice, and then take the continuum limit, putting more points in the lattice and at the same time, doing, in general, judicious changes in the lattice model, aiming to arrive at some specific QFT for the long-distance physics. Alternatively, we can think of a theory with a different sort of cutoff, and take the limit by removing the cutoff. There may be many ways to cut off a theory, but all of them should arrive at the same QFT, say, to the same correlation functions. In this process, there may be quantities that make sense for the discrete model but that diverge as the cutoff is removed. Or they may not diverge but depend on the regularization that was used. Only the quantities that are well defined in the limit belonging to the continuum theory. For example, the question of how many degrees of freedom there are in a given volume does not make sense for any QFT. With the EE something similar happens: it is always divergent as we remove the cutoff. However, some interesting pieces can be extracted that make perfect sense in the continuum.

To make this more concrete and visualize the continuum limit we can consider some models where the entropy is easy to evaluate in a computer. This is the case with free fields. If we have a free scalar in a lattice, the operator content is described by the field and momentum ϕ_a , π_a at different points of the lattice, labelled by *a*. The algebra is defined by the relation $[\phi_a, \pi_b] = i\delta_{ab}$. For a quadratic Hamiltonian, the fundamental state is *Gaussian*. A Gaussian state is one where the two-point correlation function has all the information on the state. The multi-point correlators are given by combinations of products of the two-point functions (as happens for Gaussian probability distributions). In QFT this is usually called Wick's theorem for vacuum correlators.

In this situation, it is quite easy to evaluate the entropy from the two-point function. For a free scalar, we have for a region *W* in the lattice

$$S(W) = \operatorname{tr}\left((C+1/2)\log(C+1/2) - (C-1/2)\log(C-1/2)\right), \quad C = \sqrt{XP}, \quad (3.7)$$

where *X*, *P*, are the matrices of correlators in the region *W*,

$$X_{ab} = \langle \phi_a \phi_b \rangle |_{a,b \in W}, \qquad P_{ab} = \langle \pi_a \pi_b \rangle |_{a,b \in W}.$$
(3.8)



Figure 3: A square on the lattice. Area law and logarithmic term.

Analogous formulas hold for free fermion Gaussian states. Notice the huge reduction in computation for Gaussian states. For N lattice points we have to evaluate eigenvalues of a $N \times N$ matrix, while the density matrix is $2^N \times 2^N$ for fermions and infinite-dimensional for bosons. Non-Gaussian states, even for free theories, are not simple to treat numerically.

To use this formula we need vacuum correlators. These we obtain from the Hamiltonian. For a free scalar field, setting the lattice spacing to 1, we have a discrete Hamiltonian

$$H = \frac{1}{2} \sum \pi_a^2 + \frac{1}{2} \sum_a m^2 \phi_a^2 + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{a < b, |a-b|=1} (\phi_a - \phi_b)^2 = \frac{1}{2} \sum \pi_a^2 + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{a,b} \phi_a K_{ab} \phi_b .$$
(3.9)

The vacuum (fundamental state) correlators in the full lattice are

$$\langle \phi_a \phi_b \rangle = \frac{1}{2} (K^{-\frac{1}{2}})_{ab}, \quad \langle \pi_a \pi_b \rangle = \frac{1}{2} (K^{\frac{1}{2}})_{ab},$$
 (3.10)

which follows by diagonalizing the matrix K (in the full lattice!). In particular, for a square lattice, the correlators are given by integrals in momentum space. For example, for a two dimensional infinite lattice (space-time dimension d = 3) we have, writing $a = (i, j), i, j \in Z$, for the lattice points,

$$\langle \phi_{(0,0)}\phi_{(i,j)}\rangle = \frac{1}{8\pi^2} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} dk_1 \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} dk_2 \frac{\cos(ik_1)\cos(jk_2)}{\sqrt{2(1-\cos(k_1))+2(1-\cos(k_2)+m^2)}},$$
(3.11)

$$\langle \pi_{(0,0)}\pi_{(i,j)}\rangle = \frac{1}{8\pi^2} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} dk_1 \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} dk_2 \cos(ik_1) \cos(jk_2) \sqrt{2(1-\cos(k_1)) + 2(1-\cos(k_2)) + n(3.12)}$$

We need the correlators only in the region W of the lattice if we are interested in computing the entropy in W. If we are interested in a region W in the continuum limit, we have to take a region of the shape of W in the lattice and make it grow by scaling its size. This is equivalent to making the lattice denser. If the field is massless and free this is all. If there is a mass, however, we have to aim for a certain fixed mass in the continuum. If the size of W is L, then we have to take for example Lm fixed as we grow W in the lattice, changing the mass of the lattice model to smaller values in lattice units as we scale the region. An analogous (but more complicated) renormalization of Hamiltonian coupling constants is necessary for interacting models.

Let us see what we get for a massless field. Figure 3 shows the entropy of a square as we make the side L larger in the lattice, or, equivalently, the cutoff smaller. The entropy is shown in the middle panel and is clearly growing linearly with L. As the boundary of the square is proportional

÷		•	۰.	÷	÷	•	÷		÷				
÷		-		÷	÷	•	÷		÷		÷	÷	÷
		-	-	•	•		1			•			
÷	÷	•		÷	÷	•	ł		÷	•	÷	÷	
÷	÷	•	۰.	÷	÷	•	ł		÷	•	÷	÷	÷
	÷				÷	-	ł			-			÷
	÷	•	•	•		•	L	•		+	1		
	÷	-		÷	÷	-	÷		÷	-	ł	÷	
	÷	•		÷	÷	•	÷		÷	•	ł	÷	
	÷	-		÷	÷	-	÷		÷	-	ł	÷	
	÷	•				•				•	+		
	÷		х.	÷		-	÷		÷	-	+	÷	
	L											÷	
		-					÷		÷			÷	
		•	÷			•							

Figure 4: Left: a shape with 6 right angle corners. Right: a square rotated with respect to the lattice.

to *L* this is called an *area law* (as opposed to a volume law for the entropy of thermal states. The terminology is adapted to three-dimensional space). But this is not the end of the story. Hardly visible in the entropy linear behaviour is a sub-leading logarithmic term that can be extracted by fitting the data and subtracting the linear term. This is shown in the right panel of figure 3. Plugging back the lattice spacing, that we call ϵ , we then get

$$S = 0.75 \frac{4 \text{ L}}{\epsilon} - 0.047 \log(L/\epsilon) + \text{cons} = 0.75 \frac{\text{perimeter}}{\epsilon} - 0.047 \log(L/\epsilon) + \text{cons}. \quad (3.13)$$

This shows the continuum limit $\epsilon \to 0$ is divergent as ϵ^{-1} in this d = 3 example.

Now we can look at other shapes. For example, the left panel of figure 4 gives

$$S = 0.75 \frac{\text{perimeter}}{\epsilon} - 6 \frac{0.047}{4} \log(L/\epsilon) + \text{cons}.$$
(3.14)

Notice the area term has the same coefficient, but the logarithmic term is increased by 6/4. We interpret this as arising from the fact that the new shape has 6 corners instead of the 4 the square had. One can check drawing shapes with more corners that the logarithmic coefficient scales with the number of corners.

Now we check if this result depends on the way the regions are placed concerning the lattice. The right panel of figure 4 gives

$$S = 0.85 \frac{\text{perimeter}}{\epsilon} - 0.047 \log(L/\epsilon) + \text{cons}. \qquad (3.15)$$

This tells something bad about the area term (perimeter in d = 3). It does not have the rotational symmetry that the continuum theory has. It never forgets the lattice. These terms are called non-universal because they depend on the way (the kind of lattice for example) we arrive at the continuum. On the other hand, the logarithmic coefficient seems to be independent of the regularization. This is called a *universal* number. It belongs to the continuum theory.

3.3 General structure of the EE

Let us pause for a moment and think about the physical origin of these results. It is evident that the area term depends on the boundary of the region. It has to be generated by the entanglement of modes very near the boundary, across the two sides of the boundary. As we make the cutoff smaller, more and more of these modes appear, and this accounts for their contribution being divergent with $\epsilon \rightarrow 0$. They are short distance modes, very correlated with other short wavelength UV modes nearby, but practically uncorrelated with distant modes. Then, it is natural that their contribution is independently added along the boundary and gives an area increasing term. The divergent logarithmic term should have a similar ultraviolet origin, but due to features of UV entanglement near the vertices. This explains why it scales with the number of vertices. In fact, we can expect (and check) that its general contribution would be of the form

$$S_{\log} = \sum_{\nu} s(\theta_{\nu}) \log(\epsilon), \qquad (3.16)$$

where the sum is over the different vertices, θ_v is the vertex angle, and $s(\theta)$ is a dimensionless universal function. Vertices do not have associated any dimensionful geometrical quantity to compensate for a power of the cutoff. The $\log(\epsilon)$ behaviour comes from the scale invariance of the model at short distances and occurs even if we take a massive scalar. The reason is that as we zoom in the vertex region by a fixed amount, we find almost independent modes of the scaled size that contribute the same to the entanglement associated with the vertex feature. The number of contributions grows with the number of zooms that fit in the geometry. This grows with the logarithm of the cutoff that marks the shortest wavelength available.

But why is this coefficient universal (independent of the choice of cutoff) if of ultraviolet origin? On one side, it is very difficult to modify the coefficient of a logarithmic law by changing the definition of ϵ . But more importantly, to compensate for the log dimensions, $\log(\epsilon)$ should be accompanied by a $\log(L)$ term, with opposite coefficient. This is now a finite term measuring entanglement in large scale physics, and dependent on the correlations of the continuum QFT itself. Therefore, it must correspond to a universal term. Notice we write $\log(L)$ for some scale L of the region. This accounts for how it changes under scaling the region, but we do not know how this term precisely depends on its shape. This may be quite complicated. Any change in the shape changes the constant term. We have said nothing about the constant term, but it is the one containing most of the universal information.

With these heuristic ideas in mind, we can try to imagine what we can expect in more general cases of QFT at different dimensions, conformal or with mass scales, for different region shapes, etc. Let us call Σ to the boundary of the region W. The divergent terms should come as a series in inverse powers of ϵ (as ϵ is the cutoff, we always expand for $\epsilon \rightarrow 0$ and eliminate all positive powers) accompanied with coefficients that depend on the boundary of the region,

$$S(W) = \sum_{i} C_i(\Sigma) \times \epsilon^{-\lambda_i} + S_0(W).$$
(3.17)

The coefficients $C_i(\Sigma)$ should be: a) local and extensive on the boundary, or in other words, they should be expressed as integrals on the boundary, b) depend only on UV physics and the geometry, c) independent of the state because all reasonable states look like the vacuum at very short distances, and d) have dimension λ_i . The finite term S_0 does depend on the state and is non-local.

Suppose further that we have a nice "geometric" cutoff to the continuum model itself, that does not introduce new geometrical tensors, as the lattice directions would introduce (of course we could as well consider these tensors introduced by the lattice in the analysis below). Take the UV theory that describes the short scale physics to be a CFT perturbed by a relevant operator ϕ_{UV} of

dimension $\frac{d-2}{2} \leq \Delta_{UV} < d^{2}$. That is, the action is perturbed as

$$S_{QFT_{UV}} = S_{CFT_{UV}} + g_{UV} \int d^d x \, \phi_{\Delta}^{UV}, \qquad (3.18)$$

with coupling constant g_{UV} of dimension $[g_{UV}] = d - \Delta_{UV} > 0$. We also take the surface Σ smooth. Then the structure of the divergent terms is perturbative in g_{UV} in the UV. The possible divergent terms are of the form

$$\sum \epsilon^{-\lambda} g_{UV}^n \times \int_{\Sigma} d\sigma \text{ (curvatures)}, \qquad (3.19)$$

where $n \ge 0$ is an integer, and the total dimension of the term is 0. The curvatures can be polynomials in the spacetime curvature tensor at the point (which are zero in flat space) or in the extrinsic or intrinsic curvatures of the surface. Note not many of these types of terms are expected in general, because the more curvatures and the more powers of g_{UV} the dimensions increase, making λ smaller. The highest possible λ is for n = 0 and no curvatures, which just gives an area term, $\epsilon^{-(d-2)} \int_{\Sigma} d\sigma$. This is the reason the area term is always the most divergent possible term. Another simplification arises in most cases from the idea that the entropy in a pure state is the same for complementary regions (we will come back to this point in the last lecture). This implies the curvature terms in (3.19) have to have even dimensions, to be invariant under changes of orientation on the surface.

Let us see this more concretely in some examples. Let us take a spherical ball in d = 4 and analyse different regimes of the vacuum EE.

CFT

For a CFT we have no scales except the radius R of the sphere and the cutoff. According to the above, we have

$$S = c_2 \frac{\int_{\Sigma} d\sigma}{\epsilon^2} + 2A \left(\int_{\Sigma} d\sigma \hat{R} \right) \log(\epsilon) - 4A \log(R) + c_0 = c_2 \frac{4\pi R^2}{\epsilon^2} + 4A \log(\epsilon) - 4A \log(R) + c_0.$$
(3.20)

The logarithmic term is allowed because we have the intrinsic curvature \hat{R} of the sphere, with dimension 2, whose integral over the sphere is just 2 (the Euler number). We will show the coefficient *A* is the so-called "trace anomaly", more correctly the coefficient of the Euler term in the trace anomaly, and is a universal quantity of the CFT. For a scalar field, for example, the logarithmic coefficient results $4A = \frac{1}{90}$. The constants c_2 and c_0 are non-universal, this last one changes under redefinition of ϵ due to the logarithmic term.

More generally, for any even-dimensional CFT, there is a logarithmic term with a universal coefficient in the entanglement entropy of a smooth surface. This is allowed by dimensional analysis: we need to integrate curvature polynomial with dimension (d - 2) over the (d - 2)-dimensional boundary surface. On the other hand, smooth surfaces in odd-dimensional CFT's have no logarithmic contribution because integrating over the boundary a polynomial of the curvature

²The first inequality is called the unitarity bound: no field can have less dimension than the free massless scalar. The second is the condition for the operator to be relevant and is needed for the perturbed theory to converge to the CFT at short scales.

with even dimensions will not give a dimensionless quantity. In these odd-dimensional cases, the universal coefficient in the expansion of the entropy of a sphere is the constant term. This is universal because it cannot be changed by integrals of local terms in the boundary, representing contributions from the cutoff.

For regions different from a sphere in d = 4, there is another independent logarithmic term proportional to the integral of extrinsic curvature terms on the surface (more terms appear in higher dimensions). The coefficient of $log(\epsilon)$ of the new contribution is proportional to another universal trace anomaly coefficient C. Solodukhin's formula for the logarithmic coefficient is

$$c_{\log} = 2A \chi(\partial V) + \frac{C}{2\pi} \int_{\partial V} (k_i^{\mu\nu} k_{\nu\mu}^i - \frac{1}{2} k_i^{\mu\mu} k_{\mu\mu}^i).$$
(3.21)

Here $\chi(\partial V)$ is the Euler number of the surface, $k_{\mu\nu}^i = -\gamma_{\mu}^{\alpha}\gamma_{\nu}^{\beta}\partial_{\alpha}n_{\beta}^i$ is the second fundamental form, n_i^{μ} with i = 1, 2 are a pair of unit vectors orthogonal to ∂V , and $\gamma_{\mu\nu} = \delta_{\mu\nu} - n_{\mu}^i n_{\nu}^i$ is the induced metric on the surface. For example, for a cylinder of length *L* and radius *R*, $L \gg R$, the coefficient is $c_{\log} = \frac{C}{2}\frac{L}{R}$, which for a free massless scalar field gives $c_{\log} = \frac{L}{240R}$.

QFT-UV

Consider the UV regime of a d = 4 QFT, that is, we select a sphere with a short radius R in a theory with mass scales, but which becomes asymptotically conformal for short scales. We have the previous result but corrected by terms perturbative in the coupling constant g_{UV} . This coupling constant with positive dimensions, determine the departure of the theory from a CFT as we move to larger scales. The perturbative series usually starts with g_{UV}^2 . We have

$$S = (4\pi R^2) \left(c_2 \,\epsilon^{-2} + c_2' \,g_{UV}^2 \,\epsilon^{2(\Delta_{UV} - (d+2)/2)} + \cdots \right) - 4A_{UV} \,\log(R/\epsilon) + c_0 + c_0' \,g_{UV}^2 \,R^{2(d-\Delta_{UV})} + \cdots$$
(3.22)

The area term can receive new divergent contributions only if $\Delta_{UV} \ge 3$ (or $\Delta_{UV} \ge (d+2)/2$ in general dimensions)³. We have renamed *A* to A_{UV} to have in mind this is the anomaly coefficient of the CFT to which the QFT tends for short scales. We have included the leading correction to the finite term (the last term), with a form that is determined by dimensional analysis, assuming a g_{UV}^2 dependence⁴ This term goes to zero as $R \to 0$ and we approach more the CFT. This is a finite universal non-local contribution.

QFT-IR

In the opposite limit of large spheres, we expect the theory to approach a new CFT. Perturbative deviations from this CFT_{IR} are controlled by an irrelevant operator ϕ_{Δ}^{IR} , with $\Delta_{IR} > d$, with action

$$S = S_{CFT_{IR}} + g_{IR} \int d^d x \, \phi_{\Delta}^{IR} \,. \tag{3.23}$$

With a bit of rethinking, our understanding of the ultraviolet contributions to the divergent terms applies equally well to other contributions in the IR regime. In fact, one can think that for

³As we will explain later, the corrections to the area term are controlled by correlators of traces of the stress tensor. The definition of the dimension Δ_{UV} in this formula changes for free scalars where a non-improved stress tensor must be used.

⁴This is known to change for $\Delta_{UV} < d/2$.

regions very large in comparison with all physical scales Λ in the model, the contributions of the physics due to these scales has to be produced by correlations across the boundary at distances $\sim \Lambda$. Then, they can be considered local and extensive contributions on the boundary (assuming the curvatures of this boundary are also of IR scales). The divergent terms cannot be changed, and have to be the same as they were for small regions, but there will be finite renormalizations to these divergent local terms. In other words, for very large and smooth regions, the terms that come from the scales Λ of the theory have the same geometric form as the divergent terms and follow by replacing the cutoff with finite physical scales.

Therefore, for the sphere in d = 4 at the IR (large radius) we expect

$$S = (4\pi R^2) \left(c_2 \,\epsilon^{-2} + c_2' \,g_{UV}^2 \,\epsilon^{2(\Delta_{UV} - (d+2)/2)} + \dots - m^2 \right) + 4A_{UV} \,\log(\epsilon) + 4X \log(m) - 4(A_{UV} - X) \log(R) + \tilde{c}_0 + c_0' \,g_{IR}^2 \,R^{2(d-\Delta_{IR})} + (3.24)$$

The coefficient of the local area term has received a universal finite contribution $-m^2$. In general, this is not perturbatively calculable and depends on the whole QFT between the fixpoints. We will show a compact formula for it later. The local logarithmic term multiplying the integral of the curvature over the surface of the sphere (which we have replaced by its value 2) has also received a correction written here $4X \log(m)$. As a consequence, the IR fixpoint has a new anomaly coefficient $A_{IR} = A_{UV} - X$ multiplying the non-local term $\log(R)$. We have also included the non-local perturbative term $g_{IR}^2 R^{2(d-\Delta_{IR})}$ that has the same form as the one in (3.22) but now it decreases for large spheres because $\Delta_{IR} > d$.

Singular boundaries

We have explained the form of the divergent terms for smooth boundaries. The expansion is in terms of polynomials of the curvature of the surface, in addition to possible powers of the UV coupling constants. The combination $(\hat{R}\epsilon^2)$ can be considered as a small perturbative parameter for ϵ small enough, and this is why only positive powers of the curvature appear in the expansion. This is so unless the curvature of the boundary diverges. In that case, the above expansion does not apply around the singularity, and new divergent features appear. We have encountered this in the case of squares in d = 3. There is a logarithmic term attached to the corners in this case. Analogous divergent terms appear in different dimensions and singular features. Generally, a feature with dimension k will lead to a leading ϵ^{-k} divergence. But more complex behaviour is known for certain geometric features, including fractional powers.

Finite terms

The finite terms have a lot of information. They depend on the state. The usual volume increasing entropy for thermal states shows up in the finite term for regions large compared to the thermal length

$$S_0 \sim s \text{ vol}, \tag{3.25}$$

with *s* the usual thermal entropy density. This would be larger than an area increasing term if the area term were not divergent. Super-area finite terms also appear for pure states different from the vacuum. For fermions systems with a Fermi surface, we have logarithmic corrections to the area

$$S_0 \sim (R\mu)^{d-2} \log(R\mu),$$
 (3.26)



Figure 5: Mutual information of two circles of radius *R* separated by *R* in a square lattice.

with μ the chemical potential. Even in the vacuum, most of the information in the EE is in the dependency of the finite term on the shape of the region. We turn to this term in the next section.

3.4 Entropy: what does survive the continuum limit?

The EE in QFT is divergent and this cannot be avoided. We will see later that this divergence is implied by strong subadditivity and Lorentz invariance. Then, the question is what does survive the continuum limit. It was clear from the preceding discussion that certain coefficients in the entropy expansion are well-defined quantities. Now, we want to know how to extract all the useful information about the QFT from the EE.

The structure of the divergent terms gives us the clue to this question because they are always local and extensive along the boundary. Then, we have to make linear combinations of entropies for different regions such that each boundary appears with a total coefficient 0 in the combination. The natural quantity with this property is the mutual information of two disconnected regions A, B,

$$I(A, B) = S(A) + S(B) - S(AB).$$
(3.27)

This is a measure of correlations that is positive and monotonic.

In figure (5) we see the calculation of the mutual information of two circles of radius R separated by the same distance. This is in d = 3 and for a free massless scalar in a square lattice. The figure shows the behaviour as we go to the continuum limit. A square lattice is badly adapted to circles, but nevertheless, the mutual information converges pretty well to a finite number.

Notice the value of this number. It is very small, $I(A, B) \sim 0.052$, a fraction of a bit for an infinite number of d.o.f. This speaks about the locality of the theory. To get large amounts of mutual information we have to take the circles closer. When they touch each other the mutual information diverges.

The mutual information should contain all universal information of the entropy. This is because it can be used to provide a standard regularization of the entropy. Instead of the entropy of A with some cut-off we can take the mutual information between region A^- with boundary contracted a distance $\epsilon/2$ from the boundary of A and another A^+ which is the complement of A contracted the same distance $\epsilon/2$, see figure 6,

$$S_{\text{reg}} = \frac{1}{2} I(A^+, A^-).$$
 (3.28)

If we make $\epsilon \to 0$ this has divergences in ϵ which are of the same form as the ones in the entropy, but now the coefficients in this expansion are universal. ϵ is now a short physical distance



Figure 6: Entropy regularization with mutual information.

in the continuum model. When $\epsilon \to 0$, we can think heuristically $S(A^+), S(A^-) \to S(A)$, and $S(A^+ \cup A^-) \to 0$, because it is the entropy of the total space in a pure state. Of course, this last statement is not strictly correct, this entropy is equivalent to the one of the thin shell in between A^+ and A^- , and is always divergent. But this is expected to be a purely UV geometric local additive divergence, independent of the details of the theory at larger scales. In this way, we expect $I(A^+, A^-) \sim 2 S(A)$ in what respect to the universal terms. This is the reason for the factor 1/2 in (3.28).

Another quantity that we can expect to be convergent is the combination in the strong subadditivity (SSA) relation for two intersecting regions,

$$F(A, B) = S(A) + S(B) - S(A \cap B) - S(A \cup B).$$
(3.29)

We have only to be careful that the regions cut each other smoothly such that the intersection and union are smooth too and do not contain new geometric features which carry new divergences not appearing already in *A*, *B*. This quantity is in fact not independent from the mutual information. It is a limit of a difference of mutual information as discussed in section 2.7. Any quantity formed out of linear combinations of entropies, and without divergences, can in fact be written in terms of the mutual information.

For two states and only one region, the relative entropy is a quantity of interest. This again is expected to be finite in most cases because the two states will not differ much from each other at very high energies, where they both should approach the vacuum.⁵ Relative entropy can be defined using modular theory directly in the continuum without the need of a cut-off. This is called the Araki formula. We will not use it here and continue to think in terms of density matrices in cut-off theories.

In summary, we can think of the EE in similar terms as we used to think about other QFT quantities such as the effective action. This is not well defined by itself, there are divergences that require a cut-off and the related ambiguities. However, the divergences are local and this much restricts the possible ambiguities. To get continuum quantities, we have to compare partition functions for different geometries or sources. This similarity with the effective action is not, as it might seem, simply a fortuity. We will see the relation when we explain the replica trick.

⁵In fact, the statement that the divergences of the entropy are independent of the state is better expressed in the finiteness of the relative entropy. The difference of EE between two states may contain state-dependent boundary terms depending on the way they are regularized.

3.5 Algebras: what does survive the continuum limit?

In the lattice, we may take our algebras for a region with a bit of discretion. We can add or subtract one point from the boundary and it will go to the same region in the continuum. We can also take for example a field operator and not the momentum operator for such a point in the boundary. This will be an algebra with a centre. All these possible choices are to be thought of as different regularizations. But how are algebras with centre and without centre both tend to the same object in the continuum? The reason is that in the continuum the two algebras will differ by operators localized at the (d - 2)-dimensional boundary. There is no true operator in the continuum QFT that can be localized in a (d - 2)-dimensional surface. The smearing function would be too singular, and self correlations diverge (see exercise 2). A field is an operator-valued distribution that can be localized in a (d - 2)-dimensional surface, but not an operator. The lattice operators in the surface will have too large self-correlations in the continuum and will decouple from the rest of the operators. Acting on the vacuum, they will give vectors with energy tending to infinity in the continuum, and this limit vector will not form part of the Hilbert space of the QFT. Therefore, in general, the algebras of OFT do not have any centre. Algebras without centres are called factors.

What about regions of dimension d - 1? Well, these in general are not causal regions. But a (d - 1)-dimensional piece of a null surface can be a causal region. It turns out that, again, in most cases, smearing in a null surface is not enough to produce an operator, and these algebras are empty. For $d \ge 3$, the exception is the case of free fields or theories with a free UV fixpoint. For d = 2, all theories have non-trivial null interval algebras: for example, the smeared stress tensor always give some null localized operators.

This shows how to distinguish QFT's with free or interacting UV fixpoint, using the entropy. If the mutual information does not vanish when one of the regions is null it must be the first case. Mutual information with a (d - 2)-dimensional surface always vanishes.

3.6 Density matrix: what does survive the continuum limit?

In the continuum limit not only the entropy gets divergent (which can also be the case of some states for the harmonic oscillator) but the density matrix itself does not survive without a cutoff. The reason is simple to understand first in another context, the case of the large volume limit of ordinary thermodynamics.

Suppose we have an infinite series of single-qubit states and assume the states of these qubits is decoupled. For still more simplicity take all the single-qubit states to be the same ρ . The density matrix of *n* qubits is just the tensor product

$$\rho^{(n)} = \rho^{\otimes n} \,. \tag{3.30}$$

The eigenvalues are products of *n* eigenvalues, and will all tend to zero as *n* increases (unless ρ is pure and has only one eigenvalue 1 and the rest 0). This means the limit of $n \to \infty$ cannot be a density matrix, which has to have some non zero eigenvalues. The problem is the number of degrees of freedom, the large tensor product, rather than the dimension of the Hilbert space.

The same happens in the large volume limit of thermal systems and also for the algebras of finite regions in QFT. We will see later that, in certain cases, one can even map the situation of a finite region in vacuum QFT to the infinite volume thermal state in another space.



Figure 7: Path integral representation of the vacuum wave function and the reduced density matrix of a region.

In QFT, as in the case of the product of an infinite number of qubits, the state is perfectly well defined. We can evaluate the expectation value of operators without problem. But there is no density matrix. What replaces the density matrix is the modular flow, which is the continuum version of the unitary flow induced by $\rho^{i\tau}$ as a transformation on the operators and keeping the state invariant. It satisfies the KMS condition and this defines it uniquely.

If we have the algebra of a region W in QFT, the vacuum state in this algebra automatically comes together with a purification, given by the vacuum state in the full space. This gives us all the elements of the Tomita-Takesaki theory for any region. The modular operator Δ is the continuum version of $\rho_W \otimes \rho_{W'}^{-1}$. Note there is no need to normalize the density matrix in the expression of this operator because it comes in a product with the inverse of another matrix with the same eigenvalues. One can think this is the reason Δ has a good continuum limit even if ρ does not. The full modular Hamiltonian is $\hat{K} = -\log \Delta$, which in terms of the cutoff version has the form

$$\hat{K} = K_W \otimes 1 - 1 \otimes K_{W'}, \qquad (3.31)$$

whereas usual $K_W = -\log(\rho_W)$. This now has two pieces, one acting in W and the other acting in W' but making "time" go backwards in that region (because of the minus sign). It turns out, that this combination is much better behaved than each of the parts, and defines an operator in the continuum, while each of the parts does not. We will come back to this point later within an explicit example. We have

$$\Delta|0\rangle = e^{-K}|0\rangle = |0\rangle, \quad \hat{K}|0\rangle = 0.$$
(3.32)

3.7 Replica trick

To compute the entropy one can start from the representation of the vacuum state in terms of a path integral in Euclidean space. For definiteness, consider a scalar field $\hat{\phi}(\vec{x}, t)$, and take the basis formed by eigenvectors of this field operator at time t = 0 as $\hat{\phi}(\vec{x}, 0) |\alpha\rangle = \alpha(\vec{x}) |\alpha\rangle$, where α is any real function on the space. The vacuum wave functional writes

$$\Phi(\alpha) = \langle 0 | \alpha \rangle = N^{-1/2} \int_{\phi(\vec{x}, -\infty)}^{\phi(\vec{x}, 0) = \alpha(\vec{x})} D\phi \ e^{-S_E(\phi)} .$$
(3.33)

In order to select the vacuum state, the path integral is over the lower half space and with Euclidean time. This can be thought as Euclidean time evolution with an exponential damping factor for non zero energy states. $S_E(\phi)$ is the Euclidean action and $N^{-1/2}$ is a normalization factor. The vacuum

density matrix in this basis is $\rho(\alpha^+, \alpha^-) = \langle \alpha^+ | 0 \rangle \langle 0 | \alpha^- \rangle = \Phi(\alpha^+)^* \Phi(\alpha^-)$. In order to trace over degrees of freedom in W', the set complementary to W, one considers functions $\alpha^+ = \beta + \alpha_W^+$, $\alpha^- = \beta + \alpha_W^-$, which are equal to β on W', and sum over all possible functions β . Here $\beta = 0$ on W and α_W^\pm are zero on W'. Using the representation (3.33), this construction amounts to take two copies of the half space,⁶ glue them on W' (see figure 7), and take the path integral in this space,

$$\rho_W(\alpha_W^+, \alpha_W^-) = \int D\beta \ \Phi(\beta + \alpha_W^+)^* \Phi(\beta + \alpha_W^-) = N^{-1} \int_{\phi(\vec{x}, 0^-) = \alpha_W^-(\vec{x}), \ x \in W^-}^{\phi(\vec{x}, 0^+) = \alpha_W^-(\vec{x}), \ x \in W^-} D\phi \ e^{-S_E(\phi)} . \tag{3.34}$$

The arguments of the density matrix are the boundary conditions of the path integral on both sides of the cut on *W*.

Now that we have a path integral representation of the density matrix we want to compute the entropy. This cannot be done directly. Instead, the replica trick follows by computing the traces $tr \rho_W^n$. A representation of this calculation with the path integral is realized by replicating the density matrix *n* times. The product of matrices corresponds to sewing the upper boundary of one matrix with the lower one of the other. The trace finally corresponds to sewing the last and the first boundaries. See figure 8, where boundaries labelled with the same number of crosses are identified. The resulting space is a *n*-sheeted *d* dimensional Euclidean space with conical singularities of angle $2\pi n$ located at the boundary ∂W of the region *W*. You can convince yourself that this manifold is flat everywhere and there is no singularity at all near the original cut, which has disappeared. Going around a circle C_1 in figure 8 you come back to the original point after a 2π rotation, as usual. You will not notice any problems locally there. The only singular points are around the boundary of *W*. Following the path C_2 you have to turn an angle $2\pi n$ before returning to the original point.

Finally we have

$$\operatorname{tr}\rho_W^n = \frac{Z(n)}{Z(1)^n},$$
 (3.35)

where Z(n) is the functional integral on the *n*-sheeted manifold, and we have used the normalization factor N = Z(1) in (3.34) to have tr $\rho_W = 1$. From the knowledge of this trace, we can construct an entropic-like quantity by taking the logarithm. The Renyi entropies are defined as

$$S_n = (1 - n)^{-1} \log \operatorname{tr} \rho^n$$
. (3.36)

In particular the entropy follows by taking n to 1

$$S = \lim_{n \to 1} S_n \,. \tag{3.37}$$

The replica method gives the Renyi entropies as

$$S_n(W) = \frac{\log Z(n) - n \log Z(1)}{1 - n} .$$
(3.38)

Eq. (3.36) gives a representation of the Renyi entropies for integer *n*. The entanglement entropy follows by analytic continuation of S_n down to n = 1. Notice that there is in general no path integral

⁶The representation of the complex conjugate vacuum wave functional is the path integral on the upper half plane. In cases where the Euclidean action is complex, it must have the property $S_E(\phi) = S_E^*(T\phi)$, where $T\phi$ is the Euclidean time inversion of ϕ .



Figure 8: Path integral representation of tr ρ^3 . Boundaries with the same number of crosses are identified.

representation for non-integer n. Hence, we have to compute the function of n and do analytic continuation to get the entropy.

Most of the explicit results about EE in QFT were obtained using the replica trick. The replica trick has a very appealing form because it is a quite geometric prescription, we have to do the same geometric manipulation for any theory. This geometric representation is connected with a geometric manifestation of the entropy in holographic theories, which are the ablest ones to profit from the power of the replica trick.

There is not much to say about the Renyi entropies as information quantities. They do not enjoy many of the nice properties or operational interpretations the entropy does. The Renyi entropies are certainly additive for decoupled systems and measure the mixedness of the density matrix since they vanish for pure states too. From the point of view of the quantum theory, they have however an additional nice feature for integer n that we explain in what follows.

3.8 Renyi twist operators

One can interpret the calculation in figure 8 in a different light. We can say that we have a new theory, which is just *n* decoupled copies of the original one, with something inserted at *W* at time t = 0. In this new theory that consists of *n* independent copies of the original one, we then evaluate the vacuum expectation value of what we have inserted. This that we have inserted just takes copy *i* to copy *i* + 1, including copy *n* to copy 1. This is a cyclic permutation of the theories but restricted to *W*. The original replicated theory has in fact an obvious global permutation symmetry between the copies. This symmetry is clearly not spontaneously broken. What we have inserted at *W* is then an operator that implements the cyclic symmetry only at *W*.

Thinking more generally, we can ask if given a global symmetry of a theory we can always find an operator that implements this global symmetry in a finite region W. This we can do exponentiating the charge density integrated over W if we have a charge density and a Noether current. But, more generally, it can be done also for discrete symmetries as the present one. These local symmetry operators are called twist operators. In the present case, this is a twist operator in the *n*-replicated theory, that we can call Renyi twist operator $\tau_W^{(n)}$. We then have

$$\mathrm{tr}\rho_W^n = \langle 0^{(n)} | \tau_W^{(n)} | 0^{(n)} \rangle = e^{-(n-1)S_n(W)}, \qquad (3.39)$$

wherein the expectation value both, operators and states, are in the replicated theory.

This shows something very interesting, which has had many applications. The Renyi entropies with integer n are given by the logarithm of expectation values of operators. This establishes an

important connection between difficult to grasp entropic quantities and normal operator expectation values. This relation is of course behind the simple representation of these quantities in the path integral. Almost anything we can insert in a path integral represents an operator insertion.

But this is not a peculiar feature of QFT. The same holds for any quantum system. Let us consider a system with global state $|0\rangle$, Hilbert space $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_1 \otimes \mathcal{H}_2$. In the replicated model we take *n* identical copies of this system. The global state is $|0^{(n)}\rangle = \bigotimes_{i=1}^{n} |0_i\rangle$, and let the basis of the i^{th} Hilbert space be $\{|e_a^i\rangle \otimes |f_b^i\rangle\}$ where $\{|e_a^i\rangle\}$ is a basis of \mathcal{H}_1 and $\{|f_b^i\rangle\}$ a basis of \mathcal{H}_2 . The twist operator is

$$\tau_1^{(n)} = \left(\bigotimes_{i=1}^n \sum_a |e_a^{i+1}\rangle \langle e_a^i| \right) \otimes \mathbf{1}_2, \tag{3.40}$$

and we have

$$\langle 0^{(n)} | \tau_1^{(n)} | 0^{(n)} \rangle = \operatorname{tr} \rho_1^n \,. \tag{3.41}$$

The twist is a unitary operator, independent of the chosen basis. For two different Hilbert space factors we also have

$$\tau_{12}^{(n)} = \tau_1^{(n)} \tau_2^{(n)}. \tag{3.42}$$

As operators, the Renyi operators may be measured, in contrast to the entropy. By knowing all the Renyi twists expectation values we could compute the entropy. But it is true that knowing enough expectation values of other operators we can also do it, at least in the finite-dimensional case.

3.9 The Rindler wedge

The Rindler wedge is the region $x^1 > |t|$ in Minkowski space. It is the causal region corresponding to a half spatial plane $x^1 > 0$. The path integral representation of the density matrix is shown in figure 9. In this particular case, there is a rotational symmetry of the euclidean theory that allows us to express the density matrix as

$$\rho[\phi^+,\phi^-] = \langle \phi^+ | R(2\pi) | \phi^- \rangle, \qquad (3.43)$$

where $R(\theta)$ is the Euclidean rotation operator in the plane x^0, x^1 . This follows by thinking of the path integral as an evolution in the angle variable from 0 to 2π , whose generator is the angular momentum. Once we go to real-time, this rotation between spatial and temporal coordinates is converted into a boost. This gives

$$\rho \sim e^{-K} \tag{3.44}$$

where

$$K = 2\pi \int_{x^1 > 0} d^{d-1}x \, x^1 \, T_{00}(x) \,. \tag{3.45}$$

This is 2π times the boost operator, restricted to act on the right Rindler wedge only. The 2π reminds us of the full Euclidean rotation.

This result is rather interesting. First, it shows the modular Hamiltonian in this case is an integral of a local operator, the energy density operator. We say the modular Hamiltonian is local in this case. For other non-vacuum states or other regions, in general, the modular Hamiltonian can be rather non-local, containing products of local operators at different positions. Second, it shows



Figure 9: Left: Path integral representation of the density matrix of the right half space. Right: The modular flow of the Rindler wedge is given by a one parameter group of boosts.

there is a pre-established connection between entanglement in vacuum and energy that will give us much to talk about in another chapter. In fact, this density matrix is entirely produced by vacuum entanglement between the right and left wedges. As we mentioned before, a relativistic QFT is completely determined by the vacuum fluctuations manifested on the field expectation values. Here we strikingly see this: by reducing the vacuum state to the half-space we can learn about the energy density operator of the theory and hence about the Hamiltonian.

The modular flow $\rho^{i\tau}$ in the Rindler wedge moves operators locally because it is just given by the orbits of a one-parameter group of boost transformations. Sometimes it is better to think of this flow not just on the algebra of the Rindler wedge but on the full space which is a purification of the wedge. There, the full modular Hamiltonian (3.31) is proportional to the complete boost operator. The modular flow is shown in figure 9. In the language of Tomita-Takesaki theory, we have $\Delta = e^{-\hat{K}}$, where \hat{K} is 2π times the complete boost operator. This is in fact a well-defined operator in any QFT. On the other hand, while we can compute expectation values of the half modular Hamiltonian K, it is too singular to be an operator, in the sense that $K|0\rangle$ is not normalizable.

What plays the role of the modular reflection J in the Rindler wedge? It has to change the sign of the \hat{K} and map operators on the right wedge to the left wedge and vice versa. The two wedges represent commutant algebras. It turns out that J is the CRT operator (charge conjugation times reflection on x^1 times time reflection). It is an antiunitary operator mapping (for scalars)

$$J\phi(x^0, x^1, x^2, \cdots)J = \phi^{\dagger}(-x^0, -x^1, x^2, \cdots).$$
(3.46)

This is just CPT times a rotation in d = 4 and exists in any dimensions. In fact, Bisognano and Whichmann were the first to compute the modular operators of half-space, and they did it using the CPT theorem. One can show that all the expected properties of Δ and *J* described in section 2.9 hold on polynomials of field operators, including the KMS condition of periodicity in imaginary modular parameter, using the analyticity properties of correlation functions.

Equations (3.44) and (3.45) give the vacuum state in half-space as a thermal state of inverse temperature 2π for the boost operator. For an observer following a trajectory given by a boost orbit, the state should look like an ordinary thermal state concerning his notion of proper time $\tilde{\tau}$, because for these trajectories the proper time and the boost parameter *s* are proportional $s = a\tilde{\tau}$. The proportionality constant is the proper acceleration *a* of the observer, which is constant along boost



Figure 10: Sphere modular flow for a CFT.

orbits. The acceleration *a* is also the inverse of the distance between the points in the hyperbolic orbit to the origin. This gives the relation $K = \tilde{H}/a$, locally along the trajectory, between the boost operator and the proper time Hamiltonian \tilde{H} of the accelerated observer. Then, from the inverse temperature 2π of the vacuum with respect to boosts, for such an observer, there is a thermal bath at (proper time) temperature

$$T = \frac{a}{2\pi} \,. \tag{3.47}$$

This is Unruh's effect: accelerated observers see the vacuum as a thermally excited state. It is a completely general phenomenon. We will see Hawking radiation of a black hole is intimately related to this effect. Note this temperature diverges as we approach the boundary $a \rightarrow \infty$, where entanglement with the complementary Rindler space is very high.

3.10 Conformal transformations and spheres

For a CFT, Poincare symmetries are enlarged to the conformal group. These theories are characterized by having a traceless stress tensor $T^{\mu}_{\mu} = 0$, on top of being symmetric $T_{\mu\nu} = T_{\nu\mu}$, and conserved $\partial_{\mu}T^{\mu\nu} = 0$. This allows to enlarge the number of conserved currents related to space-time symmetries. These currents write

$$j_{\mu} = a^{\nu} T_{\nu\mu} + b^{\alpha\nu} x_{\alpha} T_{\nu\mu} + c x^{\nu} T_{\nu\mu} + d_{\alpha} \left(x^2 g^{\alpha\nu} - 2 x^{\alpha} x^{\nu} \right) T_{\nu\mu} \,. \tag{3.48}$$

The corresponding conserved charges depend on parameters a^{μ} determining translations, the antisymmetric $b^{\mu\nu}$ giving Lorentz transformations, *c* dilatations, and d^{μ} the so-called special conformal transformations.

Geometrically the conformal symmetries of Minkowski space correspond to the group of point transformations that keeps the angles invariant but can deform the distances. It keeps the null lines into null lines, maintaining the causal structure. It also sends planes to planes or spheres, and spheres to spheres or planes.

Therefore, it is possible to transform conformally the Rindler wedge to the causal region with a sphere as a boundary, and with the same transformation, the algebras are mapped. As the vacuum is invariant under this transformation for a CFT, the modular Hamiltonian is the transformed modular Hamiltonian. We could work out the expression transforming coordinates and the stress tensor. But is simpler to see that as K is a generator of the group for the Rindler wedge it must be a generator

for the sphere. Then, it is an integral of some j_0 of the form given by (3.48) on the interior of the sphere. The modular flow of the wedge is in the time direction at t = 0, and the same has to be true for the modular flow of a sphere at t = 0. This implies the generator we are looking for must be expressed entirely in terms of T_{00} at t = 0. It must also be invariant under rotations. We have to calibrate the overall constant to have the same form of Rindler's *K* near the boundary of the sphere. It is easy to get

$$K = 2\pi \int_{|\vec{x}| < R} d^{d-1} x \, \frac{R^2 - r^2}{2R} \, T_{00}(\vec{x}) \,. \tag{3.49}$$

The modular flow is given by the one-parameter conformal transformations generated by *K*. Conjugation with ρ^{-isK} gives a conformal transformation on operators that write

$$r^{\pm}(s) = \frac{R(R + r^{\pm} - e^{\pm 2\pi s}(R - r^{\pm}))}{(R + r^{\pm} + e^{\pm 2\pi s}(R - r^{\pm}))},$$
(3.50)

where $r^{\pm} = r \pm x^0$ are the mull radial coordinates. See figure 10. The modular flow freezes on the spatial boundary but still moves the null boundaries.

3.11 Transformations to curved spaces and the EE of a sphere

We have seen above, conformal transformations from Minkowski to Minkowski space. But more generally one can conformally transform a space M of metric g into another one \tilde{M} of metric \tilde{g} . The rule is that the point transformation between these spaces x' = f(x) should be such that

$$g'_{\mu\nu} = \frac{\partial x^{\alpha}}{\partial x^{\mu'}} \frac{\partial x^{\beta}}{\partial x^{\nu'}} g_{\alpha\beta} = \Omega^{-2} \tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (3.51)$$

so that the metric induced by the transformation is proportional to the pre-existent metric. This rescaling of the metric does not change angles.

Operators of a CFT can be transformed to the new space. Primary fields transform homogeneously. We have

$$\phi_1'(x_1') = \Omega(x)^{\Delta} U \phi(x) U^{-1}, \qquad (3.52)$$

for some unitary U. Taking the new state in the new space as the unitarily transformed state (the transformed vacuum is what is called the conformal vacuum) we get for the correlation functions

$$\langle \phi_1'(x_1')\cdots\phi_n'(x_n')\rangle = \Omega(x_1)^{\Delta_1}\cdots\Omega(x_n)^{\Delta_n} \langle \phi(x_1)\cdots\phi(x_n)\rangle, \qquad (3.53)$$

where the Δ_i are the field dimensions.

This transformation allows us to define the theory and the state in the new space given the knowledge of the theory in the original one. Notice that the operators are transformed locally and the factors in the transformation will not prevent the algebras from being likewise transformed to each other. From the algebraic point of view, the new theory is somehow the old one in disguise, it has the same algebras and states transformed unitarily, only the label of the causal regions has changed. And the net of causal regions is identical too since conformal transformations preserve the causal structure.

With conformal transformation, we can understand the structure of the reduced density matrix in other spaces. Local modular flows are clearly mapped to local flows. It is possible to map Minkowski space to a cylinder space-time $S^{d-1} \times R$, where *R* is time. Then, we can compute the vacuum density matrix for spheres inside a cylinder (in vacuum) by mapping spheres in Minkowski space.

The causal development of a sphere in Minkowski can be mapped to a $H_{d-1} \times R$, where the *R* is again time and H_{d-1} is hyperbolic space. The metric is

$$ds^{2} = -d\tau^{2} + \mathcal{R}^{2} \left(du^{2} + \sinh^{2}(u) \, d\Omega_{d-2}^{2} \right).$$
(3.54)

The hyperbolic space is a maximally symmetric space, like the sphere, but with negative curvature. It is non-compact, with infinite volume. The vacuum state in the original sphere is mapped to an ordinary thermal state for the time τ at inverse temperature $T^{-1} = (2\pi \mathcal{R})$, where \mathcal{R} is the curvature scale of the hyperbolic space. Therefore, we see in this new representation, the reduced density matrix on a ball looks like the infinite volume limit of a thermal state. It is a peculiar infinite volume though, in a space where the curvature is of the same size as the thermal length, and the geometry is curved in such a way that area and volume increase in the same way towards infinity, $\sinh^{d-2}(u) \sim \int du \sinh^{d-2}(u) \sim e^{(d-2)u}$.

Let us consider the mapping of a ball to de Sitter space. We do this more carefully because it will allow us to compute the EE of a sphere in a CFT.

We start with the flat space metric for d-dimensional Minkowski space in polar coordinates

$$ds^{2} = -dt^{2} + dr^{2} + r^{2} d\Omega_{d-2}^{2}.$$
(3.55)

Now with the coordinate transformation

$$t = R \frac{\cos\theta \sinh(\tau/R)}{1 + \cos\theta \cosh(\tau/R)}, \qquad r = R \frac{\sin\theta}{1 + \cos\theta \cosh(\tau/R)}, \tag{3.56}$$

the flat space metric becomes

$$ds^{2} = \Omega^{2} \left[-\cos^{2}\theta \, d\tau^{2} + R^{2} \left(d\theta^{2} + \sin^{2}\theta \, d\Omega_{d-2}^{2} \right) \right], \qquad \Omega = (1 + \cos\theta \, \cosh(\tau/R))^{-1}.$$
(3.57)

After eliminating the conformal factor Ω^2 , the remaining metric corresponds to the static patch of *d*-dimensional de Sitter space with curvature scale *R*. The latter identification may be clearer if we transform to $\tilde{r} = R \sin \theta$, which puts the above metric in the form

$$ds^{2} = -\left(1 - \frac{\tilde{r}^{2}}{R^{2}}\right) d\tau^{2} + \frac{d\tilde{r}^{2}}{1 - \frac{\tilde{r}^{2}}{R^{2}}} + \tilde{r}^{2} d\Omega_{d-2}^{2}.$$
(3.58)

We observe that

$$\tau \to \pm \infty : \quad (t, r) \to (\pm R, 0) \tag{3.59}$$

$$\theta \to \frac{\pi}{2} : \quad (t, r) \to (0, R)$$

Note that $\theta = \pi/2$ corresponds to the cosmological horizon at the boundary of the static patch. The static patch in de Sitter space is shown in the Penrose diagram of figure 11. We see that the new coordinates cover precisely the causal development of the ball $r \le R$ on the surface t = 0, and this is mapped to the static patch.



Figure 11: Static patch in de Sitter space.

Recall that the modular transformations acts geometrically inside the diamond corresponding to the ball, with modular Hamiltonian (3.49). Infinitesimal modular flow (see figure 10) will move the time coordinate for points with t = 0 as $\delta t = 2\pi (R^2 - r^2)/(2R) \delta s$, with δs the variation of the modular parameter. This corresponds through the conformal mapping (3.56) to the time translation $\tau \rightarrow \tau + 2\pi R \delta s$ in de Sitter space. Therefore the modular transformations act geometrically as time translations in the static patch and the state in de Sitter geometry is thermal at temperature $T = 1/(2\pi R)$ with respect to the Hamiltonian H_{τ} generating τ translations. Then, the density matrix is given by $\rho \sim \exp \left[-2\pi R H_{\tau}\right]$.

Therefore, the entanglement entropy for the sphere of radius *R* in flat space is equivalent to the thermodynamic entropy of the thermal state in de Sitter space. We are going to use standard thermodynamics to compute this entropy. Normalizing the thermal density matrix $\rho = e^{-\beta H_{\tau}}/\text{tr}(e^{-\beta H_{\tau}})$, we calculate the von Neumann entropy

$$S = -\operatorname{tr}(\rho \log \rho) = \beta \operatorname{tr}(\rho H_{\tau}) + \log \operatorname{tr}(e^{-\beta H_{\tau}}),$$

= $\beta E - F$ (3.60)

where $F = -\log Z$ denotes the 'free energy' of the partition function $Z = tr (exp[-2\pi R H_{\tau}])$.

The energy term in (3.60) is the expectation value of the operator which generates τ translations. Since the latter translations correspond to a Killing symmetry of the static patch (3.57), *E* is just the Killing energy which can be expressed as

$$E = \int_{V} d^{d-1}x \sqrt{h} \langle T_{\mu\nu} \rangle \xi^{\mu} n^{\nu} = -\int_{V} d^{d-1}x \sqrt{-g} \langle T^{\tau}{}_{\tau} \rangle, \qquad (3.61)$$

where the integral runs over V, a constant τ slice out to $\theta = \pi/2$. Further $n^{\mu}\partial_{\mu} \equiv \sqrt{|g^{\tau\tau}|} \partial_{\tau}$ is the unit vector normal to V and $\xi^{\mu}\partial_{\mu} \equiv \partial_{\tau}$ is the time translation Killing vector.

Now, for a CFT, after transforming the Minkowski vacuum to another space, the expectation value of the trace of the stress tensor needs not to be zero anymore. It has to be produced locally, however, out of some combination of curvatures with dimensionless coefficients, since there are no other scales in the theory. This is called the conformal anomaly. We have a general expression

$$\langle T^{\mu}_{\mu} \rangle = -2(-)^{d/2} A E_d + \sum B_n I_n,$$
 (3.62)

where A, B_n , are dimensionless coefficients (partially) characterizing the theory, E_d is the Euler density, and I_n are called Weyl invariants. Both E_d and I_n are constructed out of polynomials on
the curvature tensor and have dimension d. As the curvature tensor has dimension 2 the conformal anomalies are absent in odd dimensions. The Euler density is singled out because its integral is the Euler number, a topologically invariant of the space. For spaces that are conformal transformations of flat space, all the Weyl invariants vanish.

The state in de Sitter, coming from a conformal transformation of the Minkowski vacuum, which has maximal symmetry, is invariant under de Sitter symmetry group, and we have

$$\langle T^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \rangle = \kappa \, \delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu}, \tag{3.63}$$

where κ is some constant. Hence the expectation value of the stress tensor is completely determined by the conformal anomaly. It turns out that as there are no divergences in this energy density, and the volume of the static patch is finite, the energy term in (3.61) is finite for even *d* and zero (no anomaly) for odd *d*.

It remains to compute the contribution $F = -\log \operatorname{tr} (\exp[-2\pi R H_{\tau}])$. This can be done, as usual, passing to imaginary time τ_E and compactifying the Euclidean time with a period $\beta = 2\pi R$. The metric becomes

$$ds^{2} = \cos^{2}\theta \, d\tau^{2} + R^{2} \left(d\theta^{2} + \sin^{2}\theta \, d\Omega_{d-2}^{2} \right) \,. \tag{3.64}$$

This Euclidean manifold is precisely a *d*-dimensional sphere with the radius of curvature *R* written in unfamiliar coordinates. The fact that this metric corresponds to the sphere may be more evident after the coordinate transformation: $\sin \theta = \sin \theta_1 \sin \theta_2$ and $\tan(\tau/R) = \cos \theta_2 \tan \theta_1$, which transforms the metric to

$$ds^{2} = R^{2} \left(d\theta_{1}^{2} + \sin^{2}\theta_{1}^{2} d\theta_{2}^{2} + \sin^{2}\theta_{1} \sin^{2}\theta_{2} d\Omega_{d-2}^{2} \right) \,.$$

Note that the periodicity $\Delta \tau = 2\pi R$ is precisely that required to avoid a conical singularity at $\theta = \pi/2$. Thus, one ends up with the Euclidean path integral on S^d .

For even d we only need to determine the coefficient of the logarithmic term in the entropy, which is the only universal coefficient in this case. Now the free energy has a general expansion

$$F = -\log Z = (\text{non-universal terms}) + a_{d+1}\log\delta + (\text{finite terms}), \quad (3.65)$$

where δ is our short distance cut-off and the non-universal terms diverge as inverse powers of δ . The coefficient a_{d+1} for a conformal field theory is determined by the integrated conformal anomaly. In order to see this, consider an infinitesimal rescaling of the metric $g^{\mu\nu} \rightarrow (1 - 2\delta\lambda)g^{\mu\nu}$.

$$\frac{2}{\sqrt{g}}\frac{\delta F}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}} = \langle T_{\mu\nu} \rangle + (\text{divergent terms}).$$
(3.66)

In terms of the renormalized stress tensor $\langle T_{\mu\nu} \rangle$, we have

$$\frac{\delta F}{\delta \lambda} = -\int d^d x \sqrt{g} \langle T^{\mu}{}_{\mu} \rangle + (\text{divergent terms}), \qquad (3.67)$$

which is the integrated trace anomaly. On the other hand, due to the conformal invariance of the action, scaling the metric as above must give the same result as keeping the metric constant but shifting the UV regulator: $\delta \rightarrow (1 - \delta \lambda)\delta$. Combining these expressions with eq. (3.62), one finds

$$a_{d+1} = \int d^d x \sqrt{g} \langle T^{\mu}{}_{\mu} \rangle.$$
(3.68)

Hence we are left to substitute eq. (3.62) for the trace anomaly and integrate over the S^d . Here we also need to observe that since the sphere is conformally flat, all of the Weyl invariants I_n vanish for the sphere, while the integral of the Euler density on S^d yields 2. Hence for any CFT in even dimensions, the universal contribution to the entanglement entropy becomes

$$S_{\log} = (-1)^{\frac{a}{2} - 1} 4A \log(R/\delta), \qquad (3.69)$$

where we have completed the logarithmic divergence with the radius of the sphere. In particular, we see that the coefficient of the universal term in the entanglement entropy is proportional to the central charge A. For d = 2 the sphere is a single interval and there are no higher divergences than the logarithmic one. In d = 2 the coefficient A = c/12, where c is the Virasoro central charge of the CFT. We have

$$S(R) = \frac{c}{3} \log(R/\epsilon).$$
(3.70)

In the odd-dimensional case, we have seen E = 0 and so the entropy reduces to

$$S = \log Z = -F. \tag{3.71}$$

That is, the entanglement entropy is simply minus the free energy on a sphere. The only universal part in this expression is the constant term of the entropy, which is then the constant term of -F

$$S_{\rm cons} = -F_{\rm cons} \,. \tag{3.72}$$

3.12 Entanglement at long distances

Now we present an application of the fact that Renyi entropies come from expectation values of operators. We want to find how the mutual information behaves for two regions *A*, *B* which are far away from each other. We know that the correlations vanish in this limit and the mutual information should vanish too, but we want to find the way it tends to zero. We consider a CFT.

Let the twist Renyi operator for AB be

$$\tau_{AB}^n = \tau_A^n \tau_B^n \,. \tag{3.73}$$

These operators act in the *n*-replicated QFT. From the perspective of long distances, these operators look like operators concentrated on two points. Then, they can be expanded into a basis of local operators at these two points. This operator expansion is very much like a multipolar expansion of classical fields but applied to operators. For our purposes here we do not need to know much about the details of this expansion, just that we should include all possibilities

$$\tau_A^n = c^0(A) + c_\alpha^1(A) \,\phi^{\alpha,i}(x) + c_{(\alpha,i),(\beta,j)}^2(A) \,\phi^{\alpha,i}(x) \phi^{\beta,j}(x) + \cdots \,. \tag{3.74}$$

The operators are evaluated at a point $x \in A$. The indices α denote the type of field in the original theory, and $i = 1, \dots, n$ the copy. Note that $c^0(A)$ and $c^1_{\alpha}(A)$ cannot depend on the copy. The Renyi mutual information is

$$I_n(A,B) = S_n(A) + S_n(B) - S_n(AB) = (1-n)^{-1} \log\left(\frac{\langle \tau_A^n \, \tau_B^n \rangle}{\langle \tau_A^n \rangle \langle \tau_B^n \rangle}\right).$$
(3.75)

In doing the expansion for long distances we have to order the operators in terms of increasing dimension. The lowest scaling dimension will give the largest long-distance correlator. Then, we start with the single copy operators of the lowest dimensions in (3.75). However, single copy operators cannot contribute to the mutual information. The reason is that in (3.74) both $c^0(A)$ and $c^1_{\alpha}(A)$ are functions of n, and we must have $\lim_{n\to 1} c^0(A) = 1$ and $\lim_{n\to 1} c^1_{\alpha}(A) = 0$ in the single copy limit where $\tau^1_A = 1$. As we need two coefficients $c^1_{\alpha}(A)$, $c^1_{\alpha}(B)$, for producing a correlator that affects the mutual information, the vanishing of the two coefficients should overcome the $(1 - n)^{-1}$ factor in (3.75) and also make the contribution vanishes. They could contribute to the Renyi entropies for $n \neq 1$ however.

This does not happen for the terms with operators in two copies in (3.74) which do not have any sense for n = 1 (note $i \neq j$ in the sum, otherwise it is a single copy operator). The contribution of these operators overcomes the $(1 - n)^{-1}$ because the number of terms in the sum is proportional to n(n - 1). The leading contribution will be dominated by products of two correlators, one in each of two different copies. The two-point function is proportional to $L^{-2\Delta}$. It is then simple to see that the general form of the leading long-distance expansion is of the form

$$I(A, B) \sim C(A, B) L^{-4\Delta},$$
 (3.76)

with Δ the lowest dimension of the theory. The coefficient C(A, B) scales as the sizes $R_A^{2\Delta} R_B^{2\Delta}$, and is a sum of products of coefficients for each of the regions independently. For a scalar field is just a product C(A)C(B). The exact coefficient is known for spheres.

It is clear that the expansion continues with more negative powers of L where the exponents are sums of the scaling dimensions Δ_i of the theory, and we must consider also the descendant fields (derivatives), which have dimensions $\Delta_i + 1, \Delta_i + 2, \cdots$. This means that from the complete knowledge of the mutual information we should in principle be able to reconstruct the full spectrum of scaling dimensions by looking at the different powers that appear in the long-distance expansion. This goes a good way into showing that mutual information uniquely determines the theory.

This is also the place to remember that mutual information is careful enough to take into account all correlations between the two regions, and then be able to distinguish details. For example, some models are sometimes declared to be dual to each other without much care for details, as is the case of a free massless scalar and a Maxwell field in d = 3. The duality is $F^{\mu\nu} = \varepsilon^{\mu\nu\sigma}\partial_{\sigma}\phi$. This duality then only shows that the Maxwell field and the derivatives of the scalar are the same theories with the same algebras and the same entropies. But the full scalar contains, in addition to the derivatives, the operator $\phi(x)$. It has a bigger algebra with larger mutual information. According to the above, the mutual information for the scalar decays as $\langle \phi(0)\phi(L)\rangle^2 \sim L^{-2}$ while the one of the Maxwell field decays much faster $\langle F_{\mu\nu}(0)F_{\mu\nu}(L)\rangle^2 \sim L^{-6}$.

3.13 A curved space-time excursion

Figure 12 shows the causal diagram corresponding to an eternal black hole. The arrows illustrate the flow of the killing symmetry that, for observers far away from the horizon, looks like ordinary time translation symmetry. We can consider a QFT on this background and a state that is invariant under this symmetry. Consider the modular flow corresponding to this state and the region *II*. Quite near the horizon, at the boundary of this region, we expect the state and the flow



Figure 12: Eternal black hole space-time

to look like the ones for Rindler space. For a small region near the horizon, we should see not much difference with respect to flat space. This should be so if the state looks like vacuum in small regions, which in this context is some form of the equivalence principle. Now we can expand the killing time t near the horizon and compare this parameter with the boost parameter v. This is pure geometry. It turns out this relation is

$$\nu = \kappa t, \qquad (3.77)$$

where κ is called the surface gravity. For example, for a Schwarzschild black hole

$$ds^{2} = -\left(1 - \frac{r_{s}}{r}\right)dt^{2} + \frac{1}{\left(1 - \frac{r_{s}}{r}\right)}dr^{2} + r^{2}d\Omega^{2},$$
(3.78)

with $r_s = 2MG$ the Schwarzschild radius. Near $r = r_s$, making the coordinate transformation $r = r_s + z^2/(4r_s)$, we get the metric transversal to the horizon

$$ds^{2} = -z^{2} \frac{dt^{2}}{4r_{s}^{2}} + dz^{2} . aga{3.79}$$

Comparing this to the Minkowski metric in Rindler coordinates $ds^2 = -dv^2(x^1)^2 + (dx^1)^2$, with v a boost parameter, we get $\kappa = (4MG)^{-1}$.

Equation (3.77) means the Killing symmetry that approaches the Hamiltonian H at infinity approaches $\frac{\kappa}{2\pi}\hat{K}$ at the horizon, with \hat{K} the modular Hamiltonian for Rindler wedge (which is 2π the boost operator). Since we expect the usual modular Rindler flow corresponding to inverse temperature 1 with respect to \hat{K} near the horizon, we should have an ordinary thermal state at temperature

$$T = \frac{\kappa}{2\pi} \tag{3.80}$$

for asymptotic observers. Therefore, it does not seem to be possible to put the black hole at thermal equilibrium unless the temperature is Hawking temperature (3.80), or, otherwise, something very violent happens at the horizon.

A black hole of a certain geometry is then a thermal object, and if not compensated by incoming radiation, it will evaporate. Figure 13 shows a space-time where a black hole finally evaporates



Figure 13: Space-time of an evaporating black hole.

completely. In the semi-classical picture of QFT on a curved space one then expects a black hole generated by some pure matter to emit thermally, and in principle, the evolution will then not be unitary. This is called the black hole information paradox. Thermal radiation in the asymptotic region III is possible because of entanglement with the inside of the black hole region I.

We do not say there is a paradox when we heat a rock at T = 0 with a laser and it subsequently emits thermal radiation. In that case, we say we do not measure well enough to detect deviations from the thermal state such as to allow us to check the final radiation state is pure. But the black hole evaporation problem is a bit different from this rock, at least from the semi-classical perspective. Figure 13 (right panel) shows two regions A and B, one inside the horizon and one in the region of asymptotic observers. The mutual information between the two always increases with size, and then, it is not possible that once some mutual information is collected by B in the form of Hawking radiation, this mutual information will go down to zero as required by a pure state in B at the end of the evaporation process. This shows in a sharp way that no information can be retrieved semi-classically by asymptotic observers, no matter the interactions the QFT may have, and taking into account the full fine-grained information of the QFT.

Then the evolution between the initial states at past infinity to the Cauchy surface Σ_2 in the figure is non-unitary. There is a unitary evolution, however, the one that goes to Cauchy surface Σ_1 and tracks this type of surface including the interior of the black hole as they move to the future. There are beautiful new results for holographic models that suggest that something like this later is actually happening in quantum gravity. In quantum gravity, we cannot play the game of taking algebras for regions of the space where the gravity lives. Gauge invariant operators have to be attached to something rigid, like the infinity, to be defined. So the algebra of the interior of the black hole has no gauge-invariant meaning and we cannot compute the mutual information between *A* and *B* in the figure. The asymptotically defined algebras are in principle well defined in quantum gravity, and represent the operator content accessible to asymptotic observers. Then, the trick that restores unitarity for asymptotic observers in the BH evaporation is that the space-time semiclassical picture of these algebras does look like taking the Cauchy surface that goes inside the

horizon for late enough times, rather than Σ_2 . The surprise here is that the semi-classical picture was not that wrong after all, and semiclassical unitarity of evolution does represent full quantum gravity unitarity.

3.14 Exercises

- 1.- (Luders's theorem) Consider the Hermitian operator $A = \sum_{i} a_i P_i^A$, where a_i are the eigenvalues and P_i^A the projections onto the space of eigenvectors for each eigenvalue. A measurement of *A* transforms an arbitrary state density matrix ρ into an ensemble for the different eigenvectors given by the density matrix $\rho_A = \sum_i P_i^A \rho P_i^A$. Show that a measurement of another observable *B* cannot distinguish between ρ and ρ_A for any ρ if and only if [A, B] = 0.
- 2.- a) Consider a real scalar field ϕ of dimension Δ , such that $\langle \phi(0)\phi(x)\rangle = |x|^{-2\Delta}$. Define $\phi_{\alpha} = \int d^d x \,\alpha(x)\phi(x)$. Show that $\phi_{\alpha}|0\rangle$ has divergent norm if the smearing function $\alpha(x)$ has support in a piece of a (d-2)-dimensional spatial plane. The same is true for a support in a piece of a null plane, considering the unitarity bound $\Delta > (d-2)/2$. However, for a free scalar, the operator $\partial_+\phi$, where the derivative is in the null direction of the null plane, can produce localized operators by smearing on the null plane.

b) Consider a smeared operator $\phi_{\alpha} = \int d^d x \,\alpha(x)\phi(x)$ formed out of a free scalar field $\phi(x)$. ϕ_{α} generates an Abelian algebra and the vacuum is Gaussian in this algebra. This can be represented as the algebra of functions on the real variable ϕ_{α} . How do you write the probability distribution of the Gaussian state on this variable ϕ_{α} ? Show that the entropy for this classical continuous variable is badly defined: consider what happens to the entropy changing variables from ϕ_{α} to a function of it. Show that the mutual information with other commuting smeared mode $\phi_{\beta} = \int d^d x \,\beta(x)\phi(x)$ is given by

$$I = \frac{1}{2} \log \langle \phi_{\alpha}^2 \rangle + \frac{1}{2} \log \langle \phi_{\beta}^2 \rangle - \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} \log \begin{pmatrix} \langle \phi_{\alpha}^2 \rangle & \langle \phi_{\alpha} \phi_{\beta} \rangle \\ \langle \phi_{\alpha} \phi_{\beta} \rangle & \langle \phi_{\beta}^2 \rangle \end{pmatrix},$$
(3.81)

and does not have the problems of the entropy. It can be used as a lower bound to the mutual information of any algebras where these modes are included. Show that for large distances between the support of the modes it has the right decay expected for the mutual information of distant regions in the free scalar. Show that if $\langle \phi_{\alpha}^2 \rangle$ diverges leaving $\langle \phi_{\alpha} \phi_{\beta} \rangle$ bounded the mutual information vanishes. Taking into account the item a) what does this suggest about the limit of mutual information when one of the regions collapses to a lower dimensional object?.

3.- The heat kernel for the Laplacian in some Euclidean manifold is defined as $K(t) = \text{tr } e^{t\partial^2}$. For a free scalar field we have the path integral partition function $\log Z = -(1/2)\text{tr }\log(-\partial^2)$. This can be written $\log Z = (1/2) \int_{\epsilon^{-2}}^{\infty} \frac{dt}{t} K(t)$ where ϵ is a short distance cutoff. Why? Use the eigenvalues λ_l and degeneracies d_l of $-\partial^2$ on the spheres $S^2 (\lambda_l = l(l+1), d_l = 2l+1)$ and $S^4 (\lambda_l = l(l+3), d_l = (1/6)(l+1)(l+2)(2l+3))$ to write the heat kernel as an infinite sum. Expand this sum for small t as an integral plus corrections given by the Euler MacLaurin formula. Use the result for computing the coefficient of the logarithmic term in the entropy of intervals in d = 2 (answer 1/3) and spheres in d = 4 (answer -1/90). Beware: for $d \ge 3$ the massless free scalar can be conformally transformed to curved spacetimes provided we couple it with the curvature with some specific coefficient (this is called "improving"). The equation of motion in curved space is

$$\left(-\partial^2 + \frac{(d/2 - 1)}{2(d - 1)}R\right)\phi = 0, \qquad (3.82)$$

with *R* the scalar curvature of the space. This changes the operator to which we have to compute the heat kernel for d = 4. The curvature scalar of the S^4 unit sphere is R = 12.

3.15 Notes and references

Entanglement entropy in QFT was first considered by Sorkin and collaborators in [15, 16] in the search of a quantum origin to black hole entropy. This idea remained quite unnoticed until rediscovered by Srednicki in [17]. There are many papers where entropy formulas for Gaussian states are obtained with different levels of generality. See for example [18] for formulas and references. The free field lattice calculations are reviewed in [3]. The understanding of the structure of EE was made explicit in [19, 20]. The replica method applied to EE was introduced by Callan and Wilczek in [21]. The Renyi twist operators were introduced by Calabrese and Cardy in [22]. The paper of Bisognano and Whichmann is [23]. This was published about the same time as Unruh's paper [24], though the connection was made evident much later. [25] contains its generalization to spheres by Hislop and Longo, in a mathematically oriented context. A field theory proof for CFT's is in [26], and this paper also contains its generalization to other curved spacetimes by conformal transformations. The computation of the universal terms for spheres in section 3.11 are from [26]. The case of d = 2 [27], and d = 4 [28], were previously known. In the paper by Solodukhin [28] the expression of the logarithmic term for a generally smooth surface in d = 4was computed in terms of anomaly coefficients and intrinsic and extrinsic curvatures of the surface. The long-distance expansion was developed by Cardy in [29]. See also [30]. The relation between Hawking radiation, Rindler modular flow and CPT theorem can be seen in its Lorentzian version in [31]. The equivalent argument in Euclidean space is older. The argument about information loss using the mutual information monotonicity in section 3.13 is from [32]. The same idea was later rediscovered (expressed in terms of strong subadditivity instead of monotonicity of mutual information) in [33] and [34].



Figure 14: The fixed points P_{UV} and P_{IR} in the space of couplings $\{g_i\}$. The arrows indicate the direction of the RG and start at a UV fix point by a relevant deformation and end at an IR fix point by an irrelevant deformation.

4. Irreversibility theorems

4.1 Changes with scale: the renormalization group

One could have expected that the physics of a QFT at very different scales could be selected in a completely independent manner. However, this is not the case. There is an asymmetry between the UV and the IR, and this is the subject of the irreversibility theorems. They allow us to grasp some aspects of this asymmetry.

In the perturbative approach, the change of physics with scale is called the renormalization group. It describes how theories change with some scale μ by describing the flow of the different coupling constants $g(\mu)$ determining the effective Lagrangian at scale μ . See figure 14. This flow in the space of couplings gives a flow in the space of theories. This approach is tied to the perturbative description. The coupling constant is not a well-defined concept non perturbatively.

Then, to check some form of irreversibility one could use other forms of testing the theory at different scales. The simplest one is to use correlators. The irreversibility theorems are general statements valid for all theories, and then it is not surprising that the first such theorem by Zamolod-chikov uses stress tensor correlators. This is an operator that can be defined for any theory (or at least for most of them). Some auxiliary field, a dilaton, is used in Komargodski-Schwimmer proof of the a-theorem in d = 4.

Clearly, another quantity that is universally defined is the EE. It also has an air of knowing much about irreversibility because of its role in the second law. So we will be trying to understand irreversibility from EE.

One starts with a theory at the UV which is invariant under changes of scale and ends at the IR at another one. It is generally believed that scale invariance is generally enhanced in QFT to conformal symmetry. We assume then that the UV and IR fix points are CFT's. There is an asymmetry in the game in that the flow starts at the UV by turning on a relevant operator ϕ_{Δ} (adding a term proportional to the integral of this operator to the action) with conformal dimension $\Delta < d$ and ends at the IR with an irrelevant perturbation, with $\Delta > d$. We will be searching for a quantity that is defined for CFT's and changes with a specific sign from the UV to the IR. It is important that this quantity has to be universal, in the sense that is regularization invariant, or an object of the



Figure 15: Strong subadditivity of two intersecting regions. Left: spatial picture, right: space-time picture.

continuum theory itself. As it characterizes a CFT it has to be dimensionless.

The other point is how to describe different scales. For the entropy this is somewhat simple, we take scaled regions. The first idea that comes to mind is to take mutual information for scaled regions. This goes from some dimensionless number at the UV to another one at the IR, and this number can only depend on the CFT because the conformal geometry of the two regions has not changed under scaling. However, in scaling *two* regions it is not possible to use monotonicity, and mutual information is in general not monotonic under scaling. For a single region, we can have an inclusion under scaling, but the entropy is not well defined (nor monotonous under inclusion, though the divergent area term renders it trivially monotonic and useless at the same time). For two states in the same region, the relative entropy is monotonous undertaking scaled (included) regions. However, the theory selects only one preferred state, there is only one vacuum. The theory is preventing us from getting a too easy result, no doubt from good reasons of its own. In particular, these simple and failed ideas did not use Lorentz symmetry.

4.2 The vacuum a Markovian state?

We start with the inequality we are going to use to test irreversibility. This is the strong sub-additive inequality (SSA) of the entropy. It is the deepest inequality the entropy posses, and it is an aspect of the monotonicity of relative entropy. For algebras attached to regions it acquires a geometric form (see figure 15),

$$S_A + S_B - S_{A \cap B} - S_{A \cup B} \ge 0.$$
(4.1)

Now, for our purposes, we need that this inequality, at least when applied to some specific geometrical configuration, to saturate for a CFT. This is so because for a CFT, the dimensionless quantities to which the irreversibility would apply, whatever they would be, must not change under scaling. Then our inequality, which would drive the change of the "RG charges" for different sizes, should be saturated for the configuration of interest and a CFT, where no RG flow is taking place. This will guide us much in the following.

Then we need to find some regions A, B such that for a CFT

$$S_A + S_B - S_{A \cap B} - S_{A \cup B} = 0.$$
(4.2)

When a state satisfies this equation it is called a Markovian state between 1, 2, and 3 in figure 15. As this is a saturation of an inequality it must be that the state is rather special. The name comes from

the Markov process in classical probability. There we have three parts 1, 2, 3 of a system whose possibilities are described by some set of indices *i*, *j*, *k* for each of the parts. The state is given by p(ijk), determining the joint probability of getting *ijk* for the full system. The state (or the process) is Markovian if the conditional probability p(i|jk) of getting *i* given that we have *jk*, is equal to the conditional probability p(i|j) of getting *i* given that we have *j*. In equations, this gives

$$p(i|jk) = \frac{p(ijk)}{p(jk)} = p(i|j) = \frac{p(ij)}{p(j)}.$$
(4.3)

In words, a state is Markovian when nothing new about 1 can be known knowing 23 that was not known knowing only 2. The relation between 1 and 3 is determined by the relation between 1 and 2, and the relation between 2 and 3. Markovian probabilities are used to describe stochastic processes where the evolution is local in time, here the three times 1, 2, 3. Equation (4.3) gives

$$p(ijk) = \frac{p(ij)p(jk)}{p(j)} \iff S(12) + S(23) = S(123) + S(2).$$
(4.4)

Then, we see the Markov equation for the entropy is giving us restrictions on the possible form of the correlations between different times, which are to be intermediated by the intermediate times. For our purposes, this relation is now in space rather than time, as in figure 15.

At the quantum level, a saturation of strong subadditivity also constraints the structure of the state 123 to be rather special. The general result is that the space \mathcal{H}_2 could be written in the form of a sum over factors

$$\mathcal{H}_2 = \bigoplus_k \mathcal{H}_{2L}^k \otimes \mathcal{H}_{2R}^k, \qquad (4.5)$$

such that

$$\rho_{123} = \bigoplus_{k} p_k \, \rho_{1,2L}^k \otimes \rho_{2R,3}^k, \tag{4.6}$$

where p_k are probabilities.

This structure has an important consequence. If we restrict attention to the system (13), tracing over (2) we get

$$\rho_{13} = \bigoplus_{k} p_k \, \rho_1^k \otimes \rho_3^k \,. \tag{4.7}$$

This is precisely the general form of unentangled states between (1) and (3). Then a condition to have saturation of SSA is the absence of quantum entanglement between these two regions.

4.3 Quantum entanglement and the Reeh-Schlieder theorem.

The Reeh-Schlieder theorem is an old theorem in QFT that says something a bit startling. It says that given any region W containing some space-time volume, however small, acting with operators in W on the vacuum we can get a dense set of vectors in the Hilbert space. Even far away particles can be approximated by acting with operators in a small region W. Technically, it is said that the algebra on W acts cyclically on the vacuum: it generates a dense set of states out of the vacuum. Reeh-Schlieder property is a bit counter-intuitive, but the same happens for a simple finite bipartite system where the two-factor spaces are of the same dimension and the density matrix has no zeros. Then, it is a property that requires entanglement, but it can be a small amount of entanglement.



Figure 16: Left: regions 1 and 3 are null and do not have space-time volume. Right: two regions with boundary in a null cone.

In QFT, the reason for this property is the analyticity of correlation functions, which in turn is a consequence of the positivity of energy and Lorentz invariance. Suppose that acting with the field operators in W on the vacuum we do not obtain a dense set of vectors. Then there should be some vector $|\psi\rangle$ orthogonal to the generated set

$$\langle \psi | \phi(x_1) \cdots \phi(x_n) | 0 \rangle = 0, \quad x_1 \cdots x_n \in W.$$
 (4.8)

As these correlation functions are analytic and vanish on W, it turns out that they have to vanish for every $x_1 \cdots x_n$ now not restricted to W. But the operators on the full space acting on the vacuum do generate a dense set in the Hilbert space. This in fact defines what is the full Hilbert space in analogy with Fock space for free fields. Therefore the only possibility is $|\psi\rangle = 0$.

There is another interesting consequence of this theorem. The vacuum is not only cyclic for the operators in W but also separating. This means that one cannot annihilate the vacuum with any non-trivial operator in W. To annihilate the vacuum one needs non-local operators, that cannot belong to the algebra of any bounded region, such as an annihilation operator for a free field, or the Hamiltonian or a charge generator. This property can be deduced from the other: it is not difficult to realize that if the vacuum is cyclic for an algebra it will be separating for the commutant of that algebra.

Returning to the original purpose of looking at regions with no quantum entanglement in QFT, we see that the Reeh-Schlieder theorem basically forbids it. If we have regions (1) and (3), acting with operators in (1) on the vacuum we could produce a state resembling an entangled pair of qubits in (13). We could produce it for example using some projector in (1), and obtain the entangled pair with generally very small, but non zero probability. Therefore the vacuum state could not be unentangled between 1 and 3, because local operations in 1 or 3 cannot create entanglement, though they can destroy it. It is possible to show rigorously that there is always non zero distillable entanglement for any two regions with non zero space-time volume in QFT.

4.4 Markovianity for regions on the null plane

The same Reeh-Schlieder theorem that forbids saturation of SSA for general regions gives us a hint on a special situation where this can be avoided. To apply the Reeh-Schlieder theorem we need regions with space-time volume because a unique analytic extension of an analytic function



Figure 17: Regions with boundary in a null plane.

from its values in a neighbourhood is important in the argument. This is prevented if regions 1 and 3 do not have any space-time volume.

For causal regions, the only possibility is the regions 1 and 3 are null. This can be achieved if A and B have their boundaries in the same null surface (see figure 16). In most cases, however, this will not be enough to make SSA vanish. For example, this is the case of an ordinary QFT (not conformal) for an arrangement like the one of figure 16, right panel, where the regions have a boundary on a null cone.

As a side remark, we recall that algebras on a null surface as the corresponding ones to regions 1 and 3 in this figure are non-trivial only if the theory is UV free (for d > 2). For other cases these algebras are trivial, but that does not prevent the SSA to make sense. The SSA inequality in fact does not involve any region with zero volume, even if the regions 1 and 3 are null and have zero volume.

Surprisingly, there is a special case where SSA vanish for all QFT. This is when the regions have the boundary in the same null plane, as in figure 17. The reason is very simple and geometrical. Let us describe a causal region with boundary on the null plane by writing the boundary with the function $x^+ = \gamma(y)$, where $x^+ = x^0 + x^1$ and y represents the vector of spatial coordinates parallel to the null plane, $y = (x^2, \dots, x^{d-2})$. See figure 18. For a cut-off theory, the entropy of this region is a function of γ . If we choose a Lorentz invariant cut-off (what can be done for example taking limits of the mutual information and subtracting divergences), we can make a boost keeping the null plane invariant and we will get the same entropy. The boost just rescales $x^+ \rightarrow \lambda x^+$, with $\lambda > 0$. We have

$$S(\lambda \gamma) = S(\gamma) \,. \tag{4.9}$$

Taking the limit $\lambda \to 0$ the region approaches the Rindler wedge. As we can do this for all regions γ it means the entropies for all these regions are the same with a Lorentz invariant cutoff. Another way to say this is that on the null plane there are no Lorentz invariant geometric features on which our entropies could depend.

This gives us trivially Markovianity (4.2) for any arrangement as the one on figure 17. Once we have this relation we can lift the Lorentz invariant cutoff and use any other cutoff and the Markov property will still be obeyed, because divergent terms are always local and extensive, and therefore



Figure 18: Space-time region with boundary $x^+ = \gamma(y)$ (red curve) on the null plane $x^- = 0$.

they are cancelled in the SSA inequality.7

Notice this result is very general and geometric. It does not depend on any peculiar property of the entropy but on the Lorentz symmetry. It will also hold for Renyi entropies, or more generally, free energies of insertions of d - 2 dimensional surface operators. It will also hold in curved space-times with a bifurcate Killing horizon, such as eternal black holes, or de Sitter space, provided the state is invariant under the Killing symmetry, and we take our regions with boundary on the Killing horizon.

4.5 General form of the EE for a CFT on the null cone

The previous result on the null plane applies to all QFT. For a CFT a null plane can be mapped into a null cone. We can then conformally map this result from regions with boundaries on the null plane to regions with boundaries on the null cone. These are described by a function $r^- = 2\gamma(y)$ where $r^- = r - x^0$, see figure 19. The coordinates y can be taken as angular variables. And this is exactly the setup we were looking for: regions where SSA saturates for a conformal theory but does not saturate away from the fixed point.

What does the Markov property tell us about the EE of a CFT for regions with boundaries on the null cone? It is not difficult to convince oneself that the equation (4.2) tell us the EE is a local functional of $\gamma(y)$. In other words, $S(\gamma)$ has to depend on γ additively in the angular variables. In this way, the SSA vanishes null ray per null ray, since for each null ray labelled by y the maximum between $\gamma_A(y)$ and $\gamma_B(y)$ will appear in $\gamma_{A\cup B}(y)$, and the minimum will appear in $\gamma_{A\cap B}(y)$. Of course, this locality of the entropy always holds for the divergent terms, but the special feature here is that possible finite terms must be also local in the angular variables.

Then one can think of the EE on the null cone as an "action" depending on the dimensionless field $\gamma(y)/\epsilon$ on the d-2 dimensional unit sphere. This action has to be local, and further, one can take it to be invariant under Lorentz transformations, which maps the null cone in itself. If \hat{g}_{ab} is the induced Minkowski metric on the surface γ , and g_{ab} the one of the unit sphere, we have

$$\hat{g}_{ab} = \gamma^2(y) g_{ab} \,.$$
 (4.10)

The physical metric on the surface \hat{g}_{ab} is invariant under Lorentz transformations. Lorentz transformations induce a multiplicative change on the curve $\gamma \rightarrow e^{A(y)}\gamma$. Therefore, Lorentz transformations

⁷One should take configurations with smooth intersection and union to avoid singular terms from corners. On the null plane the possible new terms do not affect the Markovianity.



Figure 19: A region with boundary on the light-cone. This setup applies for CFTs.

mations act like a conformal map of the unit sphere into itself. Then we have to write an action for $\gamma(y)$ on the unit sphere that is local and conformally invariant.

The solution to this problem was studied previously in relation to dilaton fields. Here $log(\gamma)$ is a dilaton field, in the sense that it transforms additively under conformal transformation since γ transforms multiplicatively. We will not describe the details on the derivation of the possible actions since in fact, we will not need this result to prove the irreversibility theorems. We just quote the general form of the EE for d = 3 and d = 4.

For d = 3 we have

$$S(\gamma) = \int d\theta \left(c_1 \frac{\gamma(\theta)}{\epsilon} - \frac{F}{2\pi} \right).$$
(4.11)

The first term is of course the area term, while the second one is the constant term (or F-term). We see the constant term that we computed for the sphere is the same for any curve in the light cone.

For d = 4 we have

$$S(\gamma) = \int d^2 \Omega \left\{ c_2 \frac{\gamma^2}{\epsilon^2} - \frac{A}{\pi} \left(\log \frac{\gamma}{\epsilon} + \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\nabla_\Omega \gamma}{\gamma} \right)^2 \right) \right\} .$$
(4.12)

We recognize the logarithmic term proportional to the *A* anomaly coefficient. This term comes together with another one depending on the derivatives of the function γ . This is because it is the only form of preserving Lorentz invariance and locality, and having a logarithmic term at the same time. The whole term proportional to *A*, interpreted as an action, is called the Wess-Zumino action for the dilaton (for a theory in *d* = 2). The universal part of the entropy depends only on the coefficient *A*, as happens for spheres.

4.6 SSA on the null cone

Now we continue with the idea of testing the RG using SSA. We have discovered that SSA vanishes for a CFT on the null cone, and we have to see precisely what can be obtained from it when the theory is not a CFT.

We start with a boosted sphere of radius \sqrt{rR} lying on the null cone between the time slices at time |t| = r and |t| = R > r. We then take a large number N of rotated copies A_i of this sphere, as equally distributed on the unit sphere of directions as possible. See figure 20. The details of this



Figure 20: Boosted circles lying on the null cone in d = 3. The vertical axis of the cone gives the time direction. The red curve is a "wiggly sphere".

distribution on the unit sphere of directions turn out to be irrelevant as far as a uniform distribution is approached for large N. We are using a large number of rotated spheres because we want that applying SSA many times we end up with regions that approach to spheres too. Repeatedly applying SSA to N regions A_1, \dots, A_N the following inequality can be derived

$$\sum S(A_i) \ge S(\bigcup_i A_i) + S(\bigcup_{i \neq j} A_i \cap A_j) + S(\bigcup_{i \neq j \neq k} A_i \cap A_j \cap A_k) + \dots + S(\cap_i A_i).$$
(4.13)

The N regions on the right-hand side are ordered by inclusion and look like "wiggly spheres" as shown in the figure 20. The larger N the wiggles along the null cone get smaller.

To write the inequality now is pure geometry. We have to count the density of wiggly spheres as a function of their radius. This is readily done and we get, dividing the inequality by N,

$$S(\sqrt{rR}) \ge \int_{r}^{R} dl \ \beta(l)\tilde{S}(l) .$$
(4.14)

In this expression $\tilde{S}(l)$ are the entropies of wiggly spheres. The wiggly spheres have an approximate radius $l \in (r, R)$, and lie around the surface of equal time |t| = l; the deviations from the perfect sphere of radius l at |t| = l form the wiggles, that lie on the null cone, and have a typical width $\sim l/N^{1/(d-2)}$ that tends to zero for large N. $\beta(l)$ is the density of wiggly spheres as the number of boosted spheres $N \to \infty$, divided by N.⁸ It is given by

$$\beta(l) = \frac{\operatorname{Vol}(S_{d-3})}{\operatorname{Vol}(S_{d-2})} \frac{2^{d-3} (rR)^{\frac{d-2}{2}} ((l-r)(R-l))^{\frac{d-4}{2}}}{l^{d-2} (R-r)^{d-3}},$$
(4.15)

and has unit integral,

$$\int_{r}^{R} dl \,\beta(l) = 1.$$

$$(4.16)$$

⁸Strictly speaking the integral in (4.14) is a sum over *N* wiggly sphere entropies divided by *N*. The notation with an integral and a density of wiggly spheres is a convenience here, that will make sense for later expressions when we take the limit $N \rightarrow \infty$, and more information about the entropies of the wiggly spheres is introduced.

4.7 Converting wiggly spheres into spheres

The inequality (4.14) is much like what we wanted. But still, it relates spheres to wiggly spheres. The size of the wiggles goes to zero with large N but still, we have to investigate if that produces non-trivial contributions. If we assume we can replace wiggly spheres with spheres on the right-hand side (in d = 2 this is immediate because there are no wiggles) we get an inequality for spheres. Upon taking the limit $R \rightarrow r$, and expanding for small R - r, we get

$$r \, S''(r) - (d-3)S'(r) \le 0 \,. \tag{4.17}$$

To have a check, we can replace this for a CFT and we know that due to Markov property the left-hand side should be identically zero. For d = 2 we have $S = c/3 \log(r/\epsilon)$ for intervals, and for d = 3 we have $S = c_1 R/\epsilon - F$ for circles. Upon replacing in (4.17) we get the expected equation. But for d = 4 we have

$$S(r) = c_2 \frac{r^2}{\epsilon^2} - 4A \log(R/\epsilon).$$
(4.18)

This gives

$$r S''(r) - S'(r) = \frac{8A}{r} \ge 0.$$
 (4.19)

Then, it does not vanish, nor has the correct sign. Hence, there is a contribution from the wiggles that do not disappear taking $N \to \infty$.

The issue here is that there is a non-trivial contribution to the wiggly sphere entropy from the term with derivatives in (4.12) that comes together with the logarithmic term. This invalidates the replacement of wiggly spheres by spheres. We will now see that taking this difference into account correctly restores the Markov equation.

With $l = \sqrt{x^2 + y^2 + z^2}$, and θ the usual polar angle, the equation for the boosted sphere of radius \sqrt{rR} is

$$|t| = l = \frac{2rR}{r + R - (R - r)\cos(\theta)}.$$
(4.20)

We have

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{(\nabla_{\Omega}\gamma)^2}{\gamma^2} = \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{1}{l}\partial_{\theta}l\right)^2 = \frac{(R-l)(l-r)}{2rR}.$$
(4.21)

We get a constant integrand in the term with derivatives in (4.12) (except for higher-order terms in 1/N) on the surface of the wiggly sphere of approximate radius *l*. Taking into account this term, the Markov equation for the finite terms

$$\log(\sqrt{rR}) = \int_{r}^{R} dl \,\beta(l) \left(\log(l) + \frac{(R-l)(l-r)}{2rR}\right),\tag{4.22}$$

is now satisfied, once we replace $\beta = \frac{rR}{l^2(R-r)}$ corresponding to d = 4.

Therefore, a finite term coming from the wiggles obstructs replacing the wiggly spheres by spheres directly for $d \ge 4$.

To get rid of the wiggles, the idea is to take advantage of the Markov property of a CFT and subtract from the inequality for the entropies *S* the equation corresponding to the entropies S_0 of the UV CFT. This can be done at no cost since the SSA of S_0 vanishes exactly. We have shown that, in addition, the divergent terms coming from massive deformations at the UV are also Markovian and

cancel in the SSA inequality; we can subtract them as well, without spoiling the inequality. Then, in any dimensions, we safely replace

$$S(l) \rightarrow \Delta S(l) = S(l) - S_0(l)$$
 – massive divergent terms, (4.23)

in (4.14). Now the finite terms of the wiggles coming from the UV fixed point disappear in the subtraction, and we are free to replace subtracted wiggly spheres by subtracted spheres, taking the limit $N \rightarrow \infty$, and getting the inequality

$$\Delta S(\sqrt{rR}) \ge \int_{r}^{R} dl \ \beta(l) \Delta S(l) \leftrightarrow r \ \Delta S''(r) - (d-3) \Delta S'(r) \le 0.$$
(4.24)

We still have to check that there are no finite terms induced by a mass parameter that gives a contribution for the wiggles that survive in the limit of small wiggles. In fact, the difference in the EE from a wiggly and non-wiggly sphere is controlled by the UV. These terms should be proportional to some mass scale set by the coupling constant g of the theory deformation at the UV, compensated by positive powers of the distance scale set by the size of the wiggles. In consequence, they do not contribute to the large N limit. In more detail, the contributions of the wiggles can produce a local term, in which case they should be of the same form as the ones encountered for CFTs but where a power of the cutoff has been replaced by one of a mass parameter. In any case, a local term is always Markovian and disappear from the inequality. In the case that the term induced by the massive deformation of the UV is non-local, the change from the wiggly sphere to the sphere is suppressed by powers of the wiggly size and does not contribute in the limit.

Note that for d = 3 the formula (4.11) gives no contribution for the wiggles, and we can safely replace wiggly circles with circles without subtracting the CFT entropies. But this is not the case in higher dimensions.

4.8 Irreversibility theorems

We then have (4.24) for spheres in any dimension, where the UV CFT entropy along with other possible divergent contributions have been subtracted. Writing the entropy as a function of the area $a = c r^{d-2}$ rather than the radius *r*, we get the compact expression

$$\Delta S''(a) \le 0, \tag{4.25}$$

valid in any dimension. Thus the constraint for $\Delta S(a)$ is that it must be concave as a function of the area.

With our definition of ΔS , that has the entropy with the UV CFT terms and other possible divergent terms subtracted, in the UV limit of small *r* all local geometric terms vanish, and we get the leading "nonlocal" term

$$\Delta S_{UV}(r) \sim c_0 g^2 r^{2(d-\Delta)} + \ldots = c_0 g^2 a^{\frac{2(d-\Delta)}{d-2}} + \ldots, \qquad (4.26)$$

where the ellipsis are higher powers in r. In the IR fixed point all contributions (except the universal term) are local (proportional to integral of curvatures on the surface) and we have

$$\Delta S_{IR}(r) = \Delta \mu_{d-2} r^{d-2} + \Delta \mu_{d-4} r^{d-4} + \dots + \begin{cases} (-)^{\frac{d-2}{2}} 4 \Delta A \log(mr) \ d \text{ even} \\ (-)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \Delta F & d \text{ odd} \end{cases}$$

$$= \Delta \mu_{d-2} a + \Delta \mu_{d-4} a^{\frac{d-4}{d-2}} + \dots + \begin{cases} \frac{(-)^{\frac{d-2}{2}} 4}{(d-2)} \Delta A \log(m^{d-2}a) \ d \text{ even} \\ (-)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \Delta F & d \text{ odd} \end{cases}, \quad (4.27)$$

with *m* a characteristic energy scale of the RG flow. The coefficients $\Delta \mu_{d-k}$ have dimension d - kand have the interpretation of a finite renormalization of the coefficient of the term r^{d-k} in the entropy of spheres, between the UV and IR fixed points. The last term gives the change in the part of the EE which only depends on the fixpoints: $\Delta A = A_{IR} - A_{UV}$, with *A* the Euler trace anomaly coefficient for even dimensions, and $\Delta F = F_{IR} - F_{UV}$, with *F* the constant term of the free energy of a *d*-dimensional Euclidean sphere, for odd *d*.

Concavity, Eq. (4.25), implies two relations between the short and long-distance expansions for $\Delta S(a)$: 1) The slope of the $\Delta S(a)$ curve is bigger at the UV than at the IR; 2) Given that $\Delta S(0) = 0$, the height at the origin of the tangent line at the IR has to be positive.

The first requirement, comparing (4.26) and (4.27), and provided $\Delta < (d + 2)/2$, gives place to the "area theorem" in any dimensions, that is, the decrease along the RG of the coefficient of the area term,⁹

$$\Delta \mu_{d-2} \le 0. \tag{4.28}$$

The meaning of this inequality is that massive modes do not contribute to entanglement across the boundary for large regions as they would do if they would have remained massless. In d = 2 the area coefficient is dimensionless ($a \sim \log(r)$) and the area theorem coincides with the *c*-theorem, $c_{UV} \ge c_{IR}$.

The second requirement gives for d = 3 the *F*-theorem,

$$\Delta F \le 0, \tag{4.29}$$

and for d = 4 the *a*-theorem,

$$\Delta A \le 0. \tag{4.30}$$

For higher dimensions d > 4 it gives

$$\Delta \mu_{d-4} \ge 0. \tag{4.31}$$

The inequality does not constraint the sign of the subleading terms, in particular the change of *A* or *F*, for d > 4.

In addition to these constraints that come from the comparison of the UV and IR expansions, we have to check (4.25) at the UV and infrared expansions themselves. At the IR we get again (4.30) and (4.31) for $d \ge 4$. For d = 3 we get information on the sign of the first subleading correction to the constant

$$\Delta S_{IR}^{d=3} = \Delta \mu_1 r - \Delta F - \frac{k}{r^{\alpha}} + \dots, \qquad (4.32)$$

 $^{{}^{9}}$ If $\Delta > (d+2)/2$ the area term at the UV can be considered infinite because the slope of (4.26) diverges as $r \to 0$.

where the last term is purely infrared in origin and α is related to the leading irrelevant dimension of the operator driving the theory to the IR. We get k > 0 from (4.25). At the UV we get that the sign of the coefficient c_0 in (4.26) is the same as the one of $\Delta - (d + 2)/2$.

Notice that while the inequality (4.25) saturates at the UV, it does not saturate at the IR for $d \ge 4$. The SSA inequality always saturates at the IR for regions smooth enough (with IR size curvatures) but this does not allow us to derive (4.25) precisely because we are not allowed to convert wiggly spheres into spheres for these large wiggles.

For d = 2, 3 we can spare of subtracting the UV CFT entropy. Let us write again the inequalities for the entropy of an interval in d = 2, or a circle in d = 3,

$$d = 2: \quad rS''(r) + S'(r) \le 0 \to c(r) = rS'(r), \ c'(r) \le 0, \tag{4.33}$$

$$d = 3: \quad S''(r) \le 0 \to F(r) = rS'(r) - S(r), \ F'(r) \le 0.$$
(4.34)

These monotonic functions c(r) and F(r) interpolate between c_{UV} and c_{IR} in d = 2 and F_{UV} and F_{IR} in d = 3. No such interpolating function depending only on the entropy at scale r exist for d = 4.

4.9 SSA plus Lorentz symmetry imply divergent entropy

From these results, we can see the divergence of the entropy in QFT in a different light, as implied by Lorentz symmetry and the SSA inequality. Let us consider d = 2. The entropy of an interval as a function of the "area" $a = \log(r)$ is concave $S''(a) \le 0$. Suppose we assume the entropy is finite. S(a) would then be a finite positive concave function of the line $a \in (-\infty, \infty)$. If $S'(a_0)$ were positive at some a_0 , going for smaller a there would be a point in which S would turn negative, because the slope of the curve always increases towards smaller a. If $S'(a_0) \le 0$ the same reasoning shows S would become negative for large enough a. Therefore the only possibility is the trivial S(a) constant. Similar reasoning using SSA and Lorentz invariance shows that the only finite entropy possibility in d = 2 for multi-interval regions is that S is proportional to the number of intervals, and independent of any other geometrical feature. This gives zero mutual information. The conclusion is that finite positive entropy, Lorentz invariance, and SSA lead to the trivial result of a theory without correlations. The same purely geometric ideas and conclusions apply to any dimension.

4.10 Modular Hamiltonians on the null plane and the null cone

The strong subadditive equation, rather than inequality, holds for regions in the null plane. As we have seen this is a very geometrical fact and extends to almost anything that depends on regions with boundaries in the plane, including the Renyi entropies. However, the Markov equation for the entropy is especially powerful, because it is the saturation of an inequality. It implies a particular form of the density matrices. Interestingly, it implies the same Markovian equation for the modular Hamiltonians

$$S_A + S_B - S_{A \cap B} - S_{A \cup B} = 0 \iff K_A + K_B - K_{A \cap B} - K_{A \cup B} = 0.$$
(4.35)

This is now an equation for operators rather than numbers.

The content of this equation is unfolded if we reason as we did for the entropy. If $\gamma_A(y)$ and $\gamma_B(y)$ are deformed around two separated points y_1, y_2 the equation tells the cancellation takes place at y_1 and y_2 independently of the rest of the curve. As a consequence, the cancellation has a natural explanation in the locality of K_A as a function of $\gamma_A(y)$, that is, K_A is an integral over y of a quantity that depends on the null rays alone. We can think heuristically that the density matrix is a tensor product over the different null rays such that the modular Hamiltonians are additive. This idea agrees with the extensivity of the Renyi entropies too.

To get the Modular Hamiltonian we then just have to calibrate the contribution of a single null ray with the result for Rindler space. Remember that Rindler modular Hamiltonian is a conserved charge, and then is of the form

$$2\pi \int_{\Sigma} d\sigma \, j_{\mu} \, \eta^{\mu}, \qquad (4.36)$$

where j_{μ} is the Noether current of the boost symmetry, and η is the unit normal vector to the arbitrary surface Σ forming a Cauchy surface for the wedge. Taking this surface to the null plane we get

$$K_{\text{Rindler}} = 2\pi \int d^{d-2}y \int_0^\infty dx^+ x^+ T_{++}(x^+, y).$$
(4.37)

We then get for an arbitrary curve

$$K_{\gamma} = 2\pi \int d^{d-2}y \, \int_{\gamma(y)}^{\infty} dx^{+} \left(x^{+} - \gamma(y)\right) T_{++}(x^{+}, y) \,. \tag{4.38}$$

y denote the transverse coordinates $(x^2, ..., x^{d-1})$, and $x^+ = \gamma(y)$ parametrizes the boundary of the region on the null plane.

This expression is again local and depends exclusively on $T_{\mu\nu}$. However, there is an important difference with Rindler's case. This modular Hamiltonian is not a conserved charge coming from a Noether current. We cannot write it as a local expression on any other surface except the null one. Written on other surfaces it will be non-local. In a like manner, the modular flow acts locally as Rindler's on each null ray but is non-local on the bulk of the region.

For a CFT the modular Hamiltonian can be transformed to the cone obtaining

$$K_{\gamma} = 2\pi \int d\Omega \,\gamma^{d-3}(\Omega) \int_0^{\gamma(\Omega)} d\lambda \,\lambda \left(\gamma(\Omega) - \lambda\right) T_{\lambda\lambda},\tag{4.39}$$

with $\lambda = r^{-}/2$, where we are considering the past light cone.

4.11 Interpretations of irreversibility

There are other, independent, proofs of the irreversibility theorems, based on more conventional quantities, in dimensions d = 2 (*c* theorem) and d = 4 (*A* theorem), but the only one available up to present for dimension d = 3 is entropic. This may not be so surprising, given the very non-local nature of *F* which is not measured by an anomaly.

It is important to step back for a moment and try to understand the results conceptually with words rather than equations. A heuristic interpretation of irreversibility is especially expected in the present case where we have a unification of the theorems in different dimensions in terms of the entropy and QI properties. However, in this important point, the focus on the entropy has not yet



Figure 21: Strong subadditivity of boosted intervals in d = 2.

given a final word. Sometimes the irreversibility theorems are worded in terms of a loss of degrees of freedom with scale. This is not very correct, we always have infinitely many degrees of freedom, and there is no change in the RG charges with scale for a CFT, for example. A better description is a loss on the number of field degrees of freedom. But this is a notion that has sense only for free fields, and further, the central charges measure very differently free fields with a different spin, giving a very non-classical notion of the weight of each field.

A heuristic interpretation of the entropic irreversibility theorems goes along the following lines. Minkowski space violates the triangle inequality for distances very badly, and we can draw very small regions *A*, *B*, with small $A \cap B$, such that $A \cup B$ is very large, as in figure 21. The question is whether we can reconstruct a state in a large region $A \cup B$ from the knowledge of the reduced states in small ones *A*, *B*, $A \cap B$. Notice that the knowledge of the state in the big region clearly gives the one in the smaller ones, the question is the opposite. For the conformal case this reconstruction is indeed quite direct due to the Markov property. We have from $K_A + K_B - K_{A \cap B} - K_{A \cup B} = 0$, where $K_X = -\log \rho_X$,

$$\rho_{A\cup B} = e^{\log\rho_A + \log\rho_B - \log\rho_{A\cap B}} \,. \tag{4.40}$$

This simple reconstruction is prevented when the state is non-Markovian, and we are not in a CFT, leading to the idea that the reconstructibility from different scales is what is lost in the RG flow. However, it would be desirable to have a sharper idea of reconstructibility and how much it fails. For example, the analyticity of correlators tells that the complete knowledge of the correlation functions in any small region should in principle give the unique correlators to all scales. This too strong and operationally non-practicable notion of reconstruction is evidently not what is required.

On the other hand, the area theorem, which includes the c-theorem in d = 2, does have a more clear QI interpretation. It can be shown that this theorem follows just from the monotonicity of relative entropy between the vacuum of the theory and the one of its UV CFT fixpoint when compared in the null Cauchy surfaces of diamonds. The relative entropy monotonicity tells about increasing distinguishability and this is measured by the change of the area term (or the central charge in d = 2). The same idea also explains the g-theorem about defects on CFT's.

To have such a heuristic interpretation made more concrete would be important for different reasons. It could help in generalizing the theorems to other situations like non-relativistic systems, or higher dimensions. It is clear that the SSA analysis gives the same result in any dimensions, but the power of the inequality is not enough to reach the last term of the expansion of the entropy



Figure 22: Two far away regions with boundary on null cones.

of spheres (which depend on the dimensionless RG charges). Inequalities involving more regions, and consequently giving place to more derivatives of the entropy, would be needed to reach the RG charges for $d \ge 5$. But these are not known. Holographic irreversibility theorems hold for any dimensions but it is not clear whether this is the result of the peculiar nature of these theories. There is also the fact that we are much less certain of the possible QFT zoo in higher dimensions. Some people argue all QFT should be free for $d \ge 7$.

4.12 Unitarity bounds from mutual information

This is an application of the Markov property on the null cone for CFT's. We will see it implies unitarity bounds.

Let us take a null cone and two regions A_1, A_2 , with boundary in this cone. We also take a spatially separated region *B*. We compute

$$I(A_1, B) + I(A_2, B) - I(A_1 \cap A_2, B) - I(A_1 \cup A_2, B) = (S(A_1) + S(A_2) - S(A_1 \cap A_2) - S(A_1 \cup A_2)) - (S(A_1 \cup B) + S(A_2 \cup B) - S((A_1 \cap A_2) \cup B) - S((A_1 \cup A_2) \cup B)).$$
(4.41)

The first bracket on the right-hand side vanishes because of the Markov property for a CFT. The second is an SSA combination of entropies, with a minus sign. Therefore we get the superadditivity of mutual information in this case

$$I(A_1, B) + I(A_2, B) - I(A_1 \cap A_2, B) - I(A_1 \cup A_2, B) \le 0.$$
(4.42)

To get more tangible information about this inequality we evaluate it for two distant spheres A and B, where the separation L is much larger than the radius. When the mutual information is dominated by the interchange of a scalar field at large distances (see section 3.12), the mutual information between two spheres has an expansion

$$I(A,B) \sim c^2 \, \frac{R_A^{2\,\Delta} R_B^{2\,\Delta}}{L^{4\,\Delta}} \,. \tag{4.43}$$

We can now play the same game as in figure 20, considering multiple rotated boosted spheres for the first region, and using strong super additivity as we did with the proof of the irreversibility

theorems using strong subadditivity. The result is again the same inequality (4.17) involving derivatives with respect to the radius of the first sphere but with opposite sign,

$$R_A \frac{d^2 I(A, B)}{dR_A^2} - (d - 3) \frac{dI(A, B)}{dR_A} \ge 0.$$
(4.44)

Using (4.43) we get

$$\Delta \ge \frac{d-2}{2} \,. \tag{4.45}$$

This is precisely the unitarity bound for the scaling dimension of scalar fields. Note this is supposed to apply to the smallest scaling dimension of the theory that dominates long-distance mutual information, and therefore the bound applies to all other scalar fields as well. The unitarity bound in the usual field theory derivation comes simply from the positivity of the Hilbert space scalar product. We have, writing $\phi_{\alpha} = \int d^d x \, \alpha(x) \, \phi(x)$ for a smeared operator,

$$\langle 0|\phi_{\alpha}^{\dagger}|\phi_{\alpha}|0\rangle = \int d^{d}x \, d^{d}y \, \alpha^{*}(x) \, \alpha(y) \langle 0|\phi(x)\phi(y)|\rangle \ge 0 \,.$$
(4.46)

Inserting the adequate correlator, the analysis reveals that this holds for any smooth α if and only if (4.45) holds.

Independently of the interpretation in terms of fields, this shows on general grounds that the mutual information of a CFT cannot decay at a slower rate than $L^{-2(d-2)}$. Since this is valid for spheres, by monotonicity, it is valid for any shapes.

4.13 Notes and references

The structure of quantum Markovian states was found in [35]. For a nice account of the Reeh-Slieder theorem see Witten's review [5]. A proof that there is always distillable entanglement for regions with non zero volume is by Verch and Werner [36]. Markovianity for regions on the null plane (and CFT's on the cone) was shown in [37]. This paper also gives the structure of the modular Hamiltonians. Previous analogous results for free fields by Wall are in [38]. The presentation here follows the line of [39]. This last paper also shows the general structure of EE on the null cone for a CFT.

The irreversibility theorems have a long history. The theorem in d = 2 was proved by Zamolodchikov in [40] using stress tensor correlators. For even dimensions it was then conjectured by Cardy the *A* anomaly should be the monotonic quantity [41]. For odd dimensions, the conjecture that the constant term in the entropy was the correct quantity to look at was given by Myers and Sinha in [42]. This paper also gave a holographic proof in any dimensions. An apparently different conjecture for irreversibility about the constant term in the free energy of a sphere was given by Jafferis, Klebanov, Pufu and Safdi in [43]. That these two quantities coincide was shown in [26]. The interpolating F(r) function was conjectured by Liu and Mezei in [19]. The *A* theorem in d = 4was proved by Komargodski and Schwimmer using dilaton effective actions in [44].

Entropic irreversibility theorem in d = 2 was proved in [45]. The generalization to d = 3 is in [46]. The case of d = 4 is in the paper [47], where a unification for the consequences of SSA in all dimensions was given. The presentation here follows [39].

Strong subadditivity plus finite positive entropy and Lorentz symmetry give a trivial entropy function proportional to the area for all polyhedra [48]. This implies zero mutual information for any region and no correlations.

A nice wording on the interpretation of the entropic irreversibility theorems is in [49]. A proof of the area theorem in any dimensions, and the c-theorem in d = 2, based on monotonicity of relative entropy is in [50]. This follows ideas on the entropic proof of the g-theorem [51].

Unitarity bounds from mutual information superadditivity were found in a work with G. Torroba and E. Teste [52].

5. Energy-entropy bounds

In relativistic quantum field theory, the energy has to be positive for stability reasons. Any negative energy could be boosted to an arbitrarily large negative energy, and there would not be a lower bound on energies. As a consequence, the final products of scattering would have an infinite volume of phase space available and the theory would easily not make sense. We want our quantum theory to have a fundamental state. However, energy density can and must be negative for some states. For example, the classical energy density of a scalar field $T_{00} = \frac{1}{2}(\dot{\phi}^2 + (\vec{\nabla}\phi)^2 + m^2\phi^2)$ is manifestly positive, but in the quantization the subtraction of zero-point energy renders the energy density operator indefinite. The question is how much negative there can be, or how much can it be concentrated or spread in space and time. The role of the energy bounds is to inform us about this, and as it happens, the quantity bounding the energy is often an entropy, these can also be seen as entropy bounds. The bounds can be alternatively be seen as lower bounds for the energy or as upper bounds for some entropic quantity.

Though we are going to focus mainly on QFT aspects, this subject is very much entangled with gravity. We will see there are thought experiments involving black holes behind our QFT results. Some form of positivity of energy density is used in many theorems about classical gravity: singularity theorems, the horizon area increase for black holes, the non-traversability of wormholes, the boundary causality of AdS, etc. QFT necessarily violates (some) of these energy conditions, and allows for example, for the black holes to evaporate. Energy-entropy bounds are seen in this light as a necessity for quantum corrected semi-classical version of the gravity theorems.

5.1 Bekenstein bound. I

Bekenstein proposed the following experiment with black holes. Take a small probe of matter outside of the black hole, quite near the horizon of a large black hole, and let it fall and be swallowed by it. If the second law is valid in presence of black holes (generalized second law), the final entropy should be greater than the initial one. This entropy has to count both the entropy *S* of the object outside the black hole and the one of the black hole itself, given by A/(4G), where *A* is the horizon area, and *G* Newton's constant. We then should have for the changes of these terms

$$\frac{\Delta A}{4G} \ge \Delta S \,. \tag{5.1}$$

Computing ΔA is computing a change in the geometry when the object crosses the horizon. This is governed by Einstein equations. It turns out that for small changes like the one of this experiment Einstein equations just reproduces what is expected from thermodynamics: the change of the black hole entropy is given by the change of energy over the temperature,

$$\Delta S_{BH} = \frac{\Delta A}{4G} = \frac{\Delta E}{T} \,. \tag{5.2}$$

This is called the first law of black hole thermodynamics, which is geometrized by Einstein equations. Here *T* is the black hole temperature $\frac{\kappa}{2\pi}$ (see section 3.13), where κ is the surface gravity of the black hole, and *E* is the ordinary energy as measured by asymptotic observers. This is the Killing energy corresponding to the time like symmetry of the black hole space-time. As we recalled in section 3.13, very near the horizon, the Killing symmetry generator approaches $\frac{\kappa}{2\pi}K$, with *K* the modular Hamiltonian of the Rindler wedge. We get from (5.1) and (5.2)

$$\frac{\Delta A}{4G} = \Delta K = 2\pi \int_{x^1 > 0} x^1 \,\Delta T_{00}(x) \ge \Delta S \,. \tag{5.3}$$

This is written in near horizon coordinates, with $x^1 = 0$ the horizon position. Notice that *G* has disappeared from the inequality between the two last terms in this expression because the G^{-1} in the entropy formula has cancelled with the *G* in the change of geometry given a source. Therefore we can safely take the limit $G \rightarrow 0$, and think this is now a problem in Rindler space.

Bekenstein's original formulation was classical. He thought of a compact object of energy E at a distance R from the horizon (with R greater than the object size), and let the object has some entropy S. After it is swallowed by the black hole no entropy should remain outside, and he obtained

$$S \le 2\pi R E \,. \tag{5.4}$$

As it stands this formula suggests that one could not make the entropy increase too much for a fixed energy. It is then some kind of universal bound on the number of degrees of freedom, implied by black hole physics.

However, the bound (5.4) is ill-defined in the quantum case. The entropy, if localized, should include vacuum entanglement, which makes it divergent; the energy, if not global, could be negative (while the entropy is always positive), the size of the object is ill-defined, etc. These problems were historically preventing any better interpretation of the bound. To understand what the bound says in QFT it is better to return to the version (5.3) that is really what follows from Bekenstein thought experiment. Then, we should replace ΔT_{00} by $\Delta \langle T_{00} \rangle$ and interpret the change ΔS as the change of the entropy in half-space, between the state with matter, to the vacuum state. Both states, the initial and final one, have large amounts of entanglement due to vacuum fluctuations, or near horizon correlations. However, the difference between entropies is now finite. So (5.3) makes perfect sense in QFT, and now reads

$$\Delta \langle K_R \rangle = 2\pi \int_{x^1 > 0} d^{d-1} x \, x^1 \, \langle T_{00}(x) \rangle \ge \Delta S_R \,, \tag{5.5}$$

where the subscript *R* means quantities referred to the Rindler wedge. We have used $\langle 0|T_{00}(x)|0\rangle = 0$.

This inequality is precisely what is implied by the positivity of relative entropy between the state ρ with matter and the vacuum ρ_0 when both are reduced to half-space. We have

$$S(\rho|\rho_0) = \operatorname{tr}\rho(\log\rho - \log\rho_0) = \operatorname{tr}\left(\rho\log\rho - \rho_0\log\rho_0 + \rho_0\log\rho_0 - \rho\log\rho_0\right) = \Delta\langle K_R \rangle - \Delta S_R,$$
(5.6)

where we have used $K_R = -\log \rho_0$. Rindler's modular Hamiltonian K_R has its usual expression proportional to the boost operator, giving (5.5) from positivity of relative entropy.

This proves Bekenstein bound for any state in any theory. In conclusion, Bekenstein bound does not imply new physics coming from black holes, though it is remarkable that the consistency with gravity hinges on the pre-established relationship between the vacuum state on half-space with energy density.

Under this light, the interpretation of the bound is very different from what it was originally thought. There is no bound on degrees of freedom, but the bound is rather related to the idea of distinguishability: when restricted to a region, fluctuations can be as large as to make it hard to distinguish the vacuum from another state if the energy (times distance to the boundary) of this other state is not big enough. The relative entropy measures this distinguishability in a precise operational way and is always positive.

Now there is no problem with the energy being negative in half-space, but this must be accompanied by a decrease of entanglement for the vacuum state.

Relative entropy between two states ω_1, ω_0 , in any region V, can always be written

$$S_V(\omega_1|\omega_0) = \Delta \langle K_V \rangle - \Delta S_V, \qquad (5.7)$$

where K_V is the modular Hamiltonian of ω_0 in V. One can produce other Bekenstein type bounds involving energy and entropy whenever K_V is given in terms of the stress tensor, as in the case of spheres or, more generally, regions with boundary in the null cone, in CFT's.

5.2 The first law of EE

If we perturb a density matrix $\rho \rightarrow \rho + \delta \rho$, with $tr\delta \rho = 0$ to keep normalization, we get to first order

$$S(\rho + \delta \rho) = -\operatorname{tr}(\rho + \delta \rho) \log(\rho + \delta \rho) = S(\rho) - \operatorname{tr}\delta\rho \log(\rho) + O((\delta \rho)^2).$$
(5.8)

To first order in the deviation, we can then write, using the language of the previous section,

$$\Delta S = \Delta \langle K \rangle \,. \tag{5.9}$$

This gives us the change in the entropy from the knowledge of the change of the expectation value of the modular Hamiltonian. Notice that this implies the relative entropy $S(\rho + \delta \rho | \rho) = \Delta \langle K \rangle - \Delta S$ is of second order in the perturbation. This must be so because it is always positive and is zero for $\delta \rho = 0$.

This has been called the first law of entanglement entropy because it is a generalization of

$$dS = \beta dE \tag{5.10}$$

in thermodynamics. Indeed, this last equation is (5.9) for the special case of small changes with respect to a thermal state.

The importance of (5.9) is that it allows evaluating changes in the entropy by the knowledge of the expectation value of an operator. As in thermodynamics, it opens the way for the entropy to be measured or computed from the knowledge of these expectation values. Of course, the formula is useful provided the modular Hamiltonian is known (as in Rindler for example). Formulas for expansions to higher order in terms of the modular Hamiltonian are known. For higher orders, the possible non-commutativity between ρ and $\delta \rho$ should be taken into account.

The first law has an interesting interpretation in holographic theories. It relates the variation of entropy, which is given by a variation of a minimal area in the bulk and depends on the variations of the metric, with a variation of energy. To satisfy this equation the metric of the holographic theory has to satisfy Einstein equations, which are then encoded in the boundary QFT in the distribution of entanglement for different regions.

5.3 Area term in EE and the Newton constant

As an application of the first law of entanglement entropy, we compute the general form of the massive corrections to the area term in EE. That is, we want to compute how the area term is dressed as we go from small regions to large regions. The area theorem says it must be a negative correction, here we will evaluate it in terms of correlation functions of the stress tensor.

In order to address this consider a sphere of large radius $R \to \infty$, approaching half-space, so the modular Hamiltonian is given by

$$K = 2\pi \int_{x^1 \ge 0} d^{d-1} \vec{x} \, x^1 T_{00}(x), \qquad (5.11)$$

for any QFT (not necessarily at a fixed point). $S(\rho_R)$ is dominated by the IR fixed point, and hence

$$\Delta S = S(\rho_R) - S(\rho_R^{UV}) \approx (\mu_{d-2}^{IR} - \mu_{d-2}^{UV}) R^{d-2}; \qquad (5.12)$$

all the other terms are subleading. The change $\Delta \mu_{d-2}$ can be obtained by performing a small variation of *R*,

$$R\frac{d\Delta S}{dR} = (d-2)\Delta S.$$
(5.13)

Under a small change of state $\delta\rho$, the first law allows to relate the variation in the entropy to the change in the modular Hamiltonian, $\delta S = tr(\delta\rho K)$. A variation of the size of the region can be obtained by changing $g_{\mu\nu} \rightarrow \lambda^2 g_{\mu\nu}$, with $\lambda = (1 + \delta\lambda)$, in the Euclidean path integral representation of the density matrix, and keeping all mass parameters and the coordinate size of the region fixed. Using $\delta \log Z/\delta g_{\mu\nu} = \langle T_{\mu\nu} \rangle/2$, this step is equivalent to an insertion of $\Theta(x) = T^{\mu}_{\mu}(x)$ in every point on the *d*-dimensional path integral. By applying the first law to the variation of entropy in each of the states, we then get

$$\Delta S = -\frac{1}{d-2} \int d^d x \left\langle \Theta(x) K \right\rangle + \frac{1}{d-2} \int d^d x \left\langle \Theta_{UV}(x) K_{UV} \right\rangle, \tag{5.14}$$

where we still have formula (5.11) for *K* but there is an additional minus sign from the rotation to imaginary time of the two indices of T_{00} . Using that the trace of the stress-tensor vanishes in the UV CFT, and (5.13),

$$\Delta S = -\frac{2\pi}{d-2} \int d^d y \, \int_{x^1 \ge 0} d^{d-1} x \, x^1 \left\langle \Theta(y) T_{00}(x) \right\rangle.$$
(5.15)

Translation invariance along the boundary of the Rindler space implies that the integrand is independent of the spatial coordinates $(x^2 - y^2, \ldots, x^{d-1} - y^{d-1})$ parallel to the Rindler edge. These integrals give simply a factor of the boundary area R^{d-2} , and we arrive to

$$\Delta \mu_{d-2} = -\frac{2\pi}{d-2} \int d^d y \, \int_{x^1 > 0} dx^1 \, x^1 \, \langle \Theta(y) T_{00}(x) \rangle \,. \tag{5.16}$$

Because of conservation, translation and rotation invariance $\langle \Theta(y)T_{\alpha\beta}(x)\rangle$ must have the following Lorentz-covariant structure:

$$\langle \Theta(y)T_{\alpha\beta}(x)\rangle = (g_{\alpha\beta}\nabla^2 - \partial_\alpha\partial_\beta)F(s),$$
 (5.17)

with s = y - x. In particular, taking the trace

$$\langle \Theta(y)\Theta(x)\rangle = (d-1)\nabla^2 F(s).$$
(5.18)

Let us now perform the integral,

$$\int d^d y \, \int_{x^{1}>0} \, dx^1 \, x^1 \, \langle \Theta(y) T_{00}(x) \rangle = \int d^d y \, \int_{x^{1}>0} \, dx^1 \, x^1 \, \vec{\nabla}^2 F(s) = \int d^d x \, F(x), \qquad (5.19)$$

where we integrated by parts twice. On the other hand,

$$\int d^d x \, x^2 \, \langle \Theta(x)\Theta(0) \rangle = (d-1) \int d^d x \, x^2 \, \nabla^2 F(x) = 2 \, d \, (d-1) \int d^{d-1} x \, F(x), \tag{5.20}$$

after integration by parts.

Comparing both expressions, we derive the sum rule

$$\Delta \mu_{d-2} = -\frac{\pi}{d(d-1)(d-2)} \int d^d x \, x^2 \left\langle \Theta(x)\Theta(0) \right\rangle.$$
(5.21)

This sum rule agrees with the sign $\Delta \mu_{d-2} \leq 0$ deduced from the irreversibility theorems, since the correlator $\langle \Theta(x)\Theta(0) \rangle > 0$ by reflection positivity. Notice however that the change can be divergent depending on the detail on the approach to the UV fixpoint. If ϕ_{Δ} is the field producing a relevant perturbation in the action at the UV, we have $\Theta \sim \phi_{\Delta}$ for small scales and (5.21) diverges when $\Delta \geq (d+2)/2$. This is in accordance with the estimations at section 3.3.

The case d = 2 can be obtained by taking into account that in this case the behaviour is logarithmic instead of a power law, or alternatively from the equation above by adimensionalizing the integral using a mass scale m

$$\Delta S = -(mR)^{d-2} \frac{\pi}{d(d-1)(d-2)} \int d^d x \, m^{-(d-2)} x^2 \, \langle \Theta(x)\Theta(0) \rangle \,, \tag{5.22}$$

and expanding for $d \rightarrow 2$. We have

$$\Delta S = -\frac{\pi}{2} \log(mR) \int d^2 x \, x^2 \left\langle \Theta(x) \Theta(0) \right\rangle.$$
(5.23)

This gives the change in the logarithmic term of the entropy, coming from one boundary in Rindler space. We have two boundaries for an interval, and the change in the central charge can be obtained using that for an interval in a CFT $S \sim c/3 \log(R) + \text{cons.}$ We get

$$c_{UV} - c_{IR} = 3\pi \int d^2 x \, x^2 \left\langle \Theta(x)\Theta(0) \right\rangle.$$
(5.24)

This coincides with the known sum rule from Zamolodchikov c-theorem.

Interestingly, this same change in the area term should be reflected in the entropy of a black hole as we change the size of the black hole from a small to a large radius. The area term has its origin in short distance entanglement across the horizon and should not be changed by large scale details of the geometry. From the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy formula, the only way to achieve this matching is that Newton's constant itself renormalizes as $\Delta(4G)^{-1} = \Delta \mu_{d-2}$, in the way predicted by (5.21). This gives

$$\Delta\left(\frac{1}{G}\right) = -\frac{4\pi}{d(d-1)(d-2)} \int d^d x \, x^2 \left\langle \Theta(x)\Theta(0) \right\rangle.$$
(5.25)

This formula is called the Adler-Zee formula and was obtained long ago by computing corrections in the gravity effective action when integrating out quantum fields. It tells that the contribution of the dressing of massive quantum fields makes gravity stronger at the IR, probably reflecting the fact that any matter gravitates attractively.

5.4 Consequences for the irreversibility theorems

Eq. (5.21) shows that what drives the total change of the area term under the RG is the operator $\Theta = T^{\mu}_{\mu}$. This is zero precisely for CFT's where no RG running takes place. By reflection positivity $\langle \Theta(x)\Theta(0) \rangle > 0$, and in fact the correlator cannot be zero unless the operator $\Theta \equiv 0$ (this follows from Kallen-Lehmann representation of two-point functions). Since $\Theta \equiv 0$ is equivalent to say the theory is a CFT and never moves away from the fixpoint, any non-trivial RG running gives a non zero negative change on the area term.

For the case d = 2 this is a well-known consequence of Zamolodchikov's theorem. Eq. (5.24) prevents any RG to connect two theories with equal central charge.

For d = 3 we can obtain the same conclusion. The area term is going to change for any non-trivial RG flow. In terms of the entropies, the change in the area term is

$$\Delta \mu_1 = \int_0^\infty dr \, S''(r) < 0 \,. \tag{5.26}$$

This means S''(r) is strictly negative for at least some *r* and is always non-positive by the *F* theorem. The change in *F* is

$$F_{UV} - F_{IR} = -\int_0^\infty dr \, r \, S''(r) > 0, \qquad (5.27)$$

which has then to be strictly positive. Notice that because of the suppression by the power of r, $\Delta \mu_1$ can be divergent (if the relevant deformation at the UV has $\Delta > 5/2$) while ΔF can still be finite.

5.5 Monotonicity of modular Hamiltonians

Now we are going to use relative entropy again to prove an inequality for modular Hamiltonians. The setup is completely general and does not restrict to QFT.

Let us consider a bipartite system G = AA', where A' is the complement of A. Let us take $A \subseteq B \subseteq G$, where G is the global system. We have another bipartition G = BB' with $B' \subseteq A'$. Then, let us take a pure reference state $\rho_0 = |\psi\rangle\langle\psi|$ in the global system G and another state ρ^1 . From the monotonicity of relative entropy we have

$$S_A(\rho^1|\rho^0) = \Delta \langle K_A \rangle - \Delta S(A) \le S_B(\rho^1|\rho^0) = \Delta \langle K_B \rangle - \Delta S(B), \tag{5.28}$$

$$S_{B'}(\rho^1|\rho^0) = \Delta \langle K_{B'} \rangle - \Delta S(B') \le S_{A'}(\rho^1|\rho^0) = \Delta \langle K_{A'} \rangle - \Delta S(A').$$
(5.29)

All the differences are between the quantities for the state ρ^1 minus the ones for ρ^0 . All the modular Hamiltonians are determined by ρ^0 .

The entropies for complementary regions in a pure state are equal, $S_0(B) - S_0(B') = S_0(A) - S_0(A') = 0$. We will use the notation $\hat{K}_X = K_X - K_{X'}$ for the full modular Hamiltonian of X. This is the one implementing the modular flow in the full space and is a well-defined operator in the continuum limit. He also have $\hat{K}_X |\psi\rangle = 0$ for any X. See section 3.6.

Adding the two inequalities and rearranging terms we get

$$\langle \hat{K}_B - \hat{K}_A \rangle_1 \ge S_1(B) - S_1(B') - S_1(A) + S_1(A').$$
 (5.30)

Note the only place where the state ρ^0 enters in this inequality is in the choice of the modular Hamiltonian. If the state ρ^1 is pure the right-hand side vanishes. If it is not pure, we can add a new separated Hilbert space on a system Z to purify it. Then, we can write

$$\langle \hat{K}_B - \hat{K}_A \rangle_1 \ge I_1(B, Z) - I_1(A, Z) \ge 0.$$
 (5.31)

Both mutual information on the right-hand side is for the state ρ^1 . Monotonicity of mutual information shows the right-hand side is positive. The quantity on the right-hand side can be thought a form of entropy that is in the complement of *A* in *B* but is not produced by entanglement with the rest of the system *G* but with some other universe *Z*.

As (5.31) is positive for any state ρ^1 we conclude the difference between the full modular Hamiltonians of included regions is a positive operator

$$A \subseteq B \to \hat{K}_B - \hat{K}_A \ge 0. \tag{5.32}$$

5.6 Bekenstein bound II

A different form of Bekenstein bound follows from this inequality for modular Hamiltonians. Take two parallel Rindler wedges, *B* is the region $x^1 > 0$, and $A \subset B$ is the region $x^1 > L$, and the region B - A is a strip of width *L*. The difference between translated Rindler modular Hamiltonians (which are proportional to boost generators) is proportional to the standard Hamiltonian. Eq. (5.30) gives in this case

$$2\pi L E \ge S(x^1 > 0) - S(x^1 > L) + S(x^1 < L) - S(x^1 < 0).$$
(5.33)

All the quantities involved are for an arbitrary state in the QFT. This has a more striking resemblance with the original version of the Bekenstein bound (5.4) than the one we have previously derived, though it is not what follows from Bekenstein thought experiment, and has a less local flavour. Here the energy is the global energy, which is positive, and the entropy combination on the right-hand side vanishes for pure global states, making the inequality trivial in that case. The inequality shows that $2\pi LE$ bounds the failure of saturation of monotonicity of relative entropy. As we have seen, the combination of entropies on the right-hand side is a positive quantity conveying a meaning of entropy in the strip which cannot be associated with entanglement with other regions of the space.

Suppose we live in a meta-theory and can manipulate degrees of freedom of the QFT and another system Z of our laboratory. We could make a unitary transformation of the vacuum involving fields in the strip and some external operators, entangling Z and the QFT. The result of this operation could make the entropy S(Z) increase without limit without changing the energy if the QFT has enough degrees of freedom, say many copies of a given field. However, subtracting the trivial inequality for the vacuum, and considering that unitary transformations in an algebra do not change the entropy, we get

$$2\pi L E \ge \Delta S_{x^{1} > 0} + \Delta S_{x^{1} < L}, \qquad (5.34)$$

which has the form of the previous Bekenstein bound, and we know will not be violated thanks to vacuum entanglement.

5.7 The ANEC

Now we show another application of the monotonicity of modular Hamiltonians. Let us recall the expression of the (full) modular Hamiltonians for regions with boundaries in a null plane in vacuum. For any QFT we have

$$\hat{K}_{\gamma} = 2\pi \int d^{d-2}y \int dx^{+} (x^{+} - \gamma(y)) T_{++}(x^{+}, y) .$$
(5.35)

Now consider another curve γ' which is changed only around a single light ray of coordinate y = 0; $\gamma'(y) = \gamma(y) + \delta\gamma(y)$, with $\delta\gamma > 0$ positive and vanishing outside an interval $y \in (-\epsilon, \epsilon)$. Since the region $\gamma' \subseteq \gamma$, from monotonicity we have

$$\hat{K}_{\gamma} - \hat{K}_{\gamma'} = 2\pi \int d^{d-2}y \,\delta\gamma(y) \int dx^+ T_{++}(x^+, y) \ge 0.$$
(5.36)

This has to hold for any positive smearing $\delta \gamma$, leading to the averaged null energy condition (ANEC)

$$\int dx^+ \left\langle T_{++}(x^+) \right\rangle \ge 0, \tag{5.37}$$

where the state producing the expectation value is arbitrary.

The ANEC in flat space implies Hoffmann-Maldacena inequalities between trace anomaly coefficients in a CFT. For QFT in curved space-time, the same inequality holds for space-times with a bifurcate Killing symmetry, where the integration is over affine parameter along a light ray of the Killing horizon. Due to the Gao-Wald theorem, this ensures boundary causality around the AdS vacuum in holographic theories.

5.8 Generalized second law

The generalized second law is the statement that the area of a black hole horizon over 4G plus the entropy of the matter outside of it never decreases in time. In classical gravity Hawking's area theorem shows the area of the horizon never decreases provided matter satisfy the null energy condition. When quantum fields are coupled to gravity this energy condition can fail and the black hole is allowed to evaporate. The question is what is ensuring the generalized second law in the semi-classical regime where the horizon is nearly stationary and the quantum fields produce small back-reaction. To have control over the problem we think in the semi-classical limit in which gravity is weak, curvature small, and the black hole radius is very large. This is the limit taken in the Bekenstein bound described above, in which the horizon approaches the null plane. To express the second law we need to define what is time. This can be taken as any foliation of space-time by



Figure 23: Foliation of the horizon; in red, two different times.

spatial surfaces ordered in time, and their intersection with the horizon provides us with the area of the horizon as a function of time. As we have seen there is a natural quantity expressing the idea of what is the entropy outside the black hole, and this is the EE. This is again a function of the cut of the horizon because the choice of Cauchy slice outside of the black hole does not change the entropy.

Then we are in a situation like figure 23, with a foliation of the horizon that in the limit $G \rightarrow 0$ is a null plane in Minkowski space. We need to show that the generalized entropy

$$S_{\rm gen} = \frac{A}{4G} + S_{\rm out} \tag{5.38}$$

always increases in the direction of the null rays towards the future.

First we have to evaluate the change in the area. Raychaudhuri equation gives

$$\nabla_{\lambda}\theta = -(d-2)^{-1}\theta^2 - \sigma_{ab}\sigma^{ab} - R_{\lambda\lambda}.$$
(5.39)

Here $\theta = d\Delta A/(\Delta A d\lambda)$ is the expansion, the rate of change of the area ΔA in a small interval Δy around a single light ray of transversal coordinate *y* with the affine parameter λ . σ_{ab} is called the shear, measuring deformations in the shape of the light-front. In the limit we are interested here, the classical unperturbed horizon is stationary, and changes are induced by quantum matter. The first two terms in the Raychaudhuri equation are second-order and can be neglected. The last term is $R_{\lambda\lambda} = 8\pi G T_{\lambda\lambda}$, through Einstein equations. It follows that, to the lowest order,

$$\frac{\partial_{\lambda}^{2}\Delta A}{\Delta A} = -8\pi G T_{\lambda\lambda} \,. \tag{5.40}$$

After integrating this equation gives for the area of a slice γ

$$A(\gamma) = -8\pi G \int d^{d-2}y \int_{\gamma}^{\infty} d\lambda \left(\lambda - \gamma(y)\right) \left\langle T_{\lambda\lambda} \right\rangle + \text{const} = -4G \left\langle K_{\gamma} \right\rangle + \text{const} \,. \tag{5.41}$$

Notice this is proportional to the expectation value of the modular Hamiltonian K_{γ} for the region determined by γ .

Eq. (5.38) gives

$$S_{\text{gen}} = -\langle K_{\gamma} \rangle + (S_{\text{out}} - S_{\text{out}}^0) + \text{const} = \text{const} - S_{\gamma}(\rho_{\text{out}}|\rho_{\text{out}}^0).$$
(5.42)



Figure 24: Left: an excitation that is spatially localized at t = 0 in the Rindler wedge. Right: A light like laser excitation (red) crossing two Cauchy surfaces.

We have added and subtracted the vacuum entropy S_{out}^0 which is constant for slices of the Rindler space as argued when we discussed the Markov property. It is clear that the increase of the generalized entropy will then be a consequence of the monotonicity of relative entropy as we decrease the size of the region moving γ to the future.

5.9 Local temperatures

All results of this chapter depend on the fact that the modular Hamiltonian, for certain regions and states enjoying particular time-like symmetries, turn out to be local on the energy density operator. Naturally one may wonder if there is a way to generalize this result for other regions and states. For these other cases, the modular Hamiltonian is non-local, so the generalization has to go by a different route.

Let us consider again the case of a Rindler wedge. We try to find a definition of Unruh temperature that does not involve an observer with a particular trajectory given by the modular flow because these trajectories and observers are not going to be available in the general case. The idea is to take a unitary operator U well-localized around a point $x^1 = l, x^0 = 0$ inside the wedge W (figure 24) and compare the vacuum ρ^0 with a new state ρ^1 formed by acting with U on the vacuum. The entropy in the wedge does not change and the relative entropy is

$$S_W(\rho^1 | \rho^0) = \Delta \langle K \rangle \sim 2\pi \, l \, E \,. \tag{5.43}$$

The relative entropy grows proportional to the energy. This result is independent of the "chemical composition" of the excitation, and the coefficient $(2\pi l)$ defines an inverse local temperature at the given point in the wedge W. This of course coincides with Unruh temperature for acceleration $a = l^{-1}$ as corresponds to boost orbits passing through the point. One could consider localizing the excitation around other points x inside the wedge, not lying at t = 0, and the result is again proportional to the momentum P^{μ} of the excitation

$$S_W(\rho^1|\rho^0) \sim \eta_\mu(x) P^\mu,$$
 (5.44)

where $\eta_{\mu}(x) = 2\pi x^{\alpha}(v_{\alpha}u_{\mu} - u_{\alpha}v_{\mu})$ is proportional to the boost Killing vector of the wedge, where v, u are two orthogonal unit vectors normal to the edge of the wedge.

For a CFT one can produce the same type of energy increasing relative entropy for spherical regions. For a region A that is not a sphere nor a wedge, and a point $x \in A$, we can place A inside a wedge W, and take a sphere S inside A, including the point x, to give purely geometrical upper and lower bounds from monotonicity

$$\beta_{S}(x)E \le S_{A}(\rho^{1}|\rho^{0}) \le \beta_{W}(x)E.$$
(5.45)

This suggests a degree of universality that would hold for any region. In particular, one could ask whether in the limit of large energies we could have $S_A(\rho^1|\rho^0) \sim \beta_A(x)E$ for some geometrically determined $\beta_A(x)$, independently of composition. Formula (5.44) already shows this is not possible, because in general, the coefficient β will depend on the direction of the excitation too. In figure 24 right panel it is shown a light-like high energy excitation with almost null momentum. This is localized along different points on the causal set A and we must have the same β for all these points. In particular, for regions γ with boundary on the light cone in a CFT, we can read off β from the local form of the modular Hamiltonian on the null surface. It is easily seen that we can change β for the same point x and different directions at will by changing the form of the curve γ . Then, the conjecture would rather be that for the limit of high energy, almost null momentum, we could have

$$S_A(\rho^1|\rho^0) \sim \beta_A(x,\Omega) E, \qquad (5.46)$$

with the direction-dependent local inverse temperature $\beta_A(x, \Omega)$ determined geometrically, and independent of excitation composition.

This in fact turns out to be correct for free massive scalar or fermion fields (β is independent of the mass, and the same for bosons and fermions) and one can argue the same local temperatures occur for superrenormalizable theories, since this is a large energy limit. β is determined by an eikonal-type equation with Rindler like boundary conditions on ∂A . However, this equation is not easy to solve. In d = 2 we have two null directions, and the explicit solution for *n* intervals given by the null coordinates of their end points $(a_1^{\pm}, b_1^{\pm}), \dots, (a_n^{\pm}, b_n^{\pm})$ is

$$\beta^{\pm}(x) = \frac{2\pi}{\sum_{i} \left(\frac{1}{x^{\pm} - a_{i}^{\pm}} + \frac{1}{b_{i}^{\pm} - x^{\pm}}\right)}.$$
(5.47)

This can be thought of as produced by a local term in the modular Hamiltonian of *n* intervals of the form $K_{\text{loc}}^{\pm} = \int dx \,\beta^{\pm}(x) T_{\pm\pm}(x)$. In more dimensions, however, the local temperatures cannot be exclusively produced by local terms proportional to the stress tensor. These terms do not have enough parameters to encode a $\beta(x, \Omega)$ with arbitrary dependence on the angular variables Ω .

Local temperatures display a universal connection between entanglement, energy and geometry in QFT. The interpretation of this connection is rather subtle though. The temperature measures the statistics of entanglement on high energy modes around a point. However, this entanglement has a long-distance origin, being sustained with the complement of A.

5.10 The QNEC

The quantum null energy condition (QNEC), as the Bekenstein bound, was discovered from a gravity conjecture, restricted to some flat space limit. The conjecture, in this case, is called the quantum focusing conjecture.



Figure 25: Null surfaces with boundary deformed. On the right a thin deformation.

The idea starts with Raychaudhuri equation (5.39). In classical gravity, using Einstein equations, and assuming the null energy condition (NEC), $T_{\mu\nu}k^{\mu}k^{\nu} \ge 0$ for all null vectors k^{μ} , the equation (5.39) implies that the expansion decreases

$$\frac{d\theta}{d\lambda} < 0, \tag{5.48}$$

with λ parametrizing the null direction. This is the focusing property of gravity, which accelerates null rays to each other. Quantum fields can violate the NEC, making the expansion positive, and allowing, for example, black holes to evaporate. Though the classical focusing does not hold anymore, the idea is that a quantum corrected expansion Θ should still be focusing. In the generalized second law, the area that increases in classical Hawking theorem is replaced by the generalized entropy, $S_{\text{gen}} = A/(4G) + S_{\text{out}}$, containing also the quantum entropy of fields for a Cauchy slice ending at the null surface. The quantum focusing conjecture is then

$$\frac{d\Theta}{d\lambda} < 0, \qquad \Theta = \frac{dS_{\text{gen}}}{d\lambda},$$
(5.49)

where λ is a parameter describing the advance of the cut on the null surface (figure 25).

In the limit $G \rightarrow 0$ this conjecture gives a statement about QFT in Minkowski space. This follows again from writing the derivative of the area in terms of the stress tensor using Raychudhuri equation. The QNEC is the resulting inequality

$$\int d^{d-2}y \left\langle T_{ab}(x) \right\rangle \frac{dx^a}{d\lambda} \frac{dx^b}{d\lambda} \ge \frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{d^2 S_{\text{out}}}{d\lambda^2} \,. \tag{5.50}$$

In this expression, λ is a parameter of null deformations $x^a(y, \lambda)$ of the boundary of the null surface (see figure 25), and *y* represents the transversal coordinates of the null surface.

Contrary to the Bekenstein bound or the ANEC, this inequality remarkably can give a lower bound to the stress tensor at a point. This is achieved by taking a localized variation of the surface. On the other hand, the lower bound is in terms of a second derivative of a global entropy of regions with boundaries passing over the point. One technical point is that the null surface has to have zero expansion at the point where the variation is made.
More remarkable still is that the QNEC is in fact true in QFT. The known proofs are however not so simple. You can see the references below. We limit ourselves here to give an argument based on the replica trick.

The two sides of the inequality (5.50) look quite different in nature. The left-hand side is additive in the *y* direction over the deformation, while the right-hand side is not. Deformations on different points will contribute to the second derivative of the entropy. However, these second derivatives at different points are in fact a particular case of SSA and are negative. Therefore, the first observation is that (5.50) can be reduced to the case of deformations in an infinitesimal interval in the coordinate *y*, plus SSA. Hence we focus on the so-called local QNEC, the situation of figure 25, right panel. Calling x_0^+ to the size of the spike deformation, we should have

$$\lim_{x_0^+ \to 0} \lim_{A \to 0} \frac{1}{A} \frac{d^2 S_{\text{out}}}{dx_0^{+2}} \le 2\pi \left\langle T_{++}(x) \right\rangle, \tag{5.51}$$

where A is the small transversal area. In this limit, we take A to zero first than the size of the spike x_0^+ .

Now we want to compute the change of entropy and for that use the replica trick. The deformation of the twist operator τ_n along the spike in figure 25 is very near annihilating itself and leave a twist operator τ_n^0 without spike. Since this limit is taken keeping the state fixed, an operator product expansion of this twist operator should live us with the insertion of local operators of the replicated theory along the line of the spike. The expansion should have the form

$$\tau_n = (1 + (1 - n) O_{\Delta} A^{\frac{\Delta - h - h_0}{d - 2}} (x^+)^h (x_0^+)^{h_0} + \dots) \tau_n^0.$$
(5.52)

The operators can be chosen to sit at $x^+ = 0$, and we expect positive powers of A and positive integer powers of x^+ and x_0^+ in the expansion. The form of the term in the expansion is only dictated by dimensional analysis and Lorentz invariance. The powers of x^+ , x_0^+ , have to be compensated by the spin $s = h + h_0$ of the field O_{Δ} by boosting invariance. We have also placed a (1 - n) factor for the single copy operators.

Let us analyse first the case of the single copy operators. They will contribute to the entropy as

$$\langle O_{\Delta} \rangle A^{\frac{\Delta - h - h_0}{d - 2}} (x^+)^h (x_0^+)^{h_0} .$$
(5.53)

Only terms with $h_0 = 2$, corresponding to spin s = 2 + h for the operator, contribute to the second derivative with respect to x_0^+ in (5.51) after the limit $x_0^+ \to 0$ is taken. Only $(\Delta - h - h_0) = (\Delta - s) \le d - 2$ contribute to (5.51) after the limit $A \to 0$ is taken. For operators with spin $s \ge 2$ there is a minimum value of $\Delta - s = d - 2$ (usually called the twist of the operator) and this is the case of the stress tensor. This implies we have to look at the term with h = 0, h = 2, that is linear with A. Therefore, the only contribution to the left hand side of (5.51) coming from single copy operators has to be proportional to $\langle T_{++}(x^+ = 0) \rangle$.

For multiple copy operators we need to produce $(x_0^+)^2$ still, but this time two fields of spin 1 in different copies can do the work. Their minimal dimension is the one corresponding to the derivative $\partial_+\phi$ for a free scalar field ϕ , which is $\Delta = d/2$. These two fields will again imply a minimal linear power for A for dimensional reasons. So they can contribute, but any other operator or products of operators in more than two copies could not contribute. If the theory does not contain an exactly free scalar field there is no contribution at all from the multiple copies. Let us restrict ourselves to this simpler case.

Single copy operators are the ones that contribute to the entropy linearly in the state, and therefore we are in the limit of the first law of entanglement entropy, with $\Delta S = \Delta K$, as far as (5.51) is concerned. Therefore to find out the coefficient of the entropy term in (5.51) we simply calibrate with the modular Hamiltonian of a deformed null plane. We have

$$\partial_{x_0^+}^2 2\pi \int_{x_0^+}^{\infty} dx^+ \left(x^+ - x_0^+\right) T_{++}(\lambda) = 2\pi T_{++}(x_0^+).$$
(5.54)

This shows the local QNEC (5.51) actually saturates (this is not so for the free scalar). This is confirmed by holographic calculations in holographic theories. The saturation of the local QNEC plus SSA gives a proof of the QNEC.

Notice that if we were not interested in second derivatives with respect to x_0^+ for $x_0^+ \to 0$ a whole series expansion in $A(x^+)^{n+2}(\partial_+)^n T_{++}(0)$ would be allowed, and we could actually produce contributions to the single copy operators non-local in the light ray. This is indeed what actually happens, the spike deforms the modular Hamiltonian non locally along the null ray. This is naturally expected. The OPE should live a local contribution of operators, but in this null setup, all the null line is local with respect to the deformation. There could not be operators for $x^+ < x_0^+$ though, because they do not commute with the complement of the region.

5.11 Exercises

- 1.- Using the first law of entanglement compute the correction to the vacuum entropy of a ball of radius *R* in a CFT due to a small temperature $RT \ll 1$. Compare with the result for a thermal state in an interval in d = 2: $S(L) = \frac{c}{3} \log \left(\frac{\beta}{\pi\epsilon} \sinh \left(\frac{\pi L}{\beta}\right)\right)$.
- 2.- Compute the change of the area term due to a mass for a free fermion field in d = 3 using the formula in terms of correlators of the stress tensor traces. You can also compute the entropy directly using the heat kernel, see [53].

5.12 Notes and references

A simple construction of states with negative energy density for any theory can be found in [5]. The paper by Bekenstein is [54]. A nice historical account on Bekenstein bound and its ramifications is the paper by Bousso [55]. The proof of the bound is from [56]. Marolf, Minic and Ross introduced the idea that the change in entanglement entropy was fundamental to understand the bound, especially to deal with the so-called species problem [57].

The first law of EE was introduced in [58, 59]. Its application to derive Einstein equations in holographic theories was developed in [60, 61].

The derivation of the area terms in EE is from [62]. Analogous calculations were done by Rosenhaus and Smolkin [63]. For an holographic proof see [64]. Adler and Zee papers on the renormalization of Newton's constant are [65, 66]. The relation between QFT entanglement and black hole entropy has been much debated. See for example [67] and references therein.

The presentation of monotonicity of modular Hamiltonians from the monotonicity of relative entropy as well as the second version of Bekeinstein bound comes from [68]. Monotonicity of modular Hamiltonians was a result known by mathematicians about modular theory.

The proof of the ANEC is from [69]. An argument not involving modular Hamiltonians has been given [70].

The proof of the semi-classical GSL is from Wall's paper [38]. The generalized second law as well as the Bekenstein bound have a long history. The physical ideas of the proofs in both instances have been previously advanced with different degrees of precision. See for example [57, 71–75].

The local temperatures were introduced and studied in [76, 77].

The quantum focusing conjecture and the QNEC were proposed in [78]. The proof for free fields is in [79], for holographic models [80, 81], and for interacting theories [82, 83].

6. Entanglement and symmetries

In this chapter, we enter more into the details on how algebras are assigned to regions and their mutual relationship. It will turn out that some features in these relations encode symmetries of the theory.

There are models in which the possible assignations of algebras to regions is non-unique. These break two basic properties of the net of algebras: duality and additivity. The models showing these features contain some operators which, though can be assigned to a region, are non locally generated by field operators in the same region. The restitution of duality or additivity cannot be done simultaneously by changing algebra-region assignations within the model. These non locally generated operators are called intertwiners and twists for the case of global symmetries and Wilson or 't Hooft loops for generalized global symmetries of the type that appear in gauge theories.

It is clear from what we have learnt that the UV ambiguities in the EE can be cured by considering relative entropy quantities such as mutual information. But this is not the whole story. For the QFT where the assignation of local algebras to regions is not unique, the different choices are physical possibilities of the continuum QFT and change the universal pieces of the entropy or the mutual information. These issues are behind topological terms in the entropy and the mismatch of the logarithmic coefficient in EE for the Maxwell field with respect to the anomaly coefficient.

This same non-uniqueness allows us to define a relative entropy measuring the statistics of non-local operators. This gives a frame to describe the physics of generalized symmetries and phases in QFT using relative entropy order parameters.

6.1 Harmony of algebras and regions.

In the algebraic approach, a QFT is described by a net of von Neumann algebras. This is an assignation of an operator algebra to causal regions of space-time. The particular QFT model is determined by how the algebras in the net relate to each other and the vacuum state.

In this chapter, in contrast to the preceding ones, we will be less interested in the geometry of Minkowski space, and restrict attention to consider multiple causal regions based on the same Cauchy surface C, that can be taken to be the surface t = 0. These causal regions will have in general non-trivial topologies, whose topological properties are the same as the ones of subregions of C in which they are based. Hence, we will often make no distinction between a d - 1 dimensional subset of C and its causal d-dimensional completion.

The algebras $\mathcal{A}(R)$ attached to regions R satisfy the basic relations of *isotony*

$$\mathcal{A}(R_1) \subseteq \mathcal{A}(R_2), \qquad R_1 \subseteq R_2,$$
(6.1)

and causality,

$$\mathcal{A}(R) \subseteq (\mathcal{A}(R'))', \tag{6.2}$$

where R' is the causal complement of R, i.e. the space-time set of points spatially separated from R, and \mathcal{A}' is the algebra of all operators that commute with those of \mathcal{A} . We always have von Neumann's relation $\mathcal{A}'' = \mathcal{A}$. Causality (6.2) is another way to say that observables based at spatially separated regions must commute.

Some extensions of these relations are expected to hold for sufficiently complete models but are not granted on general grounds. This is exactly what this is all about! For example, (6.2) could be extended to the relation of *duality* (also called Haag's duality)

$$\mathcal{A}(R) = (\mathcal{A}(R'))', \tag{6.3}$$

and we could also expect a form of additivity

$$\mathcal{A}(R_1 \lor R_2) = \mathcal{A}(R_1) \lor \mathcal{A}(R_2), \tag{6.4}$$

where $R_1 \vee R_2 = (R_1 \cup R_2)''$, $\mathcal{A}_1 \vee \mathcal{A}_2 = (\mathcal{A}_1 \cup \mathcal{A}_2)''$ are the smallest causal regions and von Neumann algebras containing R_1, R_2 and $\mathcal{A}_1, \mathcal{A}_2$ respectively. The heuristic meaning of duality is that local algebras contain a maximal set of operators compatible with causality. Additivity is the fact that the algebras of two regions generate the algebra of their union. It is naturally expected when we think the QFT algebras are generated by quantum fields.

When we have the most harmonious relation between algebras and regions and the net satisfies (6.3) and (6.4) for all *R* based on the same Cauchy surface we can call the net *complete*. The main focus of this discussion concerns nets that are not complete in this sense and how this is related to generalized symmetries in the QFT.

The de Morgan laws

$$(\mathcal{A}_1 \lor \mathcal{A}_2)' = \mathcal{A}_1' \cap \mathcal{A}_2', \tag{6.5}$$

$$(R_1 \vee R_2)' = R_1' \cap R_2', \tag{6.6}$$

are universally valid for regions and algebras. From these relations it follows that if we have unrestricted validity of duality (6.3) and additivity (6.4), we have the *intersection property*

$$\mathcal{A}(R_1 \cap R_2) = \mathcal{A}(R_1) \cap \mathcal{A}(R_2). \tag{6.7}$$

Conversely, additivity follows from unrestricted validity of duality and the intersection property. From this perspective, the intersection property is then another aspect of duality and additivity.

It is expected that algebras for topologically trivial regions R, such as a ball, satisfy duality, and that we have additivity for topologically trivial regions whose union is also topologically trivial. This last statement means the algebra of R is generated by the algebras of any collection of balls (of any size) included in R and whose union is all R. This accounts for the idea that the operator content of the theory is formed by local degrees of freedom. The additivity property then can be summarized in that any localized operator of the theory is locally generated (in a topologically trivial space).¹⁰

¹⁰These statements should apply for most theories though there are counterexamples. The orbifold of theories with spontaneously broken global symmetries gives place to examples where balls do not obey duality. This fact does not interfere with our description of global symmetries below. Some generalized free fields are not additive for topological trivial regions. However, this is a problem more related to the absence of a stress tensor (or the so-called time slice axiom) in these theories: In these theories, the algebras are not uniquely associated to causally complete regions (or equivalence classes of pieces of Cauchy surfaces with the same causal completion) but depend on the space-time geometry of the region beyond causality.

However, when the region is topologically non-trivial, whether any operator of a certain algebra $\mathcal{A}(R)$ is locally generated inside *R* itself becomes a more subtle question. We will see in the next section some examples that will show the existence of non locally generated operators in such $\mathcal{A}(R)$ is not an uncommon phenomenon.

Let us be more precise. Given a net, we can always construct an additive algebra for a region R as

$$\mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{add}}(R) = \bigvee_{B \text{ is a ball, } B \subseteq R} \mathcal{A}(B) \,. \tag{6.8}$$

This gives us an algebra that is minimal, in the sense that it contains all operators which must form part of the algebra because they are locally formed in *R*. The assignation of $\mathcal{A}_{add}(R)$ to any *R* gives the minimal possible net and if $\mathcal{A}_{add}(R) \subsetneq \mathcal{A}(R)$ it follows that we can have different nets with the same operator content of the full theory.

On the other hand, in this freedom of choosing the operator content of different regions, the greatest possible algebra of operators that can be assigned to R and still satisfy causality must correspond to a minimal one assigned to R',

$$\mathcal{A}_{\max}(R) = (\mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{add}}(R'))'. \tag{6.9}$$

Evidently if $\mathcal{A}_{add}(R) \subsetneq \mathcal{A}_{max}(R)$ it follows that the additive net does not satisfy duality. In this situation, one can enlarge the additive net by adding non locally generated operators, to generate a net satisfying duality (6.3). In general, this may be done in multiple ways. By construction, these nets satisfy duality

$$\mathcal{A}(R) = (\mathcal{A}(R'))', \tag{6.10}$$

but in general, will not satisfy additivity. Therefore there is a tension between duality and additivity which cannot be resolved in these incomplete theories.

All these algebraic features have consequences on the EE. If the net does not satisfy duality we cannot expect the equality of entropies for complementary regions S(R) = S(R') to hold. This equality holds for pure states for complementary algebras, and as the algebras of R and R' are not complementary the entropies will be generally different. If we have two different possible algebras for the same region, there will be more than one possible entropy for the same region too.

To be more concrete, let us call $a \in \mathcal{A}_{max}(R)$ to a collection of non locally generated operators in *R* such that

$$\mathcal{A}_{\max}(R) = (\mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{add}}(R'))' = \mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{add}}(R) \lor \{a\}.$$
(6.11)

In the same way we have operators $b \in \mathcal{R}_{max}(R')$ non locally generated in R' such that

$$\mathcal{A}_{\max}(R') = (\mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{add}}(R))' = \mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{add}}(R') \lor \{b\}.$$
(6.12)

Evidently, the *dual* sets of operators $\{a\}$ and $\{b\}$ cannot commute to each other. Otherwise it would be $\mathcal{A}_{\max}(R) \subseteq (\mathcal{A}_{\max}(R'))' = \mathcal{A}_{add}(R)$ and these operators would be locally generated. Given the existence of non locally generated operators *a* in *R*, the necessity of the existence of dual complementary sets of non locally generated operators *b* in *R'* is due to the fact that for two different algebra choices $\mathcal{A}_{1,2}$ for *R* there are two different choices $\mathcal{A}'_{1,2}$ associated to *R'*. The latter cannot coincide because of von Neumann's relation $\mathcal{A}'' = \mathcal{A}$.

In constructing nets $\mathcal{A}(R)$ we have to resign some operators from either $\mathcal{A}_{\max}(R)$ or $\mathcal{A}_{\max}(R')$ since, because of causality, we cannot take all possible ones both for R and R'. In particular, a possible choice is $\mathcal{A}_{\max}(R)$ for R and $\mathcal{A}_{add}(R')$ for R' or vice-versa, and usually there are some intermediate choices. If the topologies of R and R' are the same, both of these choices are not very natural and may break some spatial symmetries.¹¹

An important remark is that even if some non locally generated operator is excluded from the algebra of R it does not mean this operator does not exist in the theory. All non locally generated operators that could be assigned to R are always formed locally in a ball containing R and thus its existence cannot be avoided. They will always belong to the algebra of this ball. The sets $\{a\}$ and $\{b\}$ form complementary sets of observables based on complementary regions. This does not violate causality because to construct $\{a\}$ in a laboratory from microscopic operators we need to have access to a ball including R which non trivially intersects R'.

The multiplication of non local operators by additive ones cannot change the non local nature of the operator. Therefore non local operators can be grouped into equivalence classes [a] under the action of the additive operators. Because the algebras are closed under multiplication the classes have to close a fusion algebra between themselves $[a][a'] = \sum_{a}^{"} n_{aa'}^{a"}[a'']$. The same will happen with the complementary operators $[b][b'] = \sum_{b''} \tilde{n}_{bb'}^{b''}[b'']$. These dual fusion rules are sometimes associated with groups representations or their conjugacy classes. In fact, this structure is directly linked to the *symmetries* involved in the model.

The particular topology of *R* where the additivity or duality fail may restrict the type of symmetry involved. Global symmetries (in the orbifold theory — see below) give algebra-region "problems" when some of the homotopy groups $\pi_0(R)$ or $\pi_{d-2}(R)$ are non-trivial. The case of ordinary gauge symmetries might give problems for regions with non-trivial $\pi_1(R)$ or $\pi_{d-3}(R)$. Higher homotopy groups correspond to the case of gauge symmetries for higher forms gauge fields.

6.2 Example: a chiral free scalar.

A simple example where these features appear is a free chiral scalar field in d = 2. For this model, we can make an exact computation of the EE too. This model is the derivative of a free massless scalar $j(x^+) = \partial_+ \phi$ (the full massless scalar in d = 2 is not a well defined QFT). The field only depends on the null coordinate x^+ , which is an operator in a line. We will suppress the + index in what follows. The model is conformal invariant too. It is Gaussian with Hamiltonian and commutation relations

$$H = \frac{1}{2} \int dx \, j(x)^2, \quad [j(x), j(y)] = i\delta'(x - y).$$
(6.13)

This defines the theory completely.

Consider the case of a general CFT on a line, and the case of a region topologically non-trivial: the simplest case is two intervals. We can compactify the theory in a circle as shown in figure 26. This is equivalent to the line after a conformal transformation. In the circle we have four intervals I_1, I_2, I_3, I_4 . Assume we have Haag duality for two intervals. The entropies will satisfy

$$S(I_1 \cup I_3) = S(I_2 \cup I_4).$$
(6.14)

¹¹When referring to the topology of an infinite region, i.e. the complement of a bounded one, we will assume the space is compactified in a sphere.



Figure 26: Left panel: Intervals in a circle. The region $R = I_1 \cup I_3$ and its complement $R' = I_2 \cup I_4$. Right panel: Cross ratio η for four ordered points a_1, b_1, a_2, b_2 .

From that, adding single interval entropies we get

$$I(I_1, I_3) = I(I_2, I_4) + S(I_1) + S(I_3) - S(I_4) - S(I_2).$$
(6.15)

A conformal invariant quantity depending on four points a_1, b_1, a_2, b_2 (here the end points of the two intervals) on the line must be a function of a single number, the cross ratio, formed out of the coordinates of the four points as

$$\eta = \frac{(b_1 - a_1)(b_2 - a_2)}{(a_2 - a_1)(b_2 - b_1)} \in (0, 1).$$
(6.16)

The mutual information is then a function of the cross-ratio and we write it for convenience as

$$I(\eta) = -\frac{c}{3}\log(1-\eta) + U(\eta),$$
(6.17)

with c the central charge. This explicitly extracts the logarithmic divergence in the case of two intervals touching each other.

If the cross ratio of I_1I_3 is η the one of I_2I_4 is $1 - \eta$. Using this in eq (6.15), and the single interval entropies $S(r) = c/3 \log(r)$, we get

$$I(\eta) = I(1-\eta) - \frac{c}{3}\log(\frac{1-\eta}{\eta}) \leftrightarrow U(\eta) = U(1-\eta).$$
(6.18)

This symmetry of $U(\eta)$ expresses Haag duality for two intervals in a regularization independent way.

For the chiral scalar we have to use c = 1/2 (has c = 1 for only one chirality). The function $U(\eta)$ can be computed exactly in this model. It has a complicated expression

$$U(\eta) = -\frac{i\pi}{2} \int_0^\infty ds \frac{s}{\sinh^2(\pi s)} \log\left(\frac{{}_2F_1(1+is,-is,1,\eta)}{{}_2F_1(1-is,is,1,\eta)}\right),$$
(6.19)

which is shown in figure 27. This is not symmetric. We then conclude for this model

$$S(I_1 \cup I_3) \neq S(I_2 \cup I_4)$$
. (6.20)



Figure 27: The function $U(\eta)$ for a chiral scalar.

Why is this happening? This shows there is a violation of Haag duality for two intervals. The reason is easy to figure out. In computing the mutual information and the entropies in (6.20) we have used the additive algebras, generated by the operators $\partial \phi(x)$ with x in each of the two intervals. This must be so because in the mutual information the algebra of the two intervals must be the tensor product of the algebras of single intervals. However, for each two-interval, there is still another operator we can assign to it. If $x_1 \in I_1$ and $x_3 \in I_3$ we have the operator

$$O_{13} = \phi(x_1) - \phi(x_3) = \int_{x_1}^{x_3} dx \,\partial_x \phi(x), \tag{6.21}$$

or a smeared version of it. It is clear that O_{13} commutes with all operators additively generated in I_2 , I_4 . It also belongs to the full model because is a linear combination of $\partial_x \phi(x)$. However, it does not belong to the additive algebra of I_1 , I_3 because to construct it we needed operators $\partial \phi(x)$ outside these two intervals (see (6.21) and notice a single $\phi(x)$ is not a well-defined operator). This is an example of non locally generated operator in the two intervals. There is an analogous non-local operator O_{24} for the intervals I_2 , I_4 . These two operators do not commute. From (6.13) we get

$$[O_{13}, O_{24}] = i, (6.22)$$

independently of the smeared function, we could have used to define the operators. The structure of the algebras is summarized by

$$(\mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{add}}(I_1I_3))' = (\mathcal{A}(I_1) \lor \mathcal{A}(I_3))' = \mathcal{A}(I_2) \lor \mathcal{A}(I_4) \lor O_{24} = \mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{add}}(I_2I_4) \lor O_{24}, \tag{6.23}$$

$$(\mathcal{A}_{add}(I_2I_4))' = (\mathcal{A}(I_2) \lor \mathcal{A}(I_4))' = \mathcal{A}(I_1) \lor \mathcal{A}(I_3) \lor O_{13} = \mathcal{A}_{add}(I_1I_3) \lor O_{13}.$$
(6.24)

There is a different way to look at this problem that is very enlightening. The chiral scalar is in fact a subalgebra of the chiral free massless fermion. The fermion theory is complete, it does not have any algebra-region problems. The mutual information for the fermion is

$$I(\eta) = -\frac{c}{3}\log(1-\eta),$$
(6.25)

with $U(\eta) = U(1 - \eta) = 0$, so there is no problem with Haag duality. The chiral scalar $\partial \phi(x) = j(x)$ is equivalent to the subalgebra generated by the electric current $j(x) = \psi^{\dagger} \psi$ of the fermion. These



Figure 28: A region formed by two disjoint balls R_1 and R_2 (blue region) containing the intertwiner formed by a charge-anticharge operator. In the complement *S* of the two balls, which has a non contractible d - 2 dimensional surface, lives the twist operator.

two operators have exactly the same *n*-point functions, a relation that is called bosonization. It is special of d = 2 (notice the surprising fact that a bilinear of a fermion satisfies the bosonic Wick's theorem of a free scalar). Since the chiral scalar is a subalgebra of the fermion, its mutual information has to be smaller, and $U(\eta) \le 0$ in (6.17). The algebra of the current (or the chiral scalar) is exactly formed by the operators of the fermion algebra that are invariant under charge transformations $\psi(x) \rightarrow e^{i\alpha}\psi(x)$. So there is a U(1) symmetry in the fermion such that the *orbifold*, the part of the algebra invariant under the symmetry, is the scalar. This is one of the generic ways in which algebra-region problems might appear. If there is a theory with a global symmetry, there is another one with algebra region problems associated with it.

6.3 Global symmetries: Regions with non trivial π_0 or π_{d-2} .

The main features shown in the example above can be formalized in general for the case of global symmetries. We consider the subalgebra O of a theory \mathcal{F} , consisting of operators invariant under a global symmetry group G acting on \mathcal{F} . The theory $O = \mathcal{F}/G$ is called an orbifold. The orbifold can always be constructed when there is a global symmetry and is not a merely academic construction. When there is global symmetry the algebra O is the one accessible to local observers: one cannot have in a laboratory an operator that changes, say, the baryon number.

The regions *R* with non trivial homotopy group $\pi_0(R)$, that is, disconnected regions, and their complements, are the relevant ones here. The complement *R'* will have non trivial $\pi_{d-2}(R')$. The simplest example is two disjoint balls R_1 , R_2 , and its complement $S = (R_1 \cup R_2)'$, which is topologically a "shell" with the topology of $S^{d-2} \times R$.

Let $\psi_1^{i,r}$, $\psi_2^{i,r}$ be charge creating operators in R_1, R_2 in the theory \mathcal{F} , corresponding to the irreducible representation *r*, and where *i* is an index of the representation. The *intertwiner* corresponding to this representation

$$I_r = \sum_{i} \psi_1^{i,r} (\psi_2^{i,r})^{\dagger}$$
(6.26)

is invariant under global group transformations and belongs to the neutral theory O. See figure 28. It commutes with operators in $O_{add}(S)$ but cannot be generated additively by operators in $O(R_1)$ and $O(R_2)$ since the charged operators $\psi^{i,r}$ belong to the field algebra \mathcal{F} but not to O.

In a dual way, there are *twist* operators τ_g implementing the group operations in R_1 and acting trivially in R_2 . These commute with $O(R_1)$ and $O(R_2)$, that is, uncharged operators in R_1 or R_2 , but do not commute with the intertwiners, which have charged operators in R_1 . The twists can be chosen to satisfy the group operations

$$\tau_g \tau_h = \tau_{gh}, \qquad U(g)\tau_h U(g)^{-1} = \tau_{ghg^{-1}}, \qquad (6.27)$$

where U(g) is the global symmetry operation. For a non-Abelian group, the twists are not invariant. The combinations of twist operators invariant under the global group

$$\tau_c = \sum_{h \in c} \tau_h \tag{6.28}$$

are labelled by conjugacy classes of the group, $gcg^{-1} = c$. These operators belong to the neutral algebra O. Hence, if the full model \mathcal{F} including charge creating operators satisfy duality and additivity, this is not the case of the neutral model O. We have

$$(O_{add}(R_1R_2))' = O_{add}(S) \lor \{\tau_c\},$$
(6.29)

$$(O_{\text{add}}(S))' = O_{\text{add}}(R_1 R_2) \lor \{I_r\}.$$
(6.30)

This shows explicitly that, retaining additivity, duality fails for the two-component region R_1R_2 and its complement S. The reason is the existence in the model of operators (twists and intertwiners) in these regions, which cannot be additively generated inside the same regions by operators localized in small balls. However, the intertwiners and twists can be generated additively in O but in bigger regions with trivial topology.

For finite groups, the number of independent twists coincides with the number of intertwiners. This is because the number n_C of conjugacy classes of the group is equal to the number of irreducible representations. For Lie groups, we have an infinite number of irreducible representations, but the same occurs for conjugacy classes.

We can choose the intertwiners to satisfy a closed algebra. We get the fusion algebra

$$I_{r_1}I_{r_2} = \sum_{r_3} n_{r_1r_2}^{r_3}I_{r_3}, \qquad I_{\bar{r}} = (I_r)^{\dagger}, \qquad I_1 = 1, \qquad (6.31)$$

where \bar{r} is the representation conjugate to r, and $n_{r_1r_2}^{r_3}$ are the fusion matrices of the group representations,

$$[r_1] \otimes [r_1] = \bigoplus_{r_3} n_{r_1 r_2}^{r_3} [r_3], \tag{6.32}$$

giving the number of irreducible representations of type r_3 in the decomposition of the tensor product of r_1 and r_2 . Because $n_{r_1r_2}^{r_3} = n_{r_2r_1}^{r_3}$ the algebra (6.31) is Abelian. The same can be said of the algebra of the twists. From (6.27) we get

$$\tau_{c_1}\tau_{c_2} = \sum_{c_3} m_{c_1c_2}^{c_3}\tau_{c_3}, \qquad (6.33)$$

with $m_{c_1c_2}^{c_3}$ the fusion coefficients of the conjugacy classes.

The two Abelian algebras of twists and intertwiners do not commute with each other. For finite groups, it can be shown they can be embedded in the non-Abelian matrix algebra of $|G| \times |G|$



Figure 29: A ring like region with a non breakable Wilson loop *a*, and its complement with a linked 't Hooft loop *b*.

matrices. A similar embedding works for Lie groups but the embedding algebra needs to be infinite-dimensional. For Abelian symmetry groups, the commutation relations take a very simple form

$$\tau_g I_r = \chi_r(g) I_r \tau_g, \tag{6.34}$$

where $\chi_r(g)$ is the group character.

6.4 Generalized global symmetries for gauge theories

Another candidate for giving us trouble in the algebra region relations are gauge symmetries. It will turn out that in this case the problems are for regions with non-trivial π_1 or π_{d-3} homotopy groups, that is, regions with non-contractible loops or d-3 dimensional spheres.

Let us consider first a free Maxwell field in d = 4. This is the Gaussian theory of the electric and magnetic fields, with equal time commutation relations

$$[E^{i}(\vec{x}), B^{j}(\vec{y})] = i\varepsilon^{ijk} \partial_{k}\delta^{3}(\vec{x} - \vec{y}).$$
(6.35)

Equivalently, the theory can be described by the normal oriented electric and magnetic fluxes Φ_E , Φ_B on two-dimensional surfaces with boundaries Γ_E and Γ_B . For such fluxes we have a commutator which is topological, it is proportional to the linking number of Γ_E and Γ_B ,

$$[\Phi_E, \Phi_B] = \frac{i}{4\pi} \int_{\Gamma_E} \int_{\Gamma_B} \frac{\vec{x}_1 - \vec{x}_2}{|\vec{x}_1 - \vec{x}_2|^3} \, d\vec{x}_1 \times d\vec{x}_2 \,. \tag{6.36}$$

We will assume these fluxes to be smeared over positions of Γ_E and Γ_B such that the flux operators are well defined (and not operator-valued distributions). The smearing region for Γ_E and Γ_B lies inside a region with the topology of a ring *R* and its complement *R'* respectively. In *d* = 4 the topology of *R'* is the same as the topology of *R*. It is $S^1 \times R^2$ and has non-trivial $\pi_1(R)$.

Because $\nabla E = \nabla B = 0$ the fluxes are conserved, and then the surface over which they are computed can be deformed keeping the boundary fixed. By deforming the surface of the flux we can take it away from some local operator lying in the original surface, and this implies that the fluxes will commute with the locally generated operators associated with the complementary ring.

We can write a bounded electric flux operator ('t Hooft loop) $T^g = e^{ig\Phi_E}$, and a magnetic operator (Wilson loop) $W^e = e^{iq\Phi_B}$, for any g, q. See figure 29. The commutation relations for these operators in simple linked loops follows from (6.36)

$$T^{g}W^{q} = e^{i\,q\,g}\,W^{q}T^{g}\,. ag{6.37}$$

This non-commutativity implies these operators cannot be locally generated in the ring in which they are based. For example, if T^g were locally generated in R (where its boundary lies) this would imply, by the arguments given above, it necessarily commutes with W^q based on the complementary ring. But this is not possible according to (6.37).

Therefore, the algebra of a ring *R* and its complement R' cannot be taken additive without violating duality because the commutant of the additive algebra of the ring contains both the electric and magnetic loops (for d = 4) of any charge based on R', and this is not additive. We have

$$\mathcal{A}_{\max}(R') \equiv (\mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{add}}(R))' = (\mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{add}}(R')) \lor \{W_{R'}^q T_{R'}^g\}_{q,g \in \mathbf{R}}, \tag{6.38}$$

and analogously interchanging $R \leftrightarrow R'$. Here we have written $W_{R'}^q, T_{R'}^g$ for Wilson and 't Hooft loops based on R'.

One can repair duality at the expense of additivity by defining the algebras for rings to contain, on top of locally generated operators, some particular non locally generated ones that commute with other selected non locally generated operators in the complement. A natural condition is to select operators with electric and magnetic charges (q, g), which are the same for any ring, such that our choice does not ruin translation and rotation invariance. Given two *dyons* (q, g), (q', g') in the same ring, the one formed by their product, (q + q', g + g'), and the conjugate (-q, -g), should also be present to close an algebra. Therefore the set of all dyons should be an additive subgroup of the plane, giving a lattice

$$(q,g) = n(q_1,g_1) + m(q_2,g_2), \tag{6.39}$$

where $n, m \in Z$, and (q_1, g_1) and (q_2, g_2) are the generating vectors of the lattice. Locality between what it would be a "dyon" (q, g) in R and another one (\tilde{q}, \tilde{g}) in R' (i.e. the vanishing of the phase in (6.37)) gives the Dirac quantization condition. If we want to construct a net that satisfies duality we need to take a maximal set of charges that satisfy the Dirac quantization condition. This forces us to choose

$$q_1 g_2 - g_1 q_2 = 2\pi . (6.40)$$

The nets constructed in this way will satisfy duality but of course, they are not additive.

Additivity can be recovered if we couple the theory to charged fields. For example, if we have a field ψ of electric charge *e* we can now consider Wilson line operators of the form

$$\psi(x)e^{iq\int_x^y dx^\mu A_\mu}\psi^{\dagger}(y). \tag{6.41}$$

Taking products of consecutive Wilson lines, and allowing for fusion (or the OPE) of the fields with the opposite charge at the extremes of the lines we want to join, the Wilson loop W^q in R (with the specific charge q), becomes an operator in the additive algebra of R. In the same way, if we have magnetic charges g, T^g corresponding to this charge should be additive in R, and with a dyon (q, g)we can break the operators $T^g W^q$. For the theory to still satisfy locality the charges have to satisfy the Dirac quantization condition. This is now converted into the Dirac quantization condition for the charges. As mentioned before, this condition is seen here as a consequence of causality in the net of algebras for the theory without charges. In this way, by adding a full set of charged fields with charges corresponding to a net with duality property, we can make the theory "complete", in the sense of both satisfying duality and additivity. But of course, it is now a different model. If we do not add charged operators for a full lattice, for example, if there are quantized electric charges and no monopoles, there will still be some problems of algebras and regions.

In presence of charged fields, the flux operators $T^g W^q$ continue to exist even if (q, g) does not belong to the lattice. But they now depend on a surface rather than a closed curve, since $\nabla E = \nabla B = 0$ is modified, and the fluxes on a surface cannot be deformed to another surface with the same boundary. Then, in this case, the operator belongs to a topologically trivial region and cannot be associated with a ring.

Consider now the case of non-Abelian Lie groups. We could have expected the algebras of non-local operators would be more complicated in this case. But they actually turn out to be simpler. Let us start with the Wilson loops. These are defined for each representation r of the gauge group as

$$W_r \equiv \operatorname{tr}_r \mathcal{P} \, e^{i \, \oint_C \, dx^\mu A^r_\mu} \,, \tag{6.42}$$

where *C* is a loop in space-time and \mathcal{P} the path ordering.

We now want to find whether Wilson loops are additive or not. A Wilson loop of representation r could be certainly broken into pieces if there are charged fields ϕ_r transforming in representation r because with these charged fields we can construct Wilson lines to break the loop. Even if we are considering pure gauge theories without charges, we cannot escape the fact that, for non-Abelian gauge fields, the gluons are charged themselves. They are charged under the adjoint representation. Indeed, we can form the following Wilson line, terminated by curvatures,

$$F_{\mu\nu}(x) P e^{i \int_x^y dx^\sigma A_\sigma} F_{\alpha\beta}(y), \qquad (6.43)$$

where all fields are in the adjoint representation of the Lie algebra. Then, a loop in the adjoint representation can be generated locally by multiplying several of these lines along a loop. Since the adjoint Wilson loop is locally generated, the same can be said for all representations generated in the fusion of an arbitrary number of adjoint representations. Therefore, the truly non-local Wilson loops, those violating Haag duality, are labelled by the equivalence classes arising when we quotient the set of irreducible representations by the set of representations generated from the adjoint. This is equivalent to the representations of the centre Z of the gauge group. The centre is of course an Abelian group. For example for SU(2) it is just Z_2 , formed by the identity and the 2π rotation which is -1. The adjoint representation has spin 1 and generates all representations of integer spin. The fundamental representation is a representative of the unique class of unbreakable loops (composed by all representations with half-integer spin). For SU(n) the center is Z_n .

In the same manner, there should be a dual operator lying in the complementary ring that does not commute with these non-local Wilson loops. These are called 't Hooft loops and are labelled by the elements of the centre Z itself. They are singular gauge transformations corresponding to these elements of the centre across a surface bounded by the loop.

In general, it can be shown that the algebra of non-local operators for these topologies always form Abelian groups in $d \ge 4$. In a field theory language, these Abelian groups form what is called generalized symmetries. The commutation relations for non-local operators are

$$T^z W^r = \chi_r(z) W^r T^z, \tag{6.44}$$

where z is an element of the centre Z of the gauge group, r a representation of Z, and $\chi_r(z)$ is the representation character.

As we see the groups of these symmetries are small. Being gauge redundancies that do not affect the states, all other non-Abelian symmetries do not give place to physical symmetries at all. These generalized symmetries disappear if we couple the gauge field to charges in fundamental representations.

6.5 Entropic order parameters

We have seen that some QFT can have more than one algebra choice for the same region, i.e. \mathcal{A}_{add} and \mathcal{A}_{max} , with or without the non-local operators. It is then natural to look for an entropic quantity that takes into account this multiplicity. In particular, it will give a statistical measure on the non-local operators.

The simplest idea would be to subtract the entropies of the two algebras for the same region R. However, this turns out to have some ambiguities because we are evaluating entropies in different algebras. To produce a well-defined quantity we need to introduce the concept of a conditional expectation.

A conditional expectation is a linear map $\varepsilon : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{N}$, from an algebra to a subalgebra, $\mathcal{N} \subset \mathcal{M}$, that is positive (maps positive operators into positive operators), and carries the unit into the unit, leaving the target algebra invariant. Another defining property is

$$\varepsilon(n_1 m n_2) = n_1 \varepsilon(m) n_2, \quad \forall m \in \mathcal{M}, \, \forall n_1, n_2 \in \mathcal{N}.$$
(6.45)

These maps are the mathematical definition of what a coarse-graining our observables means. Examples are tracing out part of the system

$$\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{N} \otimes \mathcal{O} \qquad \varepsilon(n \otimes \mathcal{O}) \equiv \frac{\operatorname{tr}(\mathcal{O})}{d_{\mathcal{O}}} n \otimes 1_{\mathcal{O}},$$
 (6.46)

or retaining the neutral part of a subalgebra under the action of a certain symmetry group

$$m \in \mathcal{M}, \quad \varepsilon(m) \equiv \frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{g} \tau_g \, m \, \tau_g^{-1} \in \mathcal{N} \,.$$
 (6.47)

Here the importance of these maps is that they allow lifting states from the subalgebra to the algebra: if ω is a state in \mathcal{N} , $\omega \circ \varepsilon$ is a state in \mathcal{M} .

In general, there can be several conditional expectations between an algebra and a subalgebra. However, when \mathcal{N} does not have a centre, and $\mathcal{N}' \cap \mathcal{M}$ is trivial, there is only one conditional expectation. This is expected to be the case in the QFT algebras \mathcal{A}_{add} and \mathcal{A}_{max} we are interested in. Therefore, there is only one conditional expectation. This may be implemented by the dual non-local operators. For example, for the case of two balls and a global symmetry, the conditional expectation (6.47), where the elements of the group are the twists, produces the unique conditional expectation.

We have two algebras and the vacuum in both of them. We can use the conditional expectation to produce a state in the big algebra from the vacuum in the smaller one. In this way, we get two states for the big algebra and can compute a relative entropy. We define the entropic parameters in the following manner. If the algebra of the non additive operators a lives in a certain region R, this provides us with a natural inclusion of algebras

$$\mathcal{A}_{add}(R) \subseteq \mathcal{A}_{add}(R) \lor \{a\} = \mathcal{A}_{max}(R), \qquad (6.48)$$

and the associated conditional expectation $\varepsilon : \mathcal{A}_{\max}(R) \to \mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{add}}(R)$. This leads to the following entropic order parameter

$$S_{\mathcal{A}_{\max}(R)}(\omega \mid \omega \circ \varepsilon). \tag{6.49}$$

A parallel story works for the disorder parameters b. We remind they live in the complementary region R', and they provide us with the following inclusion of algebras

$$\mathcal{A}_{\text{add}}(R') \subseteq \mathcal{A}_{\text{add}}(R') \lor \{b\} = \mathcal{A}_{\max}(R'), \qquad (6.50)$$

a conditional expectation ε' , and the following dual entropic order parameter

$$S_{\mathcal{A}_{\max}(R')}(\omega \mid \omega \circ \varepsilon'). \tag{6.51}$$

Notice that a conditional expectation $\varepsilon(a) = \delta_{a,1}$ eliminates all non local operators. Therefore, the state $\omega \circ \varepsilon$ automatically gives zero expectation values for these operators. The relative entropies above are therefore measures of distinguishability between the vacuum and another state that is similar to the vacuum except that it kills non-local operators. As the vacuum expectation values of the non-local operators grow larger, the larger the relative entropy will be.

If we have an Abelian group, it can be shown that

$$S_{\mathcal{A}_{\max}}(\omega|\omega\circ\varepsilon) = S_{\mathcal{A}_{\max}}(\omega\circ E) - S_{\mathcal{A}_{\max}}(\omega).$$
(6.52)

This particular difference of entropies is well defined in the continuum even though the entropies are not. Eq. (6.52) shows that the difference of entropies is monotonous. Note that it is the difference of entropies between two states in the same algebra and not the entropies of two different subalgebras. This latter quantity depends on the regularization.

6.6 The certainty and uncertainty relations

We have seen entropic order parameters can be defined both for operators such as intertwiners and Wilson loops and for the dual ones, such as twists and 't Hooft loops. It turns out that both are related through an entropic certainty relation we now introduce.

We have the following diagram of algebras and conditional expectations

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{add}}(R) \lor \{a\} & \stackrel{\mathcal{E}}{\longrightarrow} & \mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{add}}(R) \\ & \uparrow & \uparrow & \uparrow & \\ \mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{add}}(R') & \stackrel{\mathcal{E'}}{\longleftarrow} & \mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{add}}(R') \lor \{b\} \,. \end{aligned}$$

$$(6.53)$$

The vertical lines connect commutant algebras, while the horizontal lines are connected by a conditional expectation that maps an algebra to a subalgebra. In this situation, one can show the relevant relative entropies are related by the following identity called the certainty relation, valid for pure global states ω ,

$$S_{\mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{add}}(R)\vee\{a\}}(\omega|\omega\circ\varepsilon) + S_{\mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{add}}(R')\vee\{b\}}(\omega|\omega\circ\varepsilon') = \log|G|.$$
(6.54)

In a general complementarity diagram like (6.53) |G| is called the index of the conditional expectations. In the case we are interested here where the underlying algebra of the non-local operators come from a group, this index is simply the number of elements in the group. The certainty relation is a cousin of the equality of entropies for commutant algebras and applies to pure states too. However, it applies to complementary algebras here where the two sets of non-local operators do not commute to each other. Interestingly, each relative entropy measures the statistics of one set of non-local operators. This relation shows they are not independent when the whole algebra of local operators in the regions are also considered.

From this expression and the positivity of relative entropy, we obtain the individual bounds

$$S_{\mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{add}}(R) \vee \{a\}}(\omega | \omega \circ \varepsilon) \le \log |G|, \qquad S_{\mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{add}}(R') \vee \{b\}}(\omega | \omega \circ \varepsilon') \le \log |G|$$

Other bounds can be obtained using the monotonicity of relative entropy. For example, if we know the expectation values on subalgebras of non-local operators that close in themselves, we can estimate the relative entropy using the upper and lower bounds

$$S_{\{a\}}(\omega|\omega\circ\varepsilon) \le S_{\mathcal{A}_{add}(R)\vee\{a\}}(\omega|\omega\circ\varepsilon) \le \log|G| - S_{\{b\}}(\omega|\omega\circ\varepsilon') . \tag{6.55}$$

Restricting to these algebras we have an entropic uncertainty relation

$$S_{\{a\}}(\omega|\omega\circ\varepsilon) + S_{\{b\}}(\omega|\omega\circ\varepsilon') \le \log|G|.$$
(6.56)

This is an entropic version of the ordinary uncertainty relations satisfied by the expectation values of non-commuting operators like a, b. It tells that expectation values of a and b cannot saturate to the maximal values simultaneously. in that case, each of the relative entropies would be $\log G$, violating the bound.

The way the certainty relation is realized is easily guessed in certain limits. If the expectation values of the a operators tend to zero, for example when the region R is very thin, the state with and without the conditional expectation will not be easily distinguished, and the order parameter goes to zero,

$$S_{\mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{add}}(R)\vee\{a\}}(\omega|\omega\circ\varepsilon)\to 0, \qquad S_{\mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{add}}(R')\vee\{b\}}(\omega|\omega\circ\varepsilon')\to \log|G|. \tag{6.57}$$

Analogously, when the expectation values of *b* tend to zero we have

$$S_{\mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{add}}(R)\vee\{a\}}(\omega|\omega\circ\varepsilon)\to \log|G|, \qquad S_{\mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{add}}(R')\vee\{b\}}(\omega|\omega\circ\varepsilon')\to 0.$$
(6.58)

Summarizing, symmetries and generalized symmetries are associated with algebra-region problems. Order parameters for these symmetries are then naturally suggested from the fact that two different states can be produced out of the vacuum for the same algebra. The relative entropy between these states further satisfies a surprising relation that ties the statistics of complementary dual non-local operators.

6.7 Topological contributions to the entropy and the density of charged states

Let us now focus on the case of global symmetries. There is a breaking of Haag duality in a pair of disconnected regions due to the existence of certain intertwiners (6.26). These are neutral operators formed by a charged operator in one connected component and a compensatory anti-charge operator in the other. There is one intertwiner per irreducible representation. In the complementary region, which has the topology of a spherical shell, there is also a breaking of duality due to the existence of twists operators (6.27), representing the symmetry group locally. The twists do not commute with the intertwiners (6.34).

We take two disconnected regions R_1 and R_2 and their complement, the "shell" $S = (R_1R_2)'$. As described above, there are two choices for the algebra of R_1R_2 , namely, the additive algebra $O_{R_1R_2}$ or, alternatively, the additive algebra plus the intertwiners $O_{R_1R_1} \vee I$. Similarly, we have two algebras for S, the additive one O_S and the additive one plus the intertwiners $O_S \vee \tau$. We have two relevant relative entropies $S_{O_{R_1R_2} \vee I} (\omega | \omega \circ E_I)$ and $S_{O_S \vee \tau} (\omega | \omega \circ E_\tau)$, which add up to $\log |G|$, if the state is pure.

In this case, we have at our disposal the theory \mathcal{F} containing charged operators too. Using this other theory we can write the relative entropy in another useful form. To do that we have to introduce another entropy property. This is called the conditional expectation property. For a general conditional expectation $\varepsilon : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{N}$, and for a state ω of \mathcal{M} and a state ϕ on \mathcal{N} , we have,

$$S_{\mathcal{M}}(\omega|\phi\circ\varepsilon) = S_{\mathcal{N}}(\omega|\phi) + S_{\mathcal{M}}(\omega|\omega\circ\varepsilon).$$
(6.59)

In particular, when ω is invariant under ε we get

$$S_{\mathcal{M}}(\omega|\phi\circ\varepsilon) = S_{\mathcal{M}}(\omega\circ\varepsilon|\phi\circ\varepsilon) = S_{\mathcal{N}}(\omega|\phi).$$
(6.60)

We apply these formulas to the additive algebras \mathcal{F}_{12} and O_{12} corresponding to the region R_1R_2 , and the states ω and $\omega_1 \otimes \omega_2$. Assuming the state ω is invariant under the global symmetries we get

$$S_{O_{R_1R_2} \vee I}(\omega | \omega \circ E_I) = S_{\mathcal{F}_{12}}(\omega | \omega \circ E_I) = I_{\mathcal{F}}(R_1, R_2) - I_O(R_1, R_2).$$
(6.61)

The first equation follows from (6.60), where the conditional expectation generated by the global symmetry group is used. On the other hand, to obtain the second equation one has to use the conditional expectation property with the conditional expectation generated by the twists.

On the right-hand side of (6.61) we have the difference between the mutual information on the two models. This formula tells that this mutual information difference, which is naturally positive by the inclusion of algebras, is also monotonic, and is equal to a relative entropy.

This formula can be used to understand how the regularized entropies of the two models differ (see section 3.4). For that, we have to take the special limit in which R_2 is the complement of R_1 , except for a thin regularization region *S* in between. In this case $S_{O_{R_1R_2} \vee I}(\omega | \omega \circ E_I)$ can be understood as (twice) the difference between regularized entropies between the model with charges \mathcal{F} and the orbifold *O*.

What happens in that limit is not difficult to understand. Whenever R_1 and R_2 touch each other (even in a small region of the boundary) we can place intertwiners very near the boundary such that



Figure 30: Complementary regions *A* and *B* with many boundaries in common (here $n_{\partial} = 4$). There is an independent twist seated on each of the boundaries.

their expectation values are maximal. The twist, on the other hand, has to live in a very thin region, and its expectation value goes to zero. In consequence, in this limit, we have

$$\Delta I = \log |G| \,. \tag{6.62}$$

This is rather surprising in a certain way. Let us consider the case in which the fields are very massive. In that case, the mutual information will be almost zero when the regions are separated by a distance larger than the gap scale m^{-1} . However, when the distance between them crosses this scale, mutual information (both of them) rapidly acquires non zero value and the difference saturate to log |G|. In odd spacetime dimensions, the difference of mutual information represents the difference of the universal constant terms F in the regularized entropy. Then, this sudden change of value with the cutoff contradicts the idea that deep in the infrared the contributions from high energy physics should be local on the boundary of the region. As we have discussed in chapter 3, short-distance contributions which are local on the boundary cannot change the constant term. Then, we conclude there must be non-local contributions along the boundary when the cutoff reaches the gap scale.

This new feature comes from the orbifold. This contains a non-local operator, the twist, seated in the shell (the entropy of the two balls in the orbifold is equal to the one of the shell with the twist by $S(\mathcal{A}) = S(\mathcal{A}')$). The expectation value of a smeared twist changes from 1 to 0 as we cross the gap scale, independently of the size of the sphere. This changes non locally the high energy contribution to the entropy. The non-locality comes from the constraint of zero charge in the orbifold model. A simple example is a massive free fermion in d = 3, where the symmetry is the fermionic symmetry $\psi \rightarrow -\psi$. This model has F = 0. But the orbifold has $F = \log(2)/2$ (computed as half of the mutual information regularization). This is a negative contribution to the entropy, which is subtracted from the area term. To get this term, the cutoff scale ϵ in the mutual information should be such $\epsilon m \ll 1$.

These types of contributions are called topological. In fact, we see they are independent of the shape of the region since (6.62) always saturates to the same number. When we consider regions with more boundaries (see figure 30) we get a contribution proportional to the number of boundaries. This is because the number of independent twists coincides with the number of boundaries n_{∂} . We get

$$\Delta I = n_{\partial} \log |G| \,. \tag{6.63}$$

This has to be understood as a negative term in the orbifold entropy. A topological contribution cannot exist without the area term (which reflects the existence of non-topological degrees of freedom), because if it were alone it would make the mutual information I_O negative.

Topological contributions may question our assertion that the RG charges at the IR measure quantities of the IR theory itself. In fact, to obtain them the cutoff ϵ has to be set smaller than the UV scales, which may be seen as a susceptibility to the UV physics. However, the details of the UV physics are irrelevant for the final result of the RG charge at the IR. This depends only on the constraints of the IR model itself.

In this section and the preceding one we have assumed |G| was a finite number. If the group is a Lie group the certainty relation is divergent. The relative entropy that diverges is $S_{O_S \lor \tau} (\omega | \omega \circ E_{\tau})$ because of the continuous parameters of the twists. The intertwiner relative entropy is finite, and we have for nearly touching regions

$$\Delta I \sim \frac{|\mathcal{G}|}{2} \log(A/\epsilon^{d-2}), \tag{6.64}$$

where A is the area of the boundary, and |G| is the dimension of the Lie algebra. This can be obtained by evaluating upper and lower bounds with relative entropies in subalgebras of twists and intertwiners. A heuristic interpretation for this formula is that there is a large number of independent intertwiners (or charge fluctuations) along the boundary that acts as random variables. The distribution in the space of charges is then an effective Gaussian distribution with variance A/ϵ^{d-2} . The relative entropy on this Gaussian distribution gives the logarithm in (6.64).

Instead of talking about two disjoint regions in the vacuum of a QFT with a global symmetry we could also consider the case of a thermal state in the QFT and consider the thermofield double purifying this thermal state. Then, the same reasoning applies to the mutual information between the two sides of the thermofield double. The temperature plays now a role analogous to the inverse of the separating distance between the two disjoint regions in vacuum. We have $\Delta I \rightarrow 0$ in the zerotemperature limit and $\Delta I \rightarrow \log |G|$ in the large temperature limit. This can be proved rigorously using the certainty relation. This calculation has been recently used to prove an asymptotic limit for the density of charged states at high energies and finite volume in a QFT with a global symmetry. This is

$$\lim_{E \to \infty} \rho_r(E) = \frac{d_r^2}{|G|} \,\rho(E),\tag{6.65}$$

where d_r is the dimension of the representation and $\rho_r(E)$ is the density of states corresponding to representation r. The same holds for the large volume limit instead of the high energy limit.

6.8 The logarithmic term of the Maxwell field

The entanglement entropy of a Maxwell field has raised controversies over the years. On one hand, the logarithmic term for a sphere is supposed to be given by the anomaly, with a coefficient -31/45. On the other hand, it is not difficult to decompose the Maxwell field into vector spherical harmonics and see that for each angular mode $l \ge 1$ there are two modes (the two helicities), and each of them has the same radial Hamiltonian and commutators as the spherical l mode of a scalar.

There is no mode l = 0 for the Maxwell field. Therefore, this counting says that the logarithmic coefficients are related as

$$s_{\log}^{\text{Maxwell}} = 2\left(s_{\log}^{\text{scalar}, d=4} - s_{\log}^{\text{scalar}, d=2}\right) = 2(-1/90 - 1/6) = -16/45,$$
(6.66)

where the d = 2 scalar corresponds to the l = 0 mode of the scalar in d = 4. The coefficient -16/45 is indeed what one gets from the mutual information for a free Maxwell field.

The explanation of this mismatch is in origin quite similar to the topological model discussed above. The Maxwell field has constraints $\nabla E = \nabla B = 0$ that could be lifted by very massive electric and magnetic charges. If the ϵ of our regularization scale is smaller than this mass scales $\epsilon m \ll 1$, mutual information across the shell will be able to sense the charge fluctuations and get a new contribution. As in the topological model, this new contribution will change the non-local part of the entropy, because it is affecting non-local correlations. These non-local correlations in the present case are related to the expectation values of Wilson and 't Hooft loops in the shell (that is, magnetic and electric fluxes). The expectation values of these loops have a perimeter law

$$\langle T \rangle, \langle W \rangle \sim e^{-\frac{\text{perimeter}}{\epsilon}}$$
 (6.67)

for large $\epsilon m \gg 1$ and an area law

$$\langle T \rangle, \langle W \rangle \sim e^{-\alpha \frac{\operatorname{area}}{\epsilon^2}},$$
 (6.68)

for $\epsilon m \ll 1$, with α the coupling constant for charged particles. This transition never happens if there are no charged particles.

The change in the logarithmic term in the entropy can be computed and exactly fits the mismatch above. The coefficient -16/45 is the correct one for a purely free Maxwell field while -31/45 corresponds to a Maxwell field interacting with electric charges and magnetic monopoles. If electric charges are quantized and there are no magnetic monopoles, for example, we do not get an agreement with the anomaly, and the coefficient is only corrected halfway to -47/90. This is because magnetic constraints have not been lifted in this case.

In the topological model, we need to cross the mass scale in order to sense the non-local correlations the infrared model has. Here, for the interacting field, there is an effective generalized $U(1) \times U(1)$ symmetry at the infrared, given by the non-local loop operators. Once we cross the scale of the charges, these generalized symmetries are shown to be fictitious, since loop operators become flux surface operators when there are charges. This is the reason for the sudden parametric change in the expectation values from (6.67) to (6.68) for large size loop operators as a function of their small width. This prompts the parametric change on the logarithmic term in the mutual information. As we see, this is neither a purely UV nor a purely IR phenomenon.

In the calculation of the logarithmic term of the sphere by mapping to de Sitter space in section 3.11, we did not compute the mutual information, but rather the entropy. The present discussion reveals that in models with generalized symmetries this bare entropy calculation by mapping to de Sitter space should be supplemented with adequate boundary conditions on the horizon. The boundary conditions provide effective additional information on the algebra-region ambiguities.

We emphasize that the Maxwell field interacting with heavy electric and magnetic charges does not have algebra-regions problems and is a complete theory. In this sense, the entropy contribution discussed in this section differs from the orbifold ones discussed before. Here, they are rather the result of effective algebra region problems (for rings like regions rather than spherical shells) that appear in the infrared limit theory.

6.9 Operator order parameters and breaking of additivity-duality

According to the previous discussion, associated with the failure of additivity and duality, there is a set of non locally generated operators that enables multiple choices of algebras for a given region. We have seen these features of the net of algebras implies the existence of generalized symmetries. The non-local operators are in fact the ones implementing these generalized symmetries.

In a somewhat opposite direction, here we argue that given the existence of operators with certain properties that are adequate to sense symmetry breaking there must be necessarily some algebra region problems.

To be concrete, let us focus on the case of loops in gauge theories. The Wilson loop was proposed as an order parameter for confinement. If we have an area law for the Wilson loop expectation value there is confinement. In that case of spontaneous symmetry breaking (SSB), we have a perimeter law for the Wilson loop and an area law for the complementary operator, the 't Hooft loop. In fact, both instances can be understood on the same footing as SSB of one of the two dual generalized symmetries.

We will argue that for any QFT it is not possible to construct a loop order parameter displaying an area law by employing only operators that are locally generated on the ring. For example, this is the case of QCD with fundamental quarks, where the fundamental Wilson loop is additive (can be broken by Wilson lines), and the formation of mesons forbids an area law. We can have only a subperimeter law behaviour (perimeter law, or even a constant law) in such additive loop cases. This implies that the existence of such (confinement) order parameter requires a non locally generated operator and the failure of the additivity property for ring-like regions. So algebra-region problems can also be detected through expectation values without computing commutants or talking about entropies.

Let us first recall that the exponential decay of the expectation value of a (appropriately smeared) line operator with size is always bounded from below by an area law. To explain this, we refer to figure 31, which shows four rectangular loop type operators. These are formed by products of two half-loops (labelled 1 and 2) reaching just to a plane of reflection, and their reflected CRT images (labelled $\overline{1}$ and $\overline{2}$ respectively). The application of reflection positivity in the Euclidean version, or CRT positivity in real time (Tomita Takesaki positivity of the Rindler wedge, see section 2.9 and 3.9) leads to

$$\langle W(1,\bar{2})\rangle\langle W(2,\bar{1})\rangle \le \langle W(1,\bar{1})\rangle\langle W(2,\bar{2})\rangle.$$
(6.69)

Writing $\langle W \rangle = e^{-V(x,y)}$, with x, y the two sides of the rectangle, it follows from this relation, and the analogous one in the y axis, that the potential V(x, y) must be concave

$$\partial_x^2 V(x, y) \le 0, \qquad \partial_y^2 V(x, y) \le 0.$$
(6.70)

Then, the slopes $\partial_x V(x, y)$, $\partial_y V(x, y)$ never increase. They will converge to a fixed value in the limit of large size. If these values are non zero we have an area law. If they are zero, we have a sub-area law behaviour instead. No loop operator expectation value can go to zero faster than an area law ~ e^{-cA} as the size tends to infinity. This calculation holds for any loop, whether locally or





Figure 31: The construction that shows the convexity of the quar-antiquark potential.

non locally generated in the ring, provided they are locally generated in the plane. The derivation can be justified more rigorously in a lattice model.

Now we think only in loop operators formed additively in a ring. It is more convenient to use circular loops for our present purposes. As the loops are locally generated, we can imagine forming a partial operator $W(l_1, l_2)$ in an arc (l_1, l_2) of the ring of longitudinal size $l = l_2 - l_1$. The idea is that we construct now a loop of a certain size not by increasing the size of a smaller loop as above, but by increasing the size of an operator in an arc until the arc closes into a ring.

Assume rotational invariance and define the potential

$$\langle W(l_1, l_2) \rangle = e^{-V(l)}$$
. (6.71)

In this case, we can use again CRT positivity, as shown in figure 32. This results in

$$V''(l) \le 0$$
. (6.72)

Therefore the slope of V'(l) is non increasing and

$$\langle W \rangle \ge e^{-2\pi R V'(0) - V(0)}$$
 (6.73)

Eq. (6.73) gives a perimeter law, or more precisely a sub-perimeter law behaviour. In particular, this excludes the possibility of an area law or any law increasing more than linearly in the perimeter.

The application of the same idea to the case of non locally generated loop operators in the ring fails. The reason is that we cannot define the partial (non-closed) line operators. For example, we can try using a non-gauge invariant Wilson line. This introduces several problems when some gauge fixing is chosen to compute the expectation value. On the other hand, if we do not gauge fix, the expectation value of this line operator is zero, and the potential infinity. This prevents the calculation to give any useful bound.

In conclusion, order parameters with area law require non-local operators in the ring. For all types of generalized symmetries, we expect by the same reason that order parameters for symmetry breaking are associated with algebra-region problems.

6.10 Entropic order parameters and phases

We briefly describe now how the entropic order parameters that capture the physics of generalized symmetries are able to distinguish different phases of QFT's such as spontaneous symmetry



Figure 32: Reflection positivity applied to line operators along angular sectors of a ring. Operators 1 and 2 reach to the reflection plane and $\overline{1}$ and $\overline{2}$ are their CRT reflections.

breaking of a global symmetry, Higgs and confinement phases of gauge theories, and conformal phases as well.

Let us start with a global symmetry. Let us consider two balls separated by a distance r and let r go to infinity. If the symmetry is unbroken the intertwiner expectation value tends to zero and so does the intertwiner entropic order parameter for the balls. This is a power-law decay for conformal fix points and an exponential one for a gapped one. In the case of spontaneous symmetry breaking, the charged operator get non zero expectation values, and so does the intertwiner. As a consequence, the entropic order parameter tends to be a constant at large distances.

For the twist order parameter, we can consider a thin shell as the shell radius increases. The certainty relation connecting with the intertwiner physics can be used to understand the different phases. In the case of SSB, taking many separated intertwiners crossing the shell, with a number that grows with the volume V of the shell, it can be proved that the twist order parameter decays to zero with the volume of the ball enclosed by the shell

$$S_{\tau} \sim e^{-c V}$$
 (6.74)

This is in contrast with the area law that holds for the case of unbroken symmetry.

For gauge theories, let us consider, for example, the confinement phase. It is well known that the Wilson loop of a fundamental representation was initially devised as an order parameter for it. The expectation value of such fundamental Wilson loop can decay exponentially fast with the area of the loop. This behaviour is indicative of confinement since this implies a linear quark-antiquark potential. On the other hand, a perimeter law scaling of the Wilson loop excludes the possibility of confinement. The entropic order parameter for thin, large rings, will also display an area law

$$S_W \sim e^{-cA} \,. \tag{6.75}$$

The area law for the Wilson loop order parameter is tied to a constant law for the 't Hooft loop order parameter according to the certainty relation. To see how these are related, we can place an area worth of 't Hooft loops crossing the area *A* enclosed by the Wilson loop, as seen in figure 33. In a gapped phase, these 't Hooft loops are decoupled to each other. If they have approximately constant expectation values, the 't Hooft loop order parameter of the whole set of thin loops together will approach saturation exponentially fast in the number of decoupled loops. In consequence, they will induce an area law for the Wilson loop, through the certainty relation. The case of spontaneous



Figure 33: An area worth of 't Hooft loops crossing a Wilson loop.

symmetry breaking of gauge theories is dual to the confinement case: we have area law for the 't Hoof loop parameter and constant law for the Wilson one.

The usual terminology in terms of area/perimeter laws for line operators is a bit cumbersome because we can enlarge line operators in one direction only. For example, there is an improvement from perimeter to constant law for a loop as we increase the width to become wider than the SSB scale. In contrast, in the conformal case, we have a perimeter law for thin loops that cannot be improved to a constant law. Further, this constant law in the SSB scenario does not persist without a perimeter term for exponentially large loops of constant width. The reason for these nuisances is that line operators are UV and IR operators at the same time, according to the two widely different scales involved in their geometry.

Entropic order parameters have the advantage that they depend only on the geometry of the region. A natural route as we move from the UV to the IR is to consider scaling regions, rather than long loops. For scaling regions $R \rightarrow \lambda R$, $\lambda \in (0, \infty)$, the relative entropy corresponding to a region *R* of certain fix topology could approach zero or tend to the maximal value (log |*G*| or the logarithm of the order of a subgroup) as we move λ to zero or infinity. In this case, we say there is saturation, and this happens independently of the precise shape of *R*. The two possible saturation values, 0 or log |*G*|, are achieved in a dual way for dual order parameters. Depending on the rate of approach to saturation we have confinement/SSB (exponentially fast in λ) or a Coulomb phase (power law in λ). In contrast, the conformal case is characterized by limit values of the entropic order parameters that are not saturated and depend on the conformal geometry of *R*. The following table summarizes the behaviour of the entropic order parameters for the phases of gauge theories.



6.11 Exercises

- 1.- Consider the algebra \mathcal{M} of a qubit $(2 \times 2 \text{ matrices})$, the Abelian subalgebra \mathcal{N} generated by the Pauli matrix σ_1 , and the conditional expectation $\varepsilon(m) = (m + \sigma_1 m \sigma_1)/2$ mapping $\varepsilon : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{N}$. The conditional expectation $\varepsilon'(a + b\sigma_1) = a$ maps $\mathcal{N}' = \mathcal{N}$ into $\mathcal{M}' = \mathbf{1}$. Show that the certainty relation holds with a log(2) on the right hand side for all pure states, and the sum of relative entropies is less that log(2) for impure global states.
- 2.- Suppose you have a group *G* of twists and you know the expectation values $\langle \tau_g \rangle$ due to a state ω . Compute the relative entropy $S(\omega | \omega \circ \varepsilon)$ in the group algebra in terms of these expectation values, where $\varepsilon(\sum_g a_g \tau_g) = a_1$ eliminates the non trivial twists.

6.12 Notes and references

The content and presentation of this chapter are mainly based on the two articles [84, 85]. A short review is [86]. Generalized symmetries are introduced in a traditional field theory language in [87], generalizing an older paper by 't Hooft [88], which also introduces 't Hooft loops. There is a large body of related literature about symmetries in the algebraic approach to QFT that focuses on superselection sectors rather than on duality. For a guide see for example [13]. In the mathematical literature algebra-region problems for the case of CFT in d = 2 is described in [89].

The explicit computations for the chiral free scalar are from [90].

Entropic order parameters are introduced and studied in [84, 85]. See some previous analogous computations in d = 2 by R. Longo and F. Xu [91]. The certainty relation was introduced in [84]. A proof of this relation in a general context for matrix algebras by J. M. Magan and D. Pontello is in [92]. In the context of type III algebras see the papers by S. Hollands [93], and F. Xu [94]. The

index (|G| in the examples discussed here) can be defined algebraically and is called the Jones index [95–97]. It heuristically measures how many times one algebra includes another. In the present case, this inclusion is between the algebras with and without non-local operators.

Topological terms for the orbifold are computed in [84]. Topological terms in the entropy for more general topological theories are considered in [98, 99]. The asymptotic density of charged states was conjectured by D. Harlow and H. Ooguri in [100]. The proof using the certainty relation is by J. M. Magan in [101]. This last paper also contains a discussion of the relation of this topic with the so-called "entanglement equipartition" in the symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy [102, 103].

The correction to the logarithmic term of the entropy of a Maxwell field is in [104]. The argument for the concavity of the quark potential in [105]. The argument for sub-perimeter law for additive operators is from [85]. Computations of entropic order parameters for gauge theories are in [85]. The case of weakly coupled gauge theories is treated in [106].

Horacio Casini

References

- [1] T. Nishioka, *Entanglement entropy: holography and renormalization group*, *Rev. Mod. Phys.* **90** (2018) 035007 [1801.10352].
- [2] P. Calabrese and J. Cardy, *Entanglement entropy and conformal field theory*, J. Phys. A42 (2009) 504005 [0905.4013].
- [3] H. Casini and M. Huerta, *Entanglement entropy in free quantum field theory*, *J. Phys.* A42 (2009) 504007 [0905.2562].
- [4] M. Rangamani and T. Takayanagi, *Holographic entanglement entropy*, in *Holographic Entanglement Entropy*, pp. 35–47, Springer (2017).
- [5] E. Witten, APS Medal for Exceptional Achievement in Research: Invited article on entanglement properties of quantum field theory, Rev. Mod. Phys. 90 (2018) 045003 [1803.04993].
- [6] S. Hollands and K. Sanders, *Entanglement measures and their properties in quantum field theory*, 1702.04924.
- [7] M. Ohya and D. Petz, *Quantum entropy and its use*, Springer Science & Business Media (2004).
- [8] D. Petz, *Quantum information theory and quantum statistics*, Springer Science & Business Media (2007).
- [9] A. Wehrl, General properties of entropy, Reviews of Modern Physics 50 (1978) 221.
- [10] M.A. Nielsen and I. Chuang, Quantum computation and quantum information, 2002.
- [11] V. Vedral, *The role of relative entropy in quantum information theory*, *Reviews of Modern Physics* **74** (2002) 197 [quant-ph/0102094].
- [12] T. Sagawa, Second law-like inequalities with quantum relative entropy: An introduction, in Lectures on quantum computing, thermodynamics and statistical physics, pp. 125–190, World Scientific (2013).
- [13] R. Haag, Local quantum physics: Fields, particles, algebras, Berlin, Germany: Springer (1992) 356 p. (Texts and monographs in physics) (1992).
- [14] E.T. Jaynes, Information theory and statistical mechanics, Physical review 106 (1957) 620.
- [15] R.D. Sorkin, 1983 paper on entanglement entropy: "On the Entropy of the Vacuum outside a Horizon", in 10th International Conference on General Relativity and Gravitation, vol. 2, pp. 734–736, 1984 [1402.3589].
- [16] L. Bombelli, R.K. Koul, J. Lee and R.D. Sorkin, A Quantum Source of Entropy for Black Holes, Phys. Rev. D34 (1986) 373.

- [17] M. Srednicki, Entropy and area, Phys. Rev. Lett. 71 (1993) 666 [hep-th/9303048].
- [18] I. Peschel and V. Eisler, Reduced density matrices and entanglement entropy in free lattice models, Journal of physics a: mathematical and theoretical 42 (2009) 504003.
- [19] H. Liu and M. Mezei, A Refinement of entanglement entropy and the number of degrees of freedom, JHEP 04 (2013) 162 [1202.2070].
- [20] T. Grover, A.M. Turner and A. Vishwanath, Entanglement Entropy of Gapped Phases and Topological Order in Three dimensions, Phys. Rev. B84 (2011) 195120 [1108.4038].
- [21] J. Callan, Curtis G. and F. Wilczek, On geometric entropy, Phys. Lett. B 333 (1994) 55 [hep-th/9401072].
- [22] P. Calabrese and J.L. Cardy, *Entanglement entropy and quantum field theory*, J. Stat. Mech. 0406 (2004) P06002 [hep-th/0405152].
- [23] J.J. Bisognano and E.H. Wichmann, On the Duality Condition for a Hermitian Scalar Field, J. Math. Phys. 16 (1975) 985.
- [24] W.G. Unruh, Notes on black-hole evaporation, Physical Review D 14 (1976) 870.
- [25] P.D. Hislop and R. Longo, Modular Structure of the Local Algebras Associated With the Free Massless Scalar Field Theory, Commun. Math. Phys. 84 (1982) 71.
- [26] H. Casini, M. Huerta and R.C. Myers, *Towards a derivation of holographic entanglement entropy*, *JHEP* 05 (2011) 036 [1102.0440].
- [27] C. Holzhey, F. Larsen and F. Wilczek, Geometric and renormalized entropy in conformal field theory, Nucl. Phys. B424 (1994) 443 [hep-th/9403108].
- [28] S.N. Solodukhin, *Entanglement entropy, conformal invariance and extrinsic geometry*, *Phys. Lett.* **B665** (2008) 305 [0802.3117].
- [29] J. Cardy, Some results on the mutual information of disjoint regions in higher dimensions, Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical **46** (2013) 285402.
- [30] C. Agón and T. Faulkner, *Quantum Corrections to Holographic Mutual Information*, *JHEP* 08 (2016) 118 [1511.07462].
- [31] G.L. Sewell, *Quantum fields on manifolds: Pct and gravitationally induced thermal states*, *Annals of Physics* **141** (1982) 201.
- [32] H. Casini, *Entropy localization and extensivity in the semiclassical black hole evaporation*, *Phys. Rev.* **D79** (2009) 024015 [0712.0403].
- [33] S.D. Mathur, *The Information paradox: A Pedagogical introduction, Class. Quant. Grav.* 26 (2009) 224001 [0909.1038].

- [34] A. Almheiri, D. Marolf, J. Polchinski and J. Sully, *Black Holes: Complementarity or Firewalls?*, JHEP 02 (2013) 062 [1207.3123].
- [35] P. Hayden, R. Jozsa, D. Petz and A. Winter, *Structure of states which satisfy strong subadditivity of quantum entropy with equality, Communications in mathematical physics* 246 (2004) 359.
- [36] R. Verch and R.F. Werner, *Distillability and positivity of partial transposes in general quantum field systems, Reviews in Mathematical Physics* **17** (2005) 545.
- [37] H. Casini, E. Teste and G. Torroba, *Modular Hamiltonians on the null plane and the Markov property of the vacuum state*, J. Phys. A **50** (2017) 364001 [1703.10656].
- [38] A.C. Wall, A proof of the generalized second law for rapidly changing fields and arbitrary horizon slices, Phys. Rev. **D85** (2012) 104049 [1105.3445].
- [39] H. Casini, E. Teste and G. Torroba, *All the entropies on the light-cone*, *JHEP* **05** (2018) 005 [1802.04278].
- [40] A.B. Zamolodchikov, Irreversibility of the Flux of the Renormalization Group in a 2D Field Theory, JETP Lett. **43** (1986) 730.
- [41] J.L. Cardy, Is There a c Theorem in Four-Dimensions?, Phys. Lett. B215 (1988) 749.
- [42] R.C. Myers and A. Sinha, Seeing a c-theorem with holography, Phys. Rev. D82 (2010) 046006 [1006.1263].
- [43] D.L. Jafferis, I.R. Klebanov, S.S. Pufu and B.R. Safdi, *Towards the F-Theorem: N=2 Field Theories on the Three-Sphere*, JHEP 06 (2011) 102 [1103.1181].
- [44] Z. Komargodski and A. Schwimmer, On Renormalization Group Flows in Four Dimensions, JHEP 12 (2011) 099 [1107.3987].
- [45] H. Casini and M. Huerta, A Finite entanglement entropy and the c-theorem, Phys. Lett. B600 (2004) 142 [hep-th/0405111].
- [46] H. Casini and M. Huerta, On the RG running of the entanglement entropy of a circle, Phys. Rev. D85 (2012) 125016 [1202.5650].
- [47] H. Casini, E. Testé and G. Torroba, *Markov Property of the Conformal Field Theory Vacuum and the a Theorem, Phys. Rev. Lett.* **118** (2017) 261602 [1704.01870].
- [48] H. Casini, *Geometric entropy, area and strong subadditivity, Classical and Quantum Gravity* **21** (2004) 2351.
- [49] N. Lashkari, Entanglement at a Scale and Renormalization Monotones, 1704.05077.
- [50] H. Casini, E. Teste and G. Torroba, *Relative entropy and the RG flow*, *JHEP* **03** (2017) 089 [1611.00016].

- [51] H. Casini, I.S. Landea and G. Torroba, *The g-theorem and quantum information theory*, *JHEP* **10** (2016) 140 [1607.00390].
- [52] H. Casini, E. Testé and G. Torroba, *Mutual information superadditivity and unitarity bounds*, *JHEP* 09 (2021) 046 [2103.15847].
- [53] M.P. Hertzberg and F. Wilczek, *Some Calculable Contributions to Entanglement Entropy*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **106** (2011) 050404 [1007.0993].
- [54] J.D. Bekenstein, Universal upper bound on the entropy-to-energy ratio for bounded systems, Physical Review D 23 (1981) 287.
- [55] R. Bousso, Black hole entropy and the Bekenstein bound, pp. 139–158 (2020), DOI [1810.01880].
- [56] H. Casini, Relative entropy and the Bekenstein bound, Class. Quant. Grav. 25 (2008) 205021 [0804.2182].
- [57] D. Marolf, D. Minic and S.F. Ross, *Notes on space-time thermodynamics and the observer dependence of entropy*, *Phys. Rev. D* 69 (2004) 064006 [hep-th/0310022].
- [58] D.D. Blanco, H. Casini, L.-Y. Hung and R.C. Myers, *Relative Entropy and Holography*, *JHEP* 08 (2013) 060 [1305.3182].
- [59] G. Wong, I. Klich, L.A. Pando Zayas and D. Vaman, *Entanglement Temperature and Entanglement Entropy of Excited States*, JHEP 12 (2013) 020 [1305.3291].
- [60] N. Lashkari, M.B. McDermott and M. Van Raamsdonk, *Gravitational dynamics from entanglement 'thermodynamics'*, *JHEP* **04** (2014) 195 [1308.3716].
- [61] T. Faulkner, M. Guica, T. Hartman, R.C. Myers and M. Van Raamsdonk, *Gravitation from Entanglement in Holographic CFTs*, *JHEP* **03** (2014) 051 [1312.7856].
- [62] H. Casini, F.D. Mazzitelli and E. Teste, Area terms in entanglement entropy, Phys. Rev. D91 (2015) 104035 [1412.6522].
- [63] V. Rosenhaus and M. Smolkin, *Entanglement entropy, planar surfaces, and spectral functions, JHEP* **09** (2014) 119 [1407.2891].
- [64] H. Casini, E. Teste and G. Torroba, *Holographic RG flows, entanglement entropy and the sum rule, JHEP* **03** (2016) 033 [1510.02103].
- [65] S.L. Adler, Einstein Gravity as a Symmetry-Breaking Effect in Quantum Field Theory, Rev. Mod. Phys. 54 (1982) 729.
- [66] A. Zee, Spontaneously Generated Gravity, Phys. Rev. D 23 (1981) 858.
- [67] J.H. Cooperman and M.A. Luty, *Renormalization of Entanglement Entropy and the Gravitational Effective Action*, *JHEP* **12** (2014) 045 [1302.1878].

- [68] D.D. Blanco and H. Casini, Localization of Negative Energy and the Bekenstein Bound, Phys. Rev. Lett. 111 (2013) 221601 [1309.1121].
- [69] T. Faulkner, R.G. Leigh, O. Parrikar and H. Wang, *Modular Hamiltonians for Deformed Half-Spaces and the Averaged Null Energy Condition*, *JHEP* **09** (2016) 038 [1605.08072].
- [70] T. Hartman, S. Kundu and A. Tajdini, *Averaged Null Energy Condition from Causality*, *JHEP* **07** (2017) 066 [1610.05308].
- [71] D. Marolf and R.D. Sorkin, On the status of highly entropic objects, Phys. Rev. D 69 (2004) 024014 [hep-th/0309218].
- [72] R.D. Sorkin, *Toward a proof of entropy increase in the presence of quantum black holes*, *Physical review letters* **56** (1986) 1885.
- [73] R.D. Sorkin, The statistical mechanics of black hole thermodynamics, in Symposium on Black Holes and Relativistic Stars (dedicated to memory of S. Chandrasekhar), 5, 1997 [gr-qc/9705006].
- [74] V.P. Frolov and D.N. Page, Proof of the generalized second law for quasistationary semiclassical black holes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 71 (1993) 3902 [gr-qc/9302017].
- [75] W. Zurek and K.S. Thorne, *Statistical mechanical origin of the entropy of a rotating, charged black hole, Physical review letters* **54** (1985) 2171.
- [76] R. Arias, D. Blanco, H. Casini and M. Huerta, Local temperatures and local terms in modular Hamiltonians, Phys. Rev. D95 (2017) 065005 [1611.08517].
- [77] R. Arias, H. Casini, M. Huerta and D. Pontello, *Anisotropic Unruh temperatures*, *Phys. Rev.* **D96** (2017) 105019 [1707.05375].
- [78] R. Bousso, Z. Fisher, S. Leichenauer and A.C. Wall, *Quantum focusing conjecture*, *Phys. Rev. D* 93 (2016) 064044 [1506.02669].
- [79] R. Bousso, Z. Fisher, J. Koeller, S. Leichenauer and A.C. Wall, Proof of the Quantum Null Energy Condition, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 024017 [1509.02542].
- [80] J. Koeller and S. Leichenauer, *Holographic Proof of the Quantum Null Energy Condition*, *Phys. Rev. D* 94 (2016) 024026 [1512.06109].
- [81] S. Leichenauer, A. Levine and A. Shahbazi-Moghaddam, Energy density from second shape variations of the von Neumann entropy, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 086013 [1802.02584].
- [82] S. Balakrishnan, T. Faulkner, Z.U. Khandker and H. Wang, A General Proof of the Quantum Null Energy Condition, JHEP 09 (2019) 020 [1706.09432].
- [83] S. Balakrishnan, V. Chandrasekaran, T. Faulkner, A. Levine and A. Shahbazi-Moghaddam, *Entropy Variations and Light Ray Operators from Replica Defects*, 1906.08274.

- [84] H. Casini, M. Huerta, J.M. Magán and D. Pontello, *Entanglement entropy and superselection sectors. part i. global symmetries*, *Journal of High Energy Physics* 2020 (2020) 14.
- [85] H. Casini, M. Huerta, J.M. Magan and D. Pontello, *Entropic order parameters for the phases of QFT*, *JHEP* 04 (2021) 277 [2008.11748].
- [86] H. Casini and J.M. Magan, On completeness and generalized symmetries in quantum field theory, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 36 (2021) 2130025 [2110.11358].
- [87] O. Aharony, N. Seiberg and Y. Tachikawa, *Reading between the lines of four-dimensional gauge theories, Journal of High Energy Physics* 2013 (2013) 115.
- [88] G. 't Hooft, On the Phase Transition Towards Permanent Quark Confinement, Nucl. Phys. B 138 (1978) 1.
- [89] R. Brunetti, D. Guido and R. Longo, *Modular structure and duality in conformal quantum field theory, Communications in Mathematical Physics* **156** (1993) 201.
- [90] R.E. Arias, H. Casini, M. Huerta and D. Pontello, *Entropy and modular Hamiltonian for a free chiral scalar in two intervals*, *Phys. Rev.* D98 (2018) 125008 [1809.00026].
- [91] R. Longo and F. Xu, Relative Entropy in CFT, Adv. Math. 337 (2018) 139 [1712.07283].
- [92] J.M. Magan and D. Pontello, *Quantum complementarity through entropic certainty principles, Physical Review A* **103** (2021) 012211.
- [93] S. Hollands, Variational approach to sandwiched renyi entropies (with application to qft), arXiv preprint arXiv:2009.05024 (2020).
- [94] F. Xu, On relative entropy and global index, Transactions of the American Mathematical Society **373** (2020) 3515.
- [95] V. Jones, Index for subfactors., Inventiones mathematicae 72 (1983) 1.
- [96] H. Kosaki, *Extension of jones' theory on index to arbitrary factors*, *Journal of Functional Analysis* **66** (1986) 123.
- [97] R. Longo, Index of subfactors and statistics of quantum fields. I, Communications in Mathematical Physics 126 (1989) 217.
- [98] A. Kitaev and J. Preskill, *Topological entanglement entropy*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **96** (2006) 110404 [hep-th/0510092].
- [99] M. Levin and X.-G. Wen, Detecting Topological Order in a Ground State Wave Function, Phys. Rev. Lett. 96 (2006) 110405 [cond-mat/0510613].
- [100] D. Harlow and H. Ooguri, A universal formula for the density of states in theories with finite-group symmetry, 2109.03838.

- [101] J.M. Magan, Proof of the universal density of charged states in QFT, JHEP 12 (2021) 100 [2111.02418].
- [102] J.C. Xavier, F.C. Alcaraz and G. Sierra, *Equipartition of the entanglement entropy*, *Phys. Rev. B* **98** (2018) 041106.
- [103] S. Murciano, G. Di Giulio and P. Calabrese, *Entanglement and symmetry resolution in two dimensional free quantum field theories*, *JHEP* **08** (2020) 073 [2006.09069].
- [104] H. Casini, M. Huerta, J.M. Magán and D. Pontello, *Logarithmic coefficient of the entanglement entropy of a maxwell field*, *Physical Review D* **101** (2020) 065020.
- [105] C. Bachas, Concavity of the quarkonium potential, Physical Review D 33 (1986) 2723.
- [106] H. Casini, J.M. Magan and P.J. Martinez, *Entropic order parameters in weakly coupled gauge theories*, *JHEP* **01** (2022) 079 [2110.02980].